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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
M=

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE HIGHLIGHTS IEERE

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

6

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

20214 20204F 20194F 20184F 20174F

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRT | ARBTT AREBTT AREBTT ARETET

Revenue ['ON 4,490,651 2,513,471 1,683,434 514,511 158,074

Gross profit EF 2,758,624 1,594,108 1,090,334 298,025 75,254

Operating profit 5 1,149,812 718,783 598,794 133,614 4379

Profit before income tax R PS5 Al g A 1,171,191 707,403 598,375 132,260 2,273

Profit for the year E R A 854,567 523,312 451,118 99,521 1,569

Profit attributable to FiN/NEIE F=DN

owners of the Company FE(R & A 854,339 523,505 451,118 99,521 1,569
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit — FEERIFRBA 75 o5 22 A

LT B LA 1,001,635 590,506 469,123 100,303 1,671

Gross profit margin FEFI= 61.4% 63.4% 64.8% 57.9% 47.6%

Net profit margin e 19.0% 20.8% 26.8% 19.3% 1.0%
Non-IFRS adjusted net H B B B 7 i e ZE R

profit margin GRS ppE 22.3% 23.5% 27.9% 19.5% 1.1%

POP MART
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HEBE
FINANCIAL POSITION HIGHLIGHTS HMBEMRARBE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
20214 20204F 20194 20184 20174
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®T | AREFt AREFTT AR®TT AREFT
Total current assets BREE 6,757,289 6,255,900 716,601 254,997 65,801
Total non-current assets WIERBEE 1,566,337 715,399 349,880 147,798 76,478
Total assets maeE 8,323,626 6,971,299 1,066,481 402,795 142,279
Total current liabilities wREaE 1,092,706 665,313 381,570 144,874 44,019
Total non-current liabilities BIERBEE 410,914 174,984 92,130 39,091 19,436
Total liabilities wWaE 1,503,620 840,297 473,700 183,965 63,455
Equity attributable to ZA/NSIE/ZS DN
owners of the Company FE(GHERS 6,818,182 6,129,374 592,781 218,830 78,824
Non-controlling interests in AR =
equity 1,824 1,628 - - -
Total equity WS 6,820,006 6,131,002 592,781 218,830 78,824
Total equity and liabilities #BEXKAE 8,323,626 6,971,299 1,066,481 402,795 142,279
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESRIYH

Dear Shareholders and Investors:

The year 2021 was our first complete financial year after listing, and for
Pop Mart, the past year was a year of breakthroughs despite hardships and
difficulties. Under the repeated impact of the epidemic, especially in the
second half of the year when the epidemic intensified with the spread of
the more contagious “Delta” and “Omicron” in multiple places in China, the
epidemic control policies escalated and travel was blocked, coupled with the
supply chain crisis, energy shortage and high inflation, the global economic
recovery slowed down and the retail industry as a whole faced serious
challenges. Nevertheless, through the efforts of all Pop Mart staff and and
the support of our partners, we still strove to achieve excellent performance
growth. The total revenue for the year of 2021 amounted to RMB4.49 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 78.7%, and the adjusted net profit
reached RMB1.002 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 69.6%.

There is still inherent uncertainty about the future impact of the COVID-19
outbreak, we upheld the concept of “respect time and respect the process
of operations”, brought spiritual companionship to the public with a rich
diversity of IP works, and made active contribution to the promotion of
pop toy culture and the development of pop toy industry. As a consumer-
centric organisation, in order to continue to provide consumers with
high-quality products, Pop Mart has intensified the optimization in supply
chain production capacity, technologies, quality and cost, and has further
enhanced its supply chain capabilities. We continue to improve and expand
the omni-channel consumer access network, meet diversified consumer
needs, provide high-quality experience, and deeply feel the charm of pop
toys with fans around the world.

As a platform enterprise covering the entire industry chain of pop toys,
IP is the most treasured asset of Pop Mart. In the past year, Pop Mart has
been working unremittingly on the accumulation of artists and IPs from the
identification and cultivation of artists, IP operations to IP commercialization,
and has established a complete IP pop toy incubation system to make more
original designs seen and recognized. The contracted IP and proprietary
IP reserves have been increasing in 2021. Pop Mart also maintains close
partnership with various internationally-renowned IP enterprises, such
as Disney, Universal, Warner Bros., Sanrio, NBA, etc. On the basis of IP
diversification, we have also made great progress in the innovation of pop
toys. In 2021, Pop Mart launched the high-end pop product line MEGA
Collection, consisting of 9 models of 1000% SPACE MOLLY series, which were
well received by the market. In the future, we will continue to deepen our
product innovation. Plenty of upcoming surprises from Pop Mart await pop

toy lovers.
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In the context of global spread of the pandemic, Pop Mart still insists on
expanding its international business and continues to launch its global
strategic placement. In 2021, through the fan operation of overseas
social media platforms, operation of overseas e-commerce platforms and
independent websites, opening of direct-sale stores and participation in
internationally-renowned pop art and anime exhibitions, its top IP pop
products have been well received by overseas consumers. Pop Mart is
currently present in 23 overseas countries and regions, including Korea,
Japan, the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Singapore, etc.
In 2021, our overseas revenue reached RMB100 million. In 2022, we will
accelerate our overseas expansion to export the pop toy culture from China

to the world.

As a company with over 4,000 employees, Pop Mart has carried the
dreams and expectations of many people, and has taken on greater social
responsibility. In the past year, Pop Mart has continued to explore and
improve its organizational management, and has developed in the direction
of group operation by adding new business segments such as Resonance
Studio, POPMART LAND theme park and INNER FLOW art organization, and
has gradually formed a business framework to support Pop Mart’s long-term
development. We believe that through group operation, we can achieve
more efficient organization and collaboration, and attract more talented

people to join us.

The pop toy industry in China is now in the heyday, and the global pop
toy market is also growing rapidly. We hope to seize the opportunity of the
times and plan our long-term future with a global vision. In the future, we
will constantly develop IPs, improve the quality of pop toys, enhance our
organizational management capabilities, and invest more resources to pursue
the rapid and healthy growth of the company and offer more high-quality

products and more pleasant shopping experience to consumers.

Finally, I would like to extend my gratitude to all consumers, partners and
investors for your support and trust, and to all colleagues for your hard work.
I hope that we will continue to work together and forge ahead to create
more excellent products and work hard towards our vision of “creating trends

and delivering fineness.”

Chairman of the Board

Mr. Wang Ning
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERNWEDTN

BUSINESS REVIEW

As a pioneer and key promoter of pop toy culture in China, despite affected
by the recurrence of COVID-19 pandemic, we still maintain fast growth of
our business and experienced a year-on-year increase of 78.7% in revenue in
2021. At the same time, we accumulated 19.58 million registered members.
According to the 2021 China Pop Toy Market Development Report issued the
National Situation Investigation and Big Data Research Center of the Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences, the emergence and development of pop toys
in recent years has been effected by the economy development, technical
revolution, the change of consumption concept, the rise of Z Generation
and other factors. Thanks to their socializing, collecting and entertaining
and other social attributes, pop toys have been becoming significant
vehicles of leisure and communication. Under the rapid development of the
PRC's cultural industry, pop toy industry shows great market potential. We
strategically focus on the further development of our pop toy business to
consistently implement our long-term established strategy and development
direction. We remained to regard artists development, IP operation, consumer

access and pop toy culture promotion as our major business focuses.

Artists Development and IP Operation

IP operation as well as creative designs are essential to our products, and
the key driving forces for the development of Pop Mart. We continuously
enrich our types of IP and launch products of diversified styles to meet the
demands of different groups of customers. During the year, the proportion
of revenue from our top IPs was more evenly distributed, and maintained a
substantial growth. 2021 was a year in which the creation of Molly marked its
15th anniversary, and Molly continues to be a fan favourite and its revenue
is growing steadily. In 2021, revenue generated from Molly amounted to
RMB705.1 million, representing a year-on-year increase of 97.6%. The scale of
Molly's fans has been gradually enlarged, the influence of the IP continued to
increase, and the life cycle and commercial value of the IP are well extended
through a series of operations such as continuous launch of new products,
cross-border and co-branded collaborations and themed exhibitions. In 2021,
revenue generated from Dimoo and SKULLPANDA amounted to RMB566.7
million and RMB595.3 million respectively, representing a year-on-year
increase of 79.8% and 1,423.8% as compared to that of 2020. Meanwhile, our
in-house design team PDC (Pop Design Center) has also launched numerous
popular IPs, including Sweet Bean, which contributed a revenue of RMB161.5
million in 2021, representing a year-on-year increase of 458.1%; and HIRONO,
introduced to the public in October, 2021, with a unique design style, gaining

a wide range of appeal and contributed a revenue of RMB52.2 million.

POP MART
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We have been committed to promoting the development of pop toy
market, and constantly experimenting with product innovation. During
the year, we officially launched our high-end pop toy product line, namely
the "MEGA Collection”, which received enthusiastic popularity from the
market and generated total revenue of RMB178.1 million. Since the launch
of SPACE MOLLY x SpongeBob co-branded model during June 2021, we
had introduced 9 1000% SPACE MOLLY products of the “MEGA Collection”
series, attracting over 8.70 million customers to participate in the draws for

purchasing opportunities.

Consumer Access
—  Offline channels

In 2021, we opened 106 new physical stores in Mainland China. The
number of physical stores increased from 187 as at the end of 2020 to
288" as at the end of 2021. In 2021, we opened 510 new roboshops in
Mainland China. The number of roboshops increased from 1,351 as at
the end of 2020 to 1,861 as at the end of 2021. As of the end of 2021,
we accumulated 7 stores and 9 roboshops in Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan
and overseas. Through holding overseas online pop toy convention,
attending DesignerCon in the US, Dubai Expo and other global
conventions, Pop Mart received brand recognition by customers from

diversified cultural backgrounds.

—  Online channels

Pop Draw is a mini program independently invented and developed
by us on WeChat platform, aiming to create fun and interesting
shopping experience. In 2021, revenue amounted to RMB898.0 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of 92.6%. In 2021, revenue from
JD.com flagship store was RMB143.2 million, representing a year-on-year
increase of 296.0%. Our Tmall flagship store recorded revenue of
RMB598.9 million in 2021, representing a year-on-year increase of 47.5%.
We have ranked top in sales within the toy category during Tmall Singles

Day shopping festival for the third consecutive year.

! In 2021, due to the expiration of the lease and other commercial reasons, we
closed 5 stores
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

- Member operation

By continuously expanding our channels and enhancing our IP portfolio,
and through omni-channel member operation, the scale of user
digitalization grew rapidly. As of 31 December 2021, the total number
of registered members increased from 7.40 million as at the end of
2020 to 19.58 million, among which 12.18 million were newly registered
members. In 2021, the sales contributed by our members represent
92.2% of total sales, with a repeat purchase rate of 56.5%? from our

members.

Pop Toy Culture Promotion

In order to better promote pop art and culture, Pop Mart has established an
art promotion institution, inner flow in 2021, which aims to provide a broader
range of more trendsetting art works for the young generation through
joint production of high-end art derivatives with global galleries and artists
and development of art derivatives for collection purpose such as prints,
sculptures, pop toys and household products. In November 2021, inner flow
debuted at the 9th ART021 Shanghai Contemporary Art Fair and exhibited
the paintings and sculptures of the Company’s artists including LANG,
Meiying C252), Yin Yue (B#), Ma Ke (F5&1), Zeng Jianyong (BH#EE), Sun
Yitian (2 —%M) and Ashley Wood.

In July 2021,

Center for Business and Arts with Guanghua School of Management of Peking

Pop Mart jointly established the Peking University Research

University, aiming to cultivate outstanding talents in the cultural and creative
industries and promote the research in pop culture and new consumption

sector in China and industry exchanges.

As a global brand of pop toys, Pop Mart has accelerated the promotion of
pop toy culture overseas in the past year. In October 2021, Pop Mart made
appearance at Expo 2020 Dubai, to show pop toy arts for visitors from all over
the world as the “licensed supplier of the souvenir shop of China Pavilion
in Expo 2020 Dubai”. In the same month, Pop Mart participated in the MCM
London Comic Con with pop toy series of MEGA COLLECTION, SKULLPANDA
Ancient Castle and others exhibited attracting a lot of attention from the
mass of European fans. In November 2021, Pop Mart made appearance at
DesignerCon, a pop art convention of the United States, to exhibit IP figures
created by Chinese native designers, such as Dimoo, SKULLPANDA, Yuki and

Hirono, which were enthusiastically welcomed by overseas visitors.

2 The proportion of members who made purchase for 2 times or more in 2021

POP MART
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Adhering to the brand concept of “To Light Up Passion and Bring Joy”, in
December 2021, Pop Mart jointly set up the "POP MART Philanthrophic
Aesthetic Education Center” with China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation to
provide aesthetic education venues and training course support for teachers
and students of schools in certain areas, and promote the development of

aesthetic education in rural schools.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Sales revenue

Revenue of the Company increased from RMB2,513.5 million in 2020 to
RMB4,490.7 million in 2021, representing a year-on-year increase of 78.7%.

Revenue by channels

Revenue of the Company is generated from the following channels: 1. retail
stores; 2. roboshops; 3. online channels; and 4. wholesale channels and
others. The following table sets out the Company's revenue by channels in
2021 and 2020:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

FHREIAIEBR HEEFINREES
20215128 - ARBEHBEPEKEESEK
SZ[POP MARTAmEEH L] - BE DR B
W EREEEHE SRR REINIZEE - B
NBREREBFHEER -

Bt 5 1ol R
HEWA

ARABWAR20200F AR 2513588t L
FE20201FMARK44907BE T BLIEER
78.7% ©

RIFREE D WA

ARBWARERATERE 1. 255 2.1
BRABEE 3G LERBE RABBERERHEAM -
TREIIARRAF 2021 F R2020F ERBEE DK
L NE

For the year ended 31 December 2021 For the year ended 31 December 2020
BZ2021512831ALLEE BZE00F 12838 LEFE
Gross Gross
profit  Proportion profit  Proportion
Revenue margin  of revenue Revenue margin  of revenue
KA EFE WG WA EMZE AL
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TR ARETT
Retail stores TEE 1,673,386 61.9% 37.3% 1,002,054 62.0% 39.9%
Online channels BERE 1,879,189 64.2% 41.8% 951,875 66.4% 37.9%
Roboshops HRABIE 469,803 68.8% 10.5% 328679 72.3% 13.1%
Wholesales and others HEREM 468,273 41.2% 10.4% 230,863 44.7% 9.1%
- Mainland China —REARE 330,920 42.9% 7.4% 156,691 42.8% 6.1%
- Outside Mainland China — FBIRRESN 137,353 37.2% 3.0% 74,172 48.8% 3.0%
Total Ch 4,490,651 61.4% 100.0% 2513471 63.4% 100.0%

- Retail stores. Revenue from retail store sales increased by 67.0% year
on year from RMB1,002.1 million in 2020 to RMB1,673.4 million in 2021,

primarily due to the effective control of the domestic epidemic in 2021

with all retail stores remaining normal operation, while the severe

epidemic in early 2020 having a significant impact on retail store sales.

There was net addition of 108 new stores in 2021. As of 31 December

2021, there were a total of 295 retail stores.

— ZER -ZTEEHBWAR20200F8A

R#1,002.1 BB MNEI2021 FOHARE
16734887 - ALERT67.0% TEH
2021 FREAZIBEREBBIEHTEES
FEEE  M2020FVHREBRE - T
EEHEARATE - 722021 FFHEM
JE108K - B E2021F12A31 AAFTZEESE
295% ©
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- Roboshops. Revenue from roboshop sales increased by 42.9% from
RMB328.7 million in 2020 to RMB469.8 million in 2021, primarily due

to the effective control of the domestic epidemic in 2021 with all

roboshops remaining normal operation, while the severe epidemic in

early 2020 having a significant impact on roboshops; and the addition

of 519 roboshops in 2021. As of 31 December 2021, there were a total of

1,870 roboshops.

- Online channels. Revenue from online sales increased by 97.4% year-
on-year from RMB951.9 million in 2020 to RMB1,879.2 million in 2021.
The table below sets forth a breakdown of revenue from online sales.

HERARE - R AREHE WAL 2020
FMARB3287AETEINF 2021 FHA
R#4698 B8 T AR T42.9%  *
ZHMN 2021 F B RE IS S 5B BUTE Bl 28
ABEHEREE  M2020F VIR EIEY
LZHE HRBAREERAZE  RE
2021FIEIN T 519A B ARTIE - B E 2021
F12 A3 BHE 8708 KB ARIE ©

BRERE - FEWMABH2020050ARKE
951.9E BT INE 2021 FHARYE1,879.2
AEL ' REIBRT97.4% LT AZER
ABAA o

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
BZ2021F12831HLEE | HZE200612A31BIEFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Increase
L/ON BAfELE WA N 34 1E1g
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000
AR%TR ARETFT
Pop Draw RS RRa 898,014 47.8% 466,364 49.0% 92.6%
Trnall flagship store KIS 598,865 31.9% 406,110 42.7% 47.5%
JD.com flagship store RREEE 143,229 7.6% 36,173 3.8% 296.0%
Other online channels Hit#x FRE 239,081 12.7% 43,228 4.5% 453.1%
Total &t 1,879,189 100.0% 951,875 100.0% 97 4%

POP MART
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Online revenue of Pop Mart was derived from Pop Draw, Tmall flagship
store, JD.com flagship store and other online channels. In particular,
revenue from Pop Draw increased by 92.6% from RMB466.4 million in
2020 to RMB898.0 million in 2021; revenue from Tmall flagship store
increased by 47.5% from RMB406.1 million in 2020 to RMB598.9 million
in 2021; revenue from JD.com flagship store increased by 296.0% from
RMB36.2 million in 2020 to RMB143.2 million in 2021. The increase
in online channels in 2021 was primarily due to the stronger brand
influence, the increase in members, and the increase in sales of Pop
Draw and JD.com flagship store and the expansion of new channels in
2021.

- Wholesales and others. Revenue from wholesales and others primarily
includes revenue from wholesales and others in Mainland China and
overseas. Revenue from wholesales and others increased by 102.8%
from RMB230.9 million in 2020 to RMB468.3 million in 2021. In particular,
revenue from wholesales and others in Mainland China increased by
111.2% from RMB156.7 million in 2020 to RMB330.9 million in 2021,
primarily due to the increase in revenue generated from our distributor
Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop Mart Trading Co., Ltd., which accounted for
53.6% of total revenue generated from distributors in Mainland China;
and revenue from wholesales and others outside Mainland China
increased by 85.2% from RMB74.2 million in 2020 to RMB137.4 million in
2021, primarily due to the expansion in overseas markets as well as the

brand promotion in different countries overseas.

Revenue by IPs

Pop Mart brand products are our major product type. Revenue from brand
products, which contributed 88.6% of our total revenue as of 31 December
2021, increased by 86.2% from RMB2,136.2 million in 2020 to RMB3,977.8

million in 2021.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Pop Mart brand products consist mainly of propriety IPs, exclusive licensed

IPs and non-exclusive licensed IPs. Breakdown of revenue by IPs is as follows.

WEBENREERTIEN A BEIP BXRIP
MIEBKIP » AT AIPEIDHIR AR -

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
BZE2021F12A318LEE | #HE200F12A31BLEFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue
WA AR WA WG
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000
AR%T ARETTT
Pop Mart brand products BEBHREER 3,977,797 88.6% 2,136,196 85.0%
Propriety IPs Eg=ly 2,586,827 57.6% 979,940 39.0%
- Molly —Molly 705,098 15.7% 356,918 14.2%
~ SKULLPANDA —SKULLPANDA 595,256 13.3% 39,065 1.6%
- Dimoo —Dimoo 566,735 12.6% 315,248 12.5%
- Bunny —Bunny 167,883 3.7% 60,915 24%
~ Sweet Bean — /M= 161,526 3.6% 28,941 1.2%
— Other propriety IPs —Himg AP 390,329 8.7% 178,853 7.1%
Exclusive licensed IPs BRIP 770,507 17.2% 711,904 28.3%
- The Monsters —The Monsters 304,431 6.8% 204,828 8.1%
- PUCKY —PUCKY 182,245 4.1% 300,009 11.9%
- Other exclusive licensed IPs — HipBRIP 283,831 6.3% 207,067 8.3%
Non-exclusive licensed IPs EBRIP 620,463 13.8% 444352 17.7%
External procurement and consignment MERREH 442,886 9.9% 368,400 14.6%
Others Hith 69,968 1.5% 8,875 0.40%
Total &t 4,490,651 100.0% 2,513,471 100.0%

- Propriety IPs. Propriety IPs are our major product type, primarily

including Molly, SKULLPANDA, Dimoo, Bunny, and others. The proportion

BEIP - BEIPEARAIEER

R -

AR X5

FEBFEMolly * SKULLPANDA * Dimoo *

of revenue from propriety IPs increased from 39.0% in 2020 to 57.6%
in 2021, representing a significant increase in revenue contribution.
Revenue from propriety IPs increased by 164.0% from RMB979.9 million
in 2020 to RMB2,586.8 million in 2021, primarily due to the increased
revenue contribution from sales of Molly, SKULLPANDA and Dimoo.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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- Exclusive licensed IPs. Revenue from exclusive licensed IPs increased
by 8.2% from RMB711.9 million in 2020 to RMB770.5 million in 2021,

primarily due to the revenue contribution from The Monsters.

- Non-exclusive licensed IPs. Revenue from non-exclusive licensed IPs
increased by 39.6% from RMB444.4 million in 2020 to RMB620.5 million
in 2021, primarily due to the sales of new series of products and the

increase in new IPs.

Revenue by geographic regions

The Company’s revenue by geographic regions is mainly from offline

channels, which mainly include retail stores and roboshops.

- Retail stores. The table below sets forth the Company’s revenue from

retail stores by geographic regions for 2021 and 2020:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

— BRIP- BRIPIWAK2020F AR
7119ABIL ' EAZE2021FNARE
7705B&TT  BKRT82% ETEMAMThe
Monsters B A B EL °

— EBRIP - IEBRIPUAK20200F AR
4444 B ETT 0 EAE2001FH AR 6205
BEL BEEAE396%  EF2HRITRT
EmREE - RAFIPEIEM -

RIE IR BB AU A
ARERRBER A HRANR TR R
T FERETEENEBARS -

— ZEF - TRHFIWARAZEE2021F K
2020 FF fE b IR [ 15 B D UL A -

For the year ended For the year ended

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
BE2021F12831BLLFE| BE2020F 12431 B IEFE
Number Revenue Number Revenue
of retail from retail of retail from retail
City tier WHER stores stores stores stores
ZERHE ZEEKRA | TEEHE TEERA
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T R AREFT
First-tier cities® —RRT 113 797,520 81 499,210
New first-tier cities! AR 84 479,902 56 289,139
Other cities® H sl e 98 395,964 50 213,705
Total &t 295 1,673,386 187 1,002,054

3 Refer to first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou
and Shenzhen

4 Refer to new first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Chengdu, Chongging,
Hangzhou, Wuhan, Xi‘an, Zhengzhou, Qingdao, Changsha, Tianjin, Suzhou,
Nanjing, Dongguan, Shenyang, Hefei and Foshan

° Refer to cities other than first-tier cities and new first-tier cities in Mainland China
as well as Hong Kong, Macau, Taiwan and overseas cities

PR BRRE— R - BREIER - £E - BN
#YI
EHRBEAREN—GQWT - BEKES BB M
Mo RE BT BN FR - RYRE
M- BR - RE OGBS  AEREL

S HETRBIREERR A — AR T AT — AR T LASP RO
R BR G 1R g ML T
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- Roboshops. The table below sets forth the Company’s revenue from

roboshops by geographic regions for 2021 and 2020:

— MBBAEE - TERIINAQDFHEEAEE
2021 4F }2 2020 G #4h 3 [& 35 B 5 ;9 UL A

For the year ended For the year ended

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
BZ2021F12A31BLEFE | 852020612 A31HIEFE
Revenue Revenue
Number of from Number of from
City tier W ER roboshops  roboshops roboshops roboshops
HEEA HE|A Hes A Mg A
BEEE E WA EEHE 1L ON
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTT
First-tier cities — R 553 145,851 447 119,667
New first-tier cities — iR 594 153,223 453 107,149
Other cities E AT 723 170,729 451 101,863
Total &t 1,870 469,803 1,351 328,679

Costs of sales HERA

Our costs of sales increased by 88.4% from RMB919.4 million in 2020 to
RMB1,732.0 million in 2021, primarily due to the increase in revenue from
business expansion. The increase of costs of sales was primarily due to (1)
the increase in costs of goods from RMB748.5 million in 2020 to RMB1,445.0
million in 2021, which was mainly due to the increase in sales and the
increase in the unit cost of goods; (2) design and license fees increased from
RMB62.7 million in 2020 to RMB104.7 million in 2021, which was mainly
due to the increase in revenue generated from our brand products; and
(3) depreciation of property, plant and equipment increased from RMB19.9
million in 2020 to RMB76.4 million in 2021, which was mainly due to the
increase in the number of our products and the additions of the product
series resulting to the increase in moulds, thus the increase in depreciation

expense generated.

POP MART
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Gross profit

Our gross profit increased by 73.1% from RMB1,594.1 million in 2020 to
RMB2,758.6 million in 2021, primarily due to the increase in revenue. Our
gross profit margin dropped from 63.4% in 2020 to 61.4% in 2021, primarily

due to the decline in gross profit margin of our Pop Mart brand products.

Gross profit from our Pop Mart brand products increased by 75.3% from
RMB1,467.9 million in 2020 to RMB2,573.2 million in 2021, primarily due
to the increase in revenue from our Pop Mart brand products. Gross profit
margin of Pop Mart brand products dropped from 68.7% in 2020 to 64.7% in
2021, primarily due to the increasing complexity of product production as we
enhance the quality of our products, as well as the increasing raw material
costs in 2021.

Gross profit from third-party products increased by 46.9% from RMB126.2
million in 2020 to RMB185.4 million in 2021. Gross profit margin increased
from 33.4% in 2020 to 36.1% in 2021, primarily due to the diversification of

product composition and the slight change of gross profit.

Distribution and selling expenses

Our distribution and selling expenses increased by 75.5% from RMB630.1
million in 2020 to RMB1,106.1 million in 2021. Among which, (1) employee
benefit expenses; (2) depreciation of right-of-use assets; and (3) advertising

and marketing expenses accounted for higher proportions.

- Employee benefit expenses. Our employee benefit expenses increased
by 154.7% from RMB112.8 million in 2020 to RMB287.3 million in 2021,
primarily due to (1) the increase in number of sales personnel from 1,527
in 2020 to 2,436 in 2021 primarily for supporting the expansion of our
retail stores and roboshop network; and (2) share-based payment for

share incentive scheme of RMB39.4 million in aggregate.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Depreciation of right-of-use assets. Depreciation of right-of-use assets
increased by 54.8% from RMB121.1 million in 2020 to RMB187.5 million
in 2021, mainly due to the increase in number of retail stores from 187
as of 31 December 2020 to 295 as of 31 December 2021 for supporting
our business expansion and fulfillment of the demands for our product

display.

Advertising and marketing expenses. Advertising and marketing
expenses increased by 70.9% from RMB92.2 million in 2020 to RMB157.6
million in 2021, mainly due to the increase in the promotion of online
channels and the planning costs for events such as “6.2" Big Children’s

Day.

General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses increased by 99.1% from RMB280.0
million in 2020 to RMB557.5 million in 2021. Among which, (1) employee
benefit expenses; and (2) depreciation of right-of-use assets accounted for

higher proportions.

Employee benefit expenses. Employee benefit expenses increased
by 193.7% from RMB130.2 million in 2020 to RMB382.4 million in 2021,
mainly due to (1) the increase in number of our administrative and
design development personnel from 793 in 2020 to 1,617 in 2021 for
supporting our product development and business expansion, as well as
the rise in remuneration level for attracting talents; and (2) share-based

payment for share incentive scheme of RMB107.7 million in aggregate.

Depreciation of right-of-use assets. Depreciation of right-of-use assets
increased from RMB21.8 million in 2020 to RMB34.2 million in 2021,

mainly due to the expansion of office lease to meet office needs.
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(Provision for)/reversal of impairment on financial assets

We recorded a reversal of impairment on financial assets of RMB0.4 million in
2020 and a provision for impairment on financial assets of RMB1.4 million in
2021, primarily due to the increase in trade receivable balances which was in

line with our sales.

Other income

The other income of the Company increased by 19.8% from RMB45.4 million
in 2020 to RMB54.4 million in 2021, primarily due to the increase in IP license
fee income from cooperation projects with fresh, Ray-Ban, Haagen-Dazs,
Kiehl's and other brands from RMB18.7 million in 2020 to RMB37.7 million in
2021.

Other gains/(losses) — net

We recorded other losses, net of RMB11.1 million in 2020, and other gains,
net of RMB1.8 million in 2021, primarily due to the income from interest on
wealth management products and structured deposits of RMB15.8 million
in 2021 and other donation expenses totaling RMB10.9 million, including
donations to flood relief in Henan Province and donations to Peking

University Education Fund.

Operating profit

As a result of the above, the company’s operating profit increased by 60.0%
from RMB718.8 million in 2020 to RMB1,149.8 million in 2021.

Share of profit of investments accounted for using equity method

Our share of profit of investments accounted for using equity method
increased by 259.0% from RMB3.9 million in 2020 to RMB14.0 million in 2021.

Finance income/(expenses) — net

Our finance expenses, net turned from a net loss of RMB9.0 million in 2020
to a net gain of RMB7.4 million in 2021, primarily due to the increase in our

interest income.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased from RMB184.1 million in 2020 to
RMB316.6 million in 2021 as a result of the increase in profit before income
tax. Our effective tax rate rose from 26.0% in 2020 to 27.0% in 2021.

Profit for the year

As a result of the above, our profit for the year increased from RMB523.3
million in 2020 to RMB854.6 million in 2021.

Non-GAAP financial indicators

The non-IFRS adjusted net profit has not been calculated in accordance
with the IFRS, thus it is deemed as non-IFRS financial indicator. The non-IFRS
adjusted net profit refers to the net profit after excluding listing expenses,
share-based payment, expenses in relation to the redesignation of ordinary
shares as preference shares, expenses in relation to the convertible
redeemable preference shares and changes in fair value of convertible
redeemable preference shares, while the non-IFRS adjusted net profit margin
refers to the non-IFRS adjusted net profit divided by revenue. We are of the
view that such information is useful for investors to compare the results of
the Group, provided that the results of the continuing operation or cash
flows of the Group are not being affected, and enable investors to take into
consideration of the indicators used by the management when assessing
the results of the Group. Investors shall not treat non-IFRS financial indicator
as an alternative or better version of the results of the Group prepared in
accordance with IFRS. In addition, not all companies will adopt the same way
in calculating such non-IFRS financial indicators. Hence, similar measurements

made by other companies may not be comparable.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5

FriSHiRs

BT R HAS H2020FEMARB 1841 HE
TTIEMB202VFHIARKE3I66BEBT  RAR
B FTSHANRFIE M - RMIWERTEH
20204F #)26.0%38 K 2 2021 F #927.0% ©

FRIEF

R BT - BRI F RiE T 2020 F A9 A
R¥533EBTEME2021 FMARE-S46H
BT °

FARET RS BER

SRR B R RS AR FIR R AR
BRERARE - R AFRRIE RS LA
M RTRARETEA - URE AR
R - BT R A E RS B
% THRAHEEEROAREN: - TH
MAREE £ RN A FEEHRAT - D
B 5 o 2 4 S 1 ) 5 28 S
B R A A B AR A28 BN
B BEEESHRRELETYEAERHR
S EHAR RO TR T AR B R
REMK - LAFRAEEREREETER
EEFRBEANHIET - REETERAEE
BRE 1R A 0B B 1 (R AR
B BRE 5 4R 5 A M S o U5 - TR
B e A RE BRI X EH S B
SEES Ll N DL LN
AR B -



The following table set out the reconciliation of non-IFRS financial indicators

of the Company for the respective years.
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TREHARA S FENIFERY BHRELER
MR SRR LR -

For the For the

year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
BZE2021%F B ZE20205
12A31H 12A31H
ILFE IEFE
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

Profit for the year F 175 A 854,567 523,312
Adjustments FHEIEE
Listing expenses ETER - 44,024
Share-based payment VARR 13 3 B RE 00 1 Sk R B 147,068 -
Expenses in relation to the redesignation of BIETE S BRAELRS

ordinary shares as preference shares MY - 16,910
Changes in fair value of convertible redeemable ] #44 A i [0 18 5 A% &9

preference shares NEEEZS) - 6,260
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit FEBIFR B 75 S 5 Y R AR SR B A A 1,001,635 590,506
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit margin FEBUPR B T R A A A A B AL FI 2 22.3% 23.5%

The management is of the view that listing expenses, expenses in relation to
the redesignation of ordinary shares as preference shares and changes in fair
value of convertible redeemable preference shares are one-off in nature that
are related to procedures prior to listing and the initial public offering, which
will not be incurred after listing. In addition, share-based payment expenses,
expenses in relation to the redesignation of ordinary shares as restricted
shares and changes in fair value of convertible redeemable preference shares
are non-cash items, which do not directly reflect our business operation.
Hence, through eliminating the effects of such items on calculation of
non-IFRS adjusted net profit, relevant operating performance can be
better reflected, and it would be more convenient to compare operating

performance in different years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Current assets, Financial Resources and Capital Expenditures

In 2021, the Group adopt a prudent funding and treasury policy with regard
to its overall business operations. A variety of the below resources are

maintained to meet its working capital requirements.

Current assets and current liabilities

Our net current assets increased from RMB5,590.6 million as of 31 December
2020 to RMB5,664.6 million as of 31 December 2021, which was basically

stable.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables represent outstanding amounts receivable by us from our
customers in the ordinary course of business. Our trade receivables increased
from RMB78.3 million as of 31 December 2020 to RMB171.3 million as of 31
December 2021. The increase was primarily due to the increase in third party
(including shopping malls, wholesale customers and e-commerce platforms)
payment. Trade receivables turnover days increased from 9 days in 2020 to

10 days in 2021, which was basically stable.

Other receivables

Other receivables mainly represent deposits paid to shopping malls in respect
of our retail stores and roboshops. Other receivables increased from RMB90.8
million as of 31 December 2020 to RMB154.9 million as of 31 December 2021,
mainly due to the increase in deposits, which was in line with the expansion

in our retail store and roboshop network.

Inventories

Our inventories comprise finished goods. Our inventories increased from
RMB225.4 million as of 31 December 2020 to RMB788.8 million as of 31
December 2021. The increase was primarily due to the increase in product
inventories to meet with the increasing product demands. Inventory turnover
days increased from 78 days in 2020 to 128 days in 2021, primarily due to the
expansion of the business and channel, the increase in IPs and new products,

and stocking up in advance for Spring Festival and the first quarter in 2022.
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Prepayments and other current assets

Prepayments and other current assets primarily comprise prepayments
for inventories, prepayments for design fees, prepayments for investment,
prepayments for property, plant and equipment and others. Our prepayments
and other current assets increased from RMB177.9 million as of 31 December
2020 to RMB353.6 million as of 31 December 2021, primarily due to (1)
the increase in prepayments to suppliers of RMB105.5 million; and (2) the

increase in prepayments for design fees of RMB43.8 million.

Cash and cash equivalents

Our cash and cash equivalents primarily comprise cash at bank. Cash and
cash equivalents decreased from RMB5,680.2 million as of 31 December 2020
to RMB5,264.7 million as of 31 December 2021, which was mainly due to the
increasing investments in financial instruments at fair value through profit or

loss.

Trade payables

Trade payables primarily represent our obligation to pay for merchandise
from suppliers in the ordinary course of business. Trade payables increased
from RMB115.8 million as of 31 December 2020 to RMB266.1 million as of
31 December 2021, primarily due to the increase in procurement amount
as a result of our business growth, which in turns resulted in the increase in
balance of payables to suppliers. Our trade payables turnover was 40 days in

2021, the same with the trade payables turnover in 2020.

Other payables

Our other payables consist mainly of (1) wages, salaries and other employee
benefits, (2) accrual expenses, (3) payables for store improvement, (4)
dividend payables, (5) other tax payables, and (6) others. Our other payables
increased from RMB202.3 million as of 31 December 2020 to RMB266.9
million as of 31 December 2021, primarily due to (1) an increase of RMB35.2
million in wages, salaries and other employee benefits resulted from
increased number of staff; and (2) an increase of RMB24.8 million in service

fees, logistics fees, advertisement fees and other expensed in daily operation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Property, plant and equipment

Our property, plant and equipment consist mainly of (1) roboshops, (2) moulds,
(3) equipment and others and (4) leasehold improvement. Our property, plant
and equipment increased from RMB238.3 million as of 31 December 2020 to
RMB366.3 million as of 31 December 2021, primarily due to the increase in

leasehold improvements of new stores and new offices of RMB96.9 million.

Intangible assets

Our intangible assets consist mainly of (1) licensed IPs, (2) intellectual
property rights, including our propriety IPs and (3) software. Our intangible
assets increased from RMB92.7 million as of 31 December 2020 to RMB134.0
million as of 31 December 2021, primarily due to the increase in the licensed
IPs of RMB38.6 million.

Right-of-use assets

Our right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding
lease liability in relation to our retail stores and roboshops, lease payments
made at or before the commencement date and any initial direct costs. Our
right-of-use assets are depreciated starting at the commencement date over
the shorter period of useful life of the underlying asset and lease term. Our
right-of-use assets increased from RMB287.8 million as of 31 December 2020 to
RMB609.5 million as of 31 December 2021, mainly due to the expansion in our

retail store and roboshop network.

Bank borrowings

The Group did not have any bank borrowings as of 31 December 2021.

Pledge of Assets

The Group did not have any pledged assets as of 31 December 2021.
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Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated by dividing total liabilities by total assets and
then multiplying by 100%. As of 31 December 2021, the Group's gearing ratio
was 18.1% as compared with the gearing ratio of 12.1% as of 31 December
2020.

Contingency

We are not currently involved in any material legal proceedings, nor are we
aware of any pending or potential material legal proceedings involving us.
If we are involved in such material legal proceedings, we would record any
loss or contingency when, based on information then available, it is likely
that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably

estimated.

On 28 August 2020, we received a court summons dated 19 August 2020 in
relation to a claim brought by Golden Eagle International Retail Group (China)
Co., Ld. (BB EZEEE (FE)BRAF) as a shareholder on behalf
of Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop Mart Trading Co., Ltd. at the Jiangsu Nanjing
Intermediate People’s Court (LERAE R M AR ARERT) against Beijing
Pop Mart Culture & Creative Co., Ltd. On 17 June 2021, the first hearing of
the above case was held, and the major proceedings were the collection and
verification of further information provided by Golden Eagle International and
the Group. The case will continue to be heard in subsequent sessions to assist
the court in finding out the facts. As at latest practicable date (i.e. 21 April
2022, the “Latest Practicable Date”, being the latest practicable date prior to
the printing of this report for the purpose of ascertaining certain information
contained herein), the above case is still in process. As we have been advised
by our PRC legal adviser that the claim brought by Golden Eagle International
is groundless, the likelihood that the claim will be decided in favor of Golden
Eagle International is very low, the risk exposure of the Company from the
claim is minimal and the claim will not have a material adverse impact on our
operations and financial performance, as such, no provision in relation to this

claim has been recognized in the consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

We operate mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in
Renminbi. Our management considers that the business is not exposed to
any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial
assets or liabilities of our Group denominated in currencies other than
the respective functional currencies of our operating entities. We did not
hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the year ended 31
December 2021.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures consist of purchases of property, plant and
equipment and purchases of intangible assets. The table below sets forth the

Company's capital expenditures in 2020 and 2021:

HNE R E

HOEZRFEEEED  THTEZUARE
BE MR AEETENRMACEEESEY
BEEELIINEEHENERSHEESREE
HUE TR B 3R 5 ZE 5 I M A & K SN IE L FR i
O RELZE 202112 A31 B LEFE R - B
I 4 4 R AT SNEE SR D

ERAX

AREHMEARALTBIEBEDE  BERRK
MREMBEBELEENTE - TREIAA
F12020F A 2021 FHE AR IER

For the year For the year
ended 31 ended 31
December 2021 December 2020
BZE2021%F B ZE20205F
12A31H 12A31H
IEFE FFE
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARBT T

Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEMX  BEMEE 287,502 175,984
Purchases of intangible assets HBERLEE 46,246 47,608
Total Gl 333,748 223,592

Human Resources

As of 31 December 2021, we had a total of 4,053 employees, including
2,436 sales personnel and 1,617 administrative and development personnel.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, we incurred staff costs (including

remuneration, payrolls, allowances and benefits) of RMB669.7 million.
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Significant Investments and Future Plans

As of 31 December 2021, we did not hold any significant investment. To
strengthen our position as the pioneer and key promoter of pop toy culture
in China, we plan to utilise the Net Proceeds to carry out certain expansion
projects. Details for the expansion projects are set out in the paragraph
headed “Use of Net Proceeds From Listing” in this report and the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company
dated 1 December 2020 (the “Prospectus”).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2021, we had not conducted any

material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Major Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties we face are relating to: (i) as a pop culture
entertainment company, we cannot assure you that we will be able to design
and develop products that will be popular with consumers, or that we will
be able to maintain the popularity of successful products; (i) we may not
realize the full benefit of our licenses if the IPs we are granted license have
less market appeal than expected or if sales from the products that use
those IPs are not sufficient to satisfy the minimum guaranteed royalties; (iii)
our business depends significantly on market recognition of our "Pop Mart”
brand, and any damage to our brand, trademarks or reputation, or failure
to effectively promote our brand, could materially and adversely impact
our business and results of operations; (iv) we use third-party manufactures
to manufacture all of our Pop Mart brand products, and failure in product
quality control may adversely affect our business; and(v)the slowdown in
macro-economic growth may weaken the demand in our products which

may have a certain negative impact on the Company’s operating results.

Subsequent Events

As at the date of the annual report, the Group has no significant events
occurred after 31 December 2021 which require additional disclosures or

adjustments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

OUTLOOK

IP is at the core of our business. Through our innovative products, delicate
design and quality services, we aim to offer consumers with joyful pop
culture and artistic experience. At the same time, by elevating our brand
value, we will enhance the brand loyalty of users on Pop Mart products,

thereby maintaining our strong market position and competitiveness.

We will strive to enrich the types of our IPs, expand the portfolio of our
IPs, maintain high-quality design and innovation standards, introduce
more products as top-selling series, operate IPs continuously, strengthen
IPs" impression in the public’s eye, and deepen the emotional connection
between fans and IPs. In addition, we will increase types of pop toys, further
explore the development of product lines such as MEGA, derivative products

and BJD, and improve product quality and sales procedures.

We will strive to expand our channel network so as to reach more users. In
addition, we will continue to strengthen our operating capability, improve
user shopping experience, enhance member expansion and member
marketing, promote innovative retail digitalized operation, reach and retain

users through diversified measures, and offer customized and better services.

We will strive to increase our brand awareness and market share in pop toy
market in overseas countries and regions. Localization of operation is the
core of our overseas operations strategy. While enhancing the shopping
experience and interaction of end consumers, we will also cooperate with
more local partners and artists to explore more business models, IPs and

product types that meet the needs of local market.

We will continue to promote pop toy culture through more diversified
means, continuously thrive to gain a stronger impact on the industry, offer
more benefits for our privilege members, take more measures to let our
customers stick to our brand, as well as enhance the cultural recognition and

brand awareness of fans.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out

as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Ning (E£28), aged 35, is our executive Director, Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. Mr. Wang founded our
Group in October 2010, and is responsible for the overall strategic planning

and management of our Company.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor's degree in advertising from Sias International
College of Zhengzhou University (EB/NKZ 7520 B BER &) (currently
known as Sias University) in the PRC in June 2009, and his master's degree
in business administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking
University (JE R KB EE IR EBR) in the PRC in June 2017.

Mr. Wang is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our
Company including Beijing Pop Mart, and Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding
Limited.

Mr. Wang is the spouse of Ms. Yang Tao, our executive Director.

Ms. Yang Tao (#38), aged 35, is our executive Director and vice president.
Ms. Yang joined our Group in October 2010 towards the end of her master's
degree program, and is in charge of the Inner flow art organization of our

Company.

Ms. Yang received her bachelor of general study degree from Fort Hays
State University in the United States in May 2009, and her master's degree in
communication studies from Hong Kong Baptist University in Hong Kong in
November 2010.

Ms. Yang is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of

our Company.

Ms. Yang is the spouse of Mr. Wang, our executive Director, Chairman of the

Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company.
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Ms. Liu Ran (218), aged 34, is our executive Director and vice president. Ms.
Liu joined our Group in July 2011 shortly after graduating from university. Ms.

Liu is in charge of the president office of our Company.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor's degree in tourism management from Sias
International College of Zhengzhou University (currently known as Sias
University) in the PRC in July 2010, and her master's degree in business
administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking University
in the PRC in July 2020.

Ms. Liu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of our

Company.

Mr. Si De (F]#&), aged 33, is our executive Director, chief operating officer
and president of China business. Mr. Si joined our Group in March 2015,
and is responsible for the operations of the Group and the overall business
in mainland China. Mr. Si joined our Group as the brand director and was

promoted to vice president in July 2016.

Mr. Si received his bachelor's degree in French studies from China
Communication University (FFEBI{EEAE) in the PRC in July 2011, and
his master's degree in business administration from Guanghua School of

Management of Peking University in the PRC in July 2017.

Mr. Si'is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Company,
including Shanghai Paqu Commerce Co., Ltd. (E/SBE SHR A A),
Beijing Paquhuyu Technology Co., Ltd. (Gt REEBEIREHEBRR A F]) and
Tianjin Pop Mart Cultural Communication Co., Ltd. (KZBBIGH L EE
BRAA).
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tu Zheng (B##), aged 43, is our non-executive Director. Mr. Tu was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. Tu has been serving as a partner of Shanghai Fenggiao Investment
Management Co. Ltd. (E/B#BTIIREERBRAF]) since May 2018. He
served as a partner at Shenzhen Qifu Capital Management Co., LTD (&3
MR EAREEBRAR]) from May 2015 to April 2018. From June 2007
to April 2015, Mr. Tu worked at Shenzhen Fortune Caizhi Venture Capital
Management Co. Ltd. (RYITTZEEM B RIEKREEEBR A A]) where he
served successively as an investment manager, an investment director, the
general manager of Zhejiang branch office, the deputy general manager of
East China and the head of TMT sector.

Mr. Tu received his bachelor’s degree in English studies from Zhejiang
University (HIRE) in the PRC in June 2000, and his master's degree in
public policy from the University of Chicago in the United States in June
2003. Mr. Tu currently holds the China Securities Investment Fund Practicing
Certificate granted by the Asset Management Association of China (FF BIz& %
WEESEBHE) in August 2017.

Mr. Tu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.

Mr. He Yu (ffI#&), aged 41, is our non-executive Director. Mr. He was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. He founded and served as a partner of Shenzhen Qianhai Heiyi Innovation
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) CFYIFTE REAIFIRE S E
P (ERAE)) since February 2016. Prior to that, Mr. He served as the head
of strategy and investment department at Beijing Bytedance Technology Co.
Ltd. b R FEBK B BHE B BR 22 7)) from August 2015 to February 2016.

Mr. He received his bachelor’s degree in international economics and trade
from Nankai University (FAFAZ) in the PRC in June 2003, and his master’s
degree in finance from the University of Lancaster in the United Kingdom
in November 2005. Mr. He was admitted as a Chartered Financial Analyst by
the CFA Institute in September 2008, and was granted the China Securities
Investment Fund Practicing Certificate by the Asset Management Association
of China in February 2017.

Mr. He is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EESkEAREEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Jianjun ((REE), aged 55, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from 11 December 2020 (the “Listing Date”"), and is

responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Zhang is currently a professor of organizational and strategic
management at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University.
Mr. Zhang's research focuses on corporate social responsibilities, corporate
political activities, leaders and leadership teams and corporate culture,
among other subjects. Mr. Zhang has been a faculty member at Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University since March 2004. Mr. Zhang
has accumulated in-depth understanding of corporate governance from his
research over the past 15 years. His publication, Marketization and Democracy
in China, has won the first prize of the 11th sociology studies achievement
award of the Peking University in March 2011 and second prize of the 6th
award for outstanding achievement of scientific research in colleges and
universities issued by the Ministry of Education of the PRC. Mr. Zhang was
also awarded the Li Yining Teaching Award in December 2014 and Li Yining
Research Award in December 2018 by the Guanghua school of Management
of Peking University. Mr. Zhang served as an independent director of CCB Life

Insurance Company Limited from November 2014 to August 2017.

Mr. Zhang received his bachelor's and master's degrees in law from Peking
University in the PRC in July 1989 and July 1992, respectively. Mr. Zhang
received his Ph.D in sociology from the University of California, Berkeley in
the United States in December 2003.

Mr. Wu Liansheng (5H4), aged 51, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgement to the Board. Mr. Wu was faculty
member at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University from
September 2001 to March 2022, and has been faculty member at Southern

University of Science and Technology Business School since March 2022.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5

BAFATES

REEKE 5558 H2020F 1281 B ([ LW
B ) BRARARBYIIENITES  AERE
FeREBETER LA -

3RS AR A AL K B 1 B2 By AR A0 B B B
EBEIFR - RELANHIREHALEHEE
£ EBREE  BEREEBEBU R
MACERRE R H2004F 3 ABEMIL A
BRECHBRHABAE - BREBEISFHOM
RABREBLEBTRANRIANG - REED
AR [ Marketization and Democracy in China
P20 F3ABERAEE T —EAGTERIE
MEBFRRE-—SRRPEREHBEENE
NEREERBEBMRESFHREL_FHE K
AT DRIR2014F 12 A R2018% 12 AL R
ARENEERBERBEEUNEHERREUE
THFEEE - PR20145F 11 AE20175F8 A - RFEEE
FREASRBROBERAGDNBIES -

RAEADPIN1989F7 A K 19924%7 A G H
bR AREFLEBE+ RIET 20 - RIEAER2003
FNRABEBSERNMNKREBRERIORL D2

T8 -

SREERE S BELTMBHBARATE
VHEHTEFT AENEETSRHEBIUYEAR
HH o RIAER2001F9AE2022F3 AT
PANBREETEERABAE - B2022F3 L
BEEAREASHERABAS -



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wu had served directorships in certain listed companies. He served as
an independent director of Huaneng Power International, Inc. (FERERIRE
NE&DBBRAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 600011), the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 902) and the New York Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: HNP) from May 2008 to July 2014, an independent
director of RiseSun Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (5% 5% /R i E 2R I
BABMRAT]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 002146) from January 2009 to January 2012, an independent director
of Western Mining Co,, Ltd. (FAEFEZR D BRAF]), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601168) from February 2011 to
September 2015, an independent director of Wanda Cinema Line Co. Ltd (B
EBXRGIM AR AF]) (now known as Wanda Film Holding Co., Ltd (8
EBERM AR AR]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 002739) from January 2011 to November 2015, an independent
non-executive director of China National Building Material Company Limited
(P EIEM RN BR AR,
Code: 3323) from November 2011 to May 2016, an independent director of
Xinhuanet Co., Ltd (¥TEE A% (DB BR A A)), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603888) from May 2014 to March 2016 and an
independent director of BOC International (China) Co., Ltd. (PR BIFR &
f&HEBRAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 601696) from September 2018 to March 2021. Mr. Wu has served as
an independent director of Rightway Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 00321) since May 2020, and has

served as an independent director of Agricultural Bank Of China Limited, a

a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock

company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock code: 601288) and
the Stock Exchange (Stock code:1288) since November 2021.

Mr. Wu received his bachelor's degree in economics from Wuhan University
in the PRC in July 1993, his master's degree in economics from Wuhan
University in the PRC in June 1996, and his Ph.D in management from
Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics (7 3 87 48 A £2) (now known
as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (FR R B A&EBUAAE)) in the
PRC in June 1999.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EESkEAREEERE

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary (BESIR), aged 38, is our independent non-
executive Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for

providing independent opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Ngan has served as the chief financial officer at Meitu, Inc, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1357) since June 2015. He was
appointed as one of the joint company secretaries of Meitu, Inc. on 2 August
2016, and became the company secretary of Meitu, Inc. since 15 December
2019. Between May 2012 and June 2015, Mr. Ngan held the positions of
chief operating officer, chief financial officer and joint company secretary at
Forgame Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 484). Prior to that, he was the director and head of Hong Kong and
China Internet research at UBS AG, where he worked from July 2006 to April
2012.

Mr. Ngan received his bachelor of science degree in economics from the
Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania in the United States in 2006. He
has been a CFA Charterholder since 2010.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Ning (E88), aged 35, is our executive Director, Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. For details of his
biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive Directors” in this

section.

Mr. Yang Jingbing (#8%7K), aged 43, is the Chief Financial Officer of our
Company. Mr. Yang joined our Group in August 2017, and is responsible for

the management of finance of our Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yang served successively as a manager of
the finance and capital department, an assistant to the general manager
and a chief financial officer of Beijing BBMG Dacheng Development Co.,
Lid. Gt e ARKFAEABR AT (now known as Beijing BBMG Property
Development Group Co., Ltd. (L RE&MEMEMZEEBEBRAF)) from
March 2010 to August 2017. He served as a manager of financial planning
department Beijing Dacheng Development Co., Ltd. (At RAKFZEF R A
Al) from March 2009 to March 2010. From September 2007 to March 2009,
Mr. Yang served as a member of the finance section of the listing office of
BBMG Corporation (1t R BB B PR A 7). Mr. Yang served as a staff of the
finance department of Beijing GEM Real Estate Development Company (3t &
£ MERERERZEAQR]) from July 2002 to September 2007.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang received his bachelor's degree in law and management in June
2002 from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in the PRC, and his
master's degree in business administration in June 2016 from the Guanghua

School of Management of Peking University in the PRC.

Mr. Si De (B]4E), aged 33, is our executive Director, Chief Operations Officer
and president of China business. For details of his biography, please see the

sub-section headed “Executive Directors” in this section.

Ms. Yang Tao (#3), aged 35, is our executive Director and vice president.
For details of her biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors” in this section.

Ms. Liu Ran (2]H), aged 34, is our executive Director and vice president.
For details of her biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors” in this section.

Mr. Moon Duk Il (3Xf—), aged 43, is our vice president and president
of overseas business. Mr. Moon joined our Group in August 2018, and
is responsible for overseeing the overseas business department of our
Company. Prior to that, Mr. Moon served successively as a global business
planning specialist, global business planning senior specialist and global
business planning junior manager at the business development department
of CJ CheilJedang Corporation from July 2013 to July 2018, and a manager of
the global strategy department of CJ ENM from January 2009 to May 2013.
From December 2004 to December 2008, Mr. Moon served at the planning

management department of Lotte Cinema Co., Ltd.

Mr. Moon received his bachelor’s degree in Chinese from Konkuk University
in Korea in February 2005, and his master's degree in business administration
from Peking University in the PRC in July 2018.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEERESE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the "Directors”) of the Company is
pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is the largest and fastest-growing pop toy company in China,
in terms of retail value in 2019 with a market share of 8.5% and revenue
growth from 2017 to 2019, respectively, according to the Frost & Sullivan
Report. IP is at the core of our business. We have established an integrated
platform covering the entire industry chain of pop toys, including artists
development, IP operation, consumer access and pop toy culture promotion,

through which we light up the passion of fans and bring them joy.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 165 to 166 of this annual

report.

DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

We intend to distribute dividends to our Shareholders on an annual basis
of no less than 20% of our distributable net profit, which is subject to the
discretion of our Directors. The Board, with the sanction of the Shareholders
in general meeting, may direct any dividend be satisfied wholly or in part by
the distribution of specific assets of any kind. Any declaration and payment
as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to our constitutional
documents and the Cayman Companies Law. Our Shareholders in a general
meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which must not exceed
the amount recommended by our Board. No dividends shall be declared
or payable except out of our profits and reserves of our Company lawfully
available for distribution including share premium. No dividend shall carry

interest against our Company.
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The Board will review dividend policy from time to time in light of the
following factors in determining whether dividends are to be declared and

paid:

our result of operations;

our cash flows;

our financial condition;

our capital requirements;

relevant legal requirements; and

other factors the Board may deem relevant.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”), the Company in general meeting may declare dividends in
any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by
the Board.

As at 31 December 2021, no arrangement was reached pursuant to which the

shareholders of the Company waived or agreed to waive their dividends.

The Board has resolved to declare a final dividend of RMB15.24 cents
per ordinary Share issued for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
proposed final dividend is subject to the consideration and approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to be held on Wednesday, 1 June 2022 (the "AGM"). The final dividend
is payable to the Shareholders whose names are listed in the register of
members of the Company on Friday, 10 June 2022. Once approved by the
AGM, the final dividend is expected to be distributed on Thursday, 23 June
2022.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExgRESE

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company'’s securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on 1 June 2022. The notice of the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in due course in
the manner as required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on

the Shock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 27 May 2022
to Wednesday, 1 June 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be qualified to attend and
vote at the AGM, all completed transfers forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company's branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Thursday, 26 May 2022.

In order to determine the entitlement to the proposed final dividends,
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 8 June 2022 to
Friday, 10 June 2022 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
Shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be qualified to obtain
final dividends, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company's branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 7 June 2022.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the Group's
performance during the year, using financial key performance indicators
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position as well
as the outlook of the Group's business are provided in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 30 of this annual report. Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced the Group can be found in the

“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 29 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility to promote a sustainable and eco-
friendly environment. In this respect, we strive to minimize our environmental
impact by reducing our carbon footprint and to build our corporation in a

sustainable way.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, we are subject to various
environmental protection laws and regulations. For more details, please
refer to "Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report
for our work in respect of environmental protection, social and governance

during year ended 31 December 2021.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE WITH
RELEVANT LAWS AND REGUALTIONS

We may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings
arising in the ordinary course of business. Directors confirm that, during the
year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the Latest Practicable Date, we had
not involved in any litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding against
us or any of our Directors that could have a material and adverse effect on
our business, financial conditions or results of operations. Furthermore, to
the knowledge of our Directors, there is no pending or foreseeable litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceeding against us or any of our Directors
that could cause a material and adverse effect on our business, financial

conditions or results of operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and up to the Latest Practicable
Date, the Group had complied with the laws in all material respects,
including the requirements under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO") and the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules) for, among other things, the disclosure of information and

corporate governance.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five
financial years are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report. This summary

does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of 31 December 2021, we had a total of 4,053 employees. Substantially all

of our employees are based in the PRC.

We primarily recruit our employees through on-campus job fairs, recruitment
agencies and online channels including our corporate websites and social
networking platforms. We have adopted robust internal training policies,
pursuant to which management, technology and other training are regularly
provided to our employees by internally sourced speakers or externally hired

consultants.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to

time.

We enter into standard contracts and agreements regarding confidentiality,
intellectual property, employment, commercial ethics and non-competition
with all of our executive officers and the vast majority of our employees.
These contracts typically include a non-competition provision and a

confidentiality provision effective during and after their employment with us.

None of our employees are currently represented by labor unions. We believe
that we maintain a good working relationship with our employees, and
we have not experienced any significant labor disputes or any difficulty in
recruiting staff for our operations during the year ended 31 December 2021

and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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Customers

Our customers primarily consist of our fans and distributors, and to a lesser
extent, our bulk purchase corporate customers. We generally provide credit
terms to our wholesale customers ranging from 30 to 90 days. Certain
wholesale customers with good history and long-term relationship are
extended preferential credit terms of up to 180 days. We have a diversified

customer base.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's sales to its five largest

customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

Suppliers

Currently, our suppliers primarily include selected third-party manufacturers
in China. We select third-party manufacturers based on factors such as
quality, capacity, price, years of operation, reputation and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Most of our third-party manufacturers have
extensive industry experience and cooperate with other major toy brands in
China and globally. In addition, our suppliers also include third-party brand

owners from whom we procure their products and sell through our network.

We usually enter into supply agreements of at least one year with our
suppliers, subject to our standard terms and conditions. In most cases, when
orders placed with a particular supplier exceed the agreed amount, we will
be entitled to a percentage rebate or discount on the purchase price as
agreed with the supplier. Our suppliers may grant us credit terms of up to
180 days.

For the year ended 31 December 2021, purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for 37.8% of the Group's total purchases and

purchases from the largest supplier accounted for 14.1%.

So far as our Directors are aware, none of our Directors or executive officers
of our Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates or any
Shareholders of our Company holding more than 5% of the issued share
capital of our Company immediately following the completion of the Global
Offering, had any interests in any of our five largest suppliers during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and up to the Latest Practicable Date.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the issued share capital of the Company was
1,401,937,550 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021 are set out on pages 170 to 171 in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company's reserve available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to approximately RMB14,210,950,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 13 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and as at the Latest Practicable
Date and based on the information publicly available to the Company and
to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained the

minimum public float of 25% as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the year

ended 31 December 2021 and up to the Latest Practicable Date are set out
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below: PORNE
Name Position in the Company

] R AR B

Directors

=

Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
ITERLE WITEE FFSLFENITHRER

Ms. Yang Tao Executive Director and Vice President
BRR L BITEENEIRR

Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President
BBt BITEENEIRR

Mr. Si De Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer and President of China Business
RIS BITEE  BREELENPEHRERER
Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director

EELL FMITES

Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director

B HE FEMITES

Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent Non-executive Director
SRR STE BUIEHRITES

Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent Non-executive Director
REEESEE BIFNITES

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary Independent Non-executive Director
BEYREE BIFMITES

Senior management
EREERE

Mr. Wang Ning
ITERLE

Mr. Yang Jingbing
B8Rk E

Mr. Si De
RERAE

Ms. Yang Tao
BRRL

Ms. Liu Ran
2Bt

Mr. Moon Duk Il
MBSt

Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
WITESR  EF2FFRITHEAH

Chief Financial Officer

BREMBE

Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer and President of China Business
HITESR  BRELSENPEEEBEN

Executive Director and Vice President

BITER REIRE

Executive Director and Vice President

BITEE REIRE

Vice President and President of Overseas Business

BIEE N BINETS R,
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To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors and senior management do not

have any relationship amongst them.

In accordance with article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Wang Ning,
Ms. Yang Tao and Mr. Si De will retire by rotation, and being eligible, have

offered themselves for re-election as Directors at the AGM.

None of the retiring Directors has an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than under normal statutory

obligations.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on

pages 31 to 37 of this annual report.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company under which they agreed to act as executive Directors for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either

the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company under which they agreed to act as non-executive Directors
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than one month's notice in writing served by

either the non-executive Directors or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment
letter with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than one month’s notice
in writing served by either the independent non-executive Director or the

Company.

The appointment of Directors is subject to the provisions of retirement and

rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.
None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service agreement which

is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent during the year ended 31 December

2021 and remain so as of the Latest Practicable Date.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
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Approximate

Total number

percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Shares held™ Company (%)™
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Jig=d 7 AN T RAE
EEnR B RRME HEROAHD BAE D (%)™
Mr. Wang Ning Beneficiary and founder of a trust; and Interest of 674,967,207 (L) 48.15%
FEEAE controlled corporation® ®
ERENREARBIPA - R EEERD
Ms. Yang Tao Interest of spouse &@ 674,967,207 (L) 48.15%
Rt Al me @
Mr. Si De Founder of a discretionary trust © 10,933,075 (L) 0.78%
AlfER At BBEFERIIEAC
Mr. Tu Zheng Interest of controlled corporation © 32,910,000 (L) 2.35%
BEFsT e HEEE RO
Mr. He Yu Interest of controlled corporation ") 2,088,310 (L) 0.15%
I BEE RPEE R
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Notes:

Q)

POP MART

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had issued 1,401,937,550 Shares in total.
The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.I) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 571,981,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the
sole shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the
30,082,220 Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under
the SFO.

Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited is a company with limited liability incorporated
under the laws of BVI and holds 72,903,027 Shares in our Company. Mr. Wang
Ning and Ms. Yang Tao holds 41.99% and 17.81% of the issued share capital of Pop
Mart Hehuo Holding Limited respectively. Both Mr. Wang Ning and Ms. Yang Tao
are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other due to their spousal
relationship and are therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited.

Ms. Yang Tao is the spouse of Mr. Wang Ning. By virtue of the SFO. Ms. Yang Tao is
deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Mr. Wang Ning.

Sidsi Holding Limited is an investment holding company incorporated under the
laws of BVI and wholly-owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee of XM Family Trust
set up by Mr. Si (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Si De.

Borchid Phoenix Holding Limited is wholly owned by Shanghai Zhuniao Enterprise
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership), which is 99.9% and 0.1% owned
by Suzhou Borchid Jichu Venture Capital Partnership (Limited Partnership) and
Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership)
respectively. Suzhou Borchid Jichu Venture Capital Partnertship (Limited
Partnership) is owned as to 1% by Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise Management
Partnertship (Limited Partnership), while Zhoushan Borchid Lizhi Enterprise
Management Partnertship (Limited Partnership) is owned as to 69% by Mr. Tu
Zheng. Mr. Tu Zheng is therefore deemed to be interested in the 32,910,000
shares in the Company held by Borchid Phoenix Holding Limited by virtue of the
SFO.

BA Capital Fund Ill, L.P. is held as to 3% by BA Capital Limited, which is indirectly
owned as to 51% by Mr. He Yu. Mr. He Yu is therefore deemed to be interested in
the 2,088,310 shares of the Company held by BA Capital Limited by virtue of the
SFO.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors of
the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2021, to the best knowledge of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company, the following persons (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
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Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Shares held™ Company (%)
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest RS ER NG
BRME BB B REHHE HEROEAHD BAE D (%)™
UBS Trustees (B.V.1) Limited Trustee® 571,981,960 (L) 40.80%
UBS Trustees (B.V.I) Limited EIEAQ
GWF Holding Limited Beneficial owner®? 571,981,960 (L) 40.80%
GWF Holding Limited EmEBA?
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited Beneficial owner® 72,903,027 (L) 5.20%
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited EnEAaAY
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Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2021, the Company had issued 1,401,937,550 Shares in total.
The letter "L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares.

(2)  GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 571,981,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the
sole shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the
30,082,220 Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under
the SFO.

(3)  Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited is a company with limited liability incorporated
under the laws of BVI and holds 72,903,027 Shares in our Company. Mr. Wang
Ning and Ms. Yang Tao holds 41.99% and 17.81% of the issued share capital of Pop
Mart Hehuo Holding Limited respectively. Both Mr. Wang Ning and Ms. Yang Tao
are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other due to their spousal
relationship and are therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company had not been
notified by any other persons (other than the Directors of the Company) who
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were required to be entered in the register required to

be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year,
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that
would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the

Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, no issuance of debentures was

made by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors, their associates or the
controlling shareholders had any interests in any business which competes
or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

The Group entered into a series of Contractual Arrangements which would
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Background

The Company is prohibited from directly owning any equity interest in Paqu
Huyu. Therefore, in order for our Group to effectively control and enjoy the
entire economic benefit of Paqu Huyu, a series of Contractual Arrangements
have been entered into among Beijing Pop Mart, Paqu Huyu, and the
Relevant Shareholders. The Contractual Arrangements enable us to (i) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Paqu Huyu in consideration for
the services provided by Beijing Pop Mart to Paqu Huyu; (i) exercise effective
control over Paqu Huyu; and (iii) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in Paqu Huyu when and to the extent permitted
by PRC law.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from Paqu Huyu to our Group stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements

after completion of the Reorganization:

Relevant
Beijing Pop Mart  |¢---------
eying Pop Ma < Shareholders @
A
w Lo 100%
v v
Paqu Huyu

“ 7 denotes legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest

“......70 denotes the Contractual Arrangements

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEgREE

ESRERRRREFRBHE

m

BEEEFHN  BHE2021E 12318 ILEE
BF  FENBE AL REENT A E
NEBEKEEIBERIAVERINES
A (AR o

BEBERS

BT

AEBRIRE ETRANE 4AEBRIERR R HF
BREZ SN —RINEGHRYE -

=1

plil

A=
RRARNSEERBEBELRAEMRAE -
bt REAEEEREFRFARBEREH
BEME - bFOBBIBE - B E R AKX
RERIN—RINEHNRYE - BHTHHER I8
M) ESRBERNBAMDLENE - 1ERIL
FORABFRERTRIEHRRENRE (Y
EBERITEERESE  R>NVEFBREEAR
BT REEAFFHSEE AR A B EER
BRSO BENBRBERE -

TIBLEERFAARTREERR  REEHL
PEFTET AR A AE B B AR AN SR B RO LB A s )

B R{URIEHTE S ARBR R ®

4

w it 100%

it 5

SR RO R I T S R i T A
Ll AREHIEE

—Z=— 53 ANNUALREPORT 2021 § POP MART

51



52

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
ExgRESE

(1) Beijing Pop Mart provides software development and other technical consultation
services in exchange for service fees from Paqu Huyu.

(2)  The Relevant Shareholders executed an exclusive option agreement in favour
of Beijing Pop Mart, for the acquisition of 100% of the equity interests and/or
assets in Paqu Huyu. The Relevant Shareholders pledged as first charge all of their

respective equity interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security

for any or all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance
of their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement and
Powers of Attorney. The Relevant Shareholders executed the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement and Powers of Attorney in favour of Beijing Pop Mart.

(3)  Mr. Wang Ning holds 91.56% of the shares of Paqu Huyu. 27 other shareholders
hold an aggregate of 8.44% of the shares of Paqu Huyu, including Mr. Song Quan
(0.31%), Mr. Wu Zhongfu (0.31%), Mr. Zhao Jianyi (0.31%), Ms. Zhou Lixia (0.31%),
Mr. Xiao Yang (0.31%), Mr. Mai Gang (0.31%), Mr. Yang Jingbing (0.31%), Ms. Li
Shuangshuang (0.31%), Mr. Wang Pei (0.31%), Ms. Yu Chunxiao (0.31%), Mr. Chen
Hua (0.31%), Ms. Yang Guifang (0.31%), Ms. Ma Honghong (0.31%), Mr. Yin Wei
(0.31%), Mr. Si De (0.31%), Ms. Yang Tao (0.31%), Mr. Zhou Lifeng (0.31%), Mr.
Cheng Fu (0.31%), Mr. Zhang Chao (0.31%), Mr. Wu Yi (0.31%), Mr. Xing Zongyu
(0.31%), Mr. Yang Jigan (0.31%), Ms. Yu Jing (0.31%), Mr. Hu Jian (0.31%), Mr. Cai
Xiaodong (0.31%), Mr. Xuan Yilang (0.31%) and Ms. Liu Ran (0.31%). Mr. Wang
Ning and the 27 other shareholders are collectively referred to as the “Relevant
Shareholders".

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
Exclusive Option Agreement

Pagu Huyu and its Relevant Shareholders entered into an exclusive option
agreement with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 upon completion
of the Reorganization (collectively, the “Exclusive Option Agreement”),
pursuant to which Beijing Pop Mart (or a third party designated by it, the
“designee”) will be granted an irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right
to purchase 100% of the equity interest in and/or assets of Paqu Huyu for a
nominal price, unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws
request that another amount be used as the purchase price, in which case
the purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Relevant Shareholders shall return any
amount of purchase price they have received to Paqu Huyu. At Beijing Pop
Mart's request, the Relevant Shareholders and/or Paqu Huyu will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective equity interests in and/or the
relevant assets of Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart (or its designee) after Beijing
Pop Mart exercises its purchase right. The Exclusive Option Agreement is
for an initial term of 10 years. The Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu
shall agree to an extension of the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement
if Beijing Pop Mart requests for extension before the expiry, and shall sign a
new Exclusive Option Agreement or continue the obligations of the Exclusive

Option Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.
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Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement

Paqu Huyu entered into an Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 (the "Exclusive Consultation
and Service Agreement’), pursuant to which Paqu Huyu will agree to
engage Beijing Pop Mart as its exclusive provider of software development
and promotion, technical support, business cooperation consultation, market
consultancy, customer management consultancy, public relations and
human resources consultancy, market research, setting market development
plans and other relevant consultation and services required by Paqu Huyu,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, Beijing Pop Mart
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, which will be wired to
the designated account of Beijing Pop Mart upon issuance of payment

notification by Beijing Pop Mart.

Unless terminated by Beijing Pop Mart prior to the expiry of the Exclusive
Consultation and Service Agreement, it is for an initial term of 10 years and
may be extended by Beijing Pop Mart for a term determined by Beijing Pop
Mart, and shall sign a new Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
or continue the obligations of the Exclusive Consultation and Service

Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.

Share Pledge Agreement

Pagu Huyu, the Relevant Shareholders and Beijing Pop Mart entered into
a share pledge agreement on 18 December 2019 (collectively, the “Share
Pledge Agreement’). Under the Share Pledge Agreement, the Relevant
Shareholders will pledge as first charge all of their respective equity
interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security for any or
all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance of
their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement.
Beijing Pop Mart is entitled to implement the pledge under the Share Pledge
Agreement if the above default is not successfully resolved to Beijing Pop
Mart's satisfaction within 10 days upon the written demand. The pledges
under the Share Pledge Agreement have been duly registered with the

relevant PRC legal authority pursuant to PRC laws and regulations.
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Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

A Voting Rights Proxy Agreement has been entered into between the
Relevant Shareholders, Beijing Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu on 18 December
2019, whereby the Relevant Shareholders will irrevocably, unconditionally
and exclusively appoint Beijing Pop Mart or a designated person as their
exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning
Pagu Huyu and to exercise all of their rights as a registered shareholder of
Pagu Huyu. As a result of the Powers of Attorney, we, through Beijing Pop
Mart, is able to exercise management control over the activities that most
significantly impact the economic performance of Paqu Huyu. The Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement also provided that, in order to avoid potential
conflicts of interest, where the Relevant Shareholders are officers or directors
of our Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favor of other unrelated

officers or the Directors of our Group.

The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon 30 days of written
notice given by Beijing Pop Mart once Beijing Pop Mart has exercised its right
to purchase all equity interest or assets of Paqu Huyu under the Exclusive
Options Agreement. Paqu Huyu has no right to unilaterally terminate the
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement unless provided by law. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon expiry, unless extended based on
relevant provisions of the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate prior to expiry only when Beijing Pop Mart
has committed gross negligence, fraud, other illegal activities, declares
bankrupt or enters into liquidation. Shall Beijing Pop Mart declare bankrupt
or enters into liquidation prior to the expiry of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement, the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate automatically.
Despite the provisions mentioned, Beijing Pop Mart has the power to
terminate the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement at any time given 30 days of

written notice to the Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu.
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Spouse Undertakings

Each of the spouses of the Relevant Shareholders executed an irrevocable
undertaking on 18 December 2019, whereby he/she expressly and irrevocably
acknowledged and undertook that (i) any equity interests held by his/her
spouse as a registered shareholder in Paqu Huyu do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) he/she will not take any measures that are
in conflict with the Contractual Arrangements; and (iii) he/she had never
participated and will not participate in the operation or management of Paqu

Huyu.

Business Activities of Paqu Huyu and Significance to the Group

Our growth could be attributed to our dedication to promoting pop toy
culture and have attracted a premium and passionate fan base. We have
membership program to build our fan community, enhance its loyalty, and
incentivize repeat purchases through a variety of membership benefits.
Through our membership program, we are also able to communicate with
our fans in a frequent, efficient and real time manner. We are exploring new
and fun ways to develop a comprehensive community with our fans and our
online community, including online culture services and internet information
services. In order to expand, we launched Paqu Huyu whose principal
business activities are to conduct online culture services and internet
information services to our fans and community (collectively, the “Relevant

Businesses”).
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Reasons for Adoption of the Contractual Arrangements

The Relevant Businesses of Paqu Huyu are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in accordance with relevant PRC laws and regulations. Paqu
Huyu currently holds an ICP License and an ICB License, which are required
for the operation of the Relevant Businesses. After consultation with our
PRC Legal Advisor, we determined that it was not viable for our Group to
directly hold any equity ownership in Paqu Huyu. Instead, we decided that,
in line with common practice in industries in the PRC subject to foreign
investment restrictions, we would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated by Paqu
Huyu through the Contractual Arrangements between Beijing Pop Mart, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company established in the PRC, on the one

hand, and Paqu Huyu and the Relevant Shareholders, on the other hand.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the
structure for operating our businesses in China do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to severe
consequences, including the nullification of contractual arrangements

and the relinquishment of our interest in Paqu Huyu.

Our contractual arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Paqu Huyu or its Relevant
Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under our contractual

arrangements.
We may lose the ability to use assets held by Paqu Huyu that are
material to our business operations if Paqu Huyu declare bankruptcy or

become subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The Relevant Shareholders of Paqu Huyu may have conflicts of interest

with us, which may materially and adversely affect our business.
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If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of
Paqu Huyu the ownership or asset transfer may subject us to certain

limitations and substantial costs.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and
implementation of the Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact
the viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance

and business operations.

Our contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC
tax authorities, and a finding that we owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce our consolidated net income and the value of your

investment.

For further details of these risks, please refer to the section headed "Risk
Factors — Risks Related to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the Prospectus

of our company.

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of our Group with the implementation of the Contractual

Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual Arrangements:

major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for

review and discussion as and when they arise;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with

the Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

our Company will disclose the overall performance of and compliance

with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual reports; and

our Company will engage external legal advisers or other professional
advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Beijing
Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu to deal with specific issues or matters arising

from the Contractual Arrangements.
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Material Changes

As of the Latest Practicable Date, there were no material changes in the
Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which the

Contractual Arrangements were adopted.

Unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

As of the Latest Practicable Date, there has not been any unwinding of any
Contractual Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the adoption of

the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

Confirmations

Our Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) no transaction has been carried out
during period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2021 which have
not been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Contractual Arrangements; (i) no dividends or other distributions have been
made by Paqu Huyu to the Relevant Shareholders which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group; (i) no new contract has
been entered into, renewed or reproduced between our Group and Paqu
Huyu during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2021 and (iv)
the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of our Group, and are on normal commercial terms
and are fair and reasonable so far as our Group is concerned, and in the

interest of our Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

No service fee was paid by Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart pursuant to
the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2021. The revenue and net profit of Paqu Huyu subject to the
Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB1.5 million and
RMBO0.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2021, respectively. The
total assets and total liabilities of Paqu Huyu subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB1.7 million and RMBO0.7

million as at 31 December 2021, respectively.

The Auditor of the Company confirmed that based on the foregoing, in
respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions relating to the
Contractual Arrangements, noting has come to attention that cause them
to believe there was any dividends or other distributions had been made
by Paqu Huyu to the Relevant Shareholders which were not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5

A2

BERBRERATTESR  a0%HR/ $HA
BHRENBEAMEEAES -

FREBRE T HE

BERREBRAITAS  SEELES DR
BEREEBIRAENORFNRHIBBEROE
T REEBRBRER ALY -

BARTEECDERESHNLTHLERNMES
EMABE2021F12 A31 HEF#ETHRZ SR
BIRBE DL HREGRRETL ¢ (iHEBE R
AR EEL EE R A AR MT X IEE K
EBETASENRSLEMDIK : (VB WA
HZE 2021512 A31 HEfE - AEEEBHE R
2SN - BEERBERINEHRIVEDR
IR AEE R R ESEBBRERIE—RE
EEFRETY - pAREMEBATAE - B
BANE] RERBHEERE

HZE2021F12A31 A IEFE - REBEBRA AN
BR75 W ek - AR B4R 30 4% (A 4 FURR IS 5 2+
k%% - RIBGLLZH - BE2021F12H31H
IEFEa B IR A W KA 5 B A B AR
1SEETRARBIIAE T - BEAOLH
HE221F1N2A3ALFEERBERNEERE
kB ESRNABARBI 7EELRARKOY
HETT -

RRBZBENRER - ARIBE L - AR
BN ERERERERSME  LEER
EMEESHRERREBERE MHBEBRRE
HEBRRAUEMDAERRBETAREDN
BB HEMDIK



CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 2 June 2021, Beijing Pop Mart as one of the limited partners entered into
the Limited Partnership Agreement for Shanghai Fenggiao Qinghong Asset
Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (the “Fengqgiao Partnership
Agreement’) with other limited partners and Zhoushan Fenggiao Lixin
Enterprise Management Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Zhoushan
Fenggqiao Lixin") (as the general partner) in respect of participation in an
investment fund, pursuant to which, the capital contribution by Beijing Pop
Mart amounted to RMB50.00 million, representing approximately 10.3125% of
the total capital contribution to the Fund. Mr. Tu Zheng, as a non-executive
director of the Company, is a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and he also controls over 30% of interests
in Zhoushan Fenggiao Lixin. Therefore, Zhoushan Fenggiao Lixin is deemed
to be an associate of Mr. Tu Zheng. Under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
the transaction contemplated under the Fenggiao Partnership Agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. As the applicable
percentage ratio (as defined in Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) exceeds
0.1% but is less than 5%, it is subject to the reporting and announcement
requirements but exempt from the circular and the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
For more details, please refer to announcements of the Company dated 2
June 2021 and 25 June 2021.

On September 23, 2021, Beijing Pop Mart as one of the limited partners
entered into the Suzhou Heiyi No. 3 Equity Investment Partnership (Limited
Partnership) partnership agreement (the “Heiyi Partnership Agreement”)
with other limited partners and Gonggingcheng Yiyuan Investment
Partnership (Limited Partnership) (“Gonggingcheng Yiyuan®’) as general
partner in respect of the participation in an investment fund, pursuant to
which, the capital contribution by Beijing Pop Mart amounted to RMB50.00
million, representing approximately 6.25% of the total capital contribution
to the Fund. Mr. He Yu, as a non-executive director of the Company, is a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules,
and he also controls over 30% of interests in Gonggingcheng Yiyuan and
Pingxiang Yiyuan Enterprise Management Advisory Partnership (Limited
Partnership) (another limited partner to the Heiyi Partnership Agreement,
‘Pingxiang Yiyuan"). Therefore, Gonggingcheng Yiyuan and Pingxiang
Yiyuan are associates of Mr. He. Under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
transaction contemplated under the Heiyi Partnership Agreement constitutes
a connected transaction of the Company. As the applicable percentage
ratio exceeds 0.1% but is less than 5%, it is subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements but exempt from the independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
For more details, please refer to announcements of the Company dated 23
September 2021.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal course of
business are set out in Note 37 to the consolidated financial statements.
Save as disclosed above, none of these related party transactions constitutes
a non-exempt connected transaction or continuing connected transaction
as defined under the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the

disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this report, no Director or an entity connected with
a Director was materially interested, either directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract which is significance in relation to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during the year ended 31 December
2021 or at the end of the year ended 31 December 2021.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company, or
one of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its

subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2021 between the Company
and a person other than a Director or any person engaged in the full-time

employment of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its associated

companies during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Except for such insurances, at no time during the year and up to the Latest
Practicable Date, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being
in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the Company or associated

companies.

STAFF, EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS'’
REMUNERATION

The Company offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors.
The packages were set by benchmarking with companies in similar industries,
companies with similar size in the market, volume and complexity of work.
Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the

Group.

The remuneration payable to our employees includes salaries, bonuses and
employee benefit plans contributions. The salaries of our employees are
generally determined by the employees’ respective position, qualification,
experience and performance. The bonuses are calculated based on our
employees’ respective position, duration of services and performance of
our employees. In order to attract and retain our employees, we assess
the remuneration package offered to our employees on an annual basis to
determine whether any adjustment to the basic salaries and bonus should be

made.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to
time. During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no forfeiture of
contributions under the defined contribution plans of the Group, and there
were no forfeited contributions had been used by the Group to reduce the

existing level of contributions.
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We provide training programs for all of our employees to enhance our
employees’ knowledge, skills and capability relevant to our business. All of
our new hires will be provided with an induction program to familiarize with
the Group, followed by on-the-job training based on departmental needs
and the development strategies of the Group. We also provide promotion
opportunities for capable employees as we have policies and procedures

setting out the assessment criteria for promotion.

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group's policy
and structure for all Directors and senior management remuneration and
on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing

remuneration policy.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2021 are set out in note 34 and note 40 to
the consolidated financial statements. During the Reporting Period, there
were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors or the five
highest paid individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group,

or as compensation for loss of office.
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The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band: EASREREAEMSSHRATERMES
Year ended Year ended
31 December 2021 31 December 2020
(Number of Senior (Number of Senior
Management) Management)
BZ20215 HE2020%F
12A31BLLFEE 12A31HIEEE
(SREEBAR) (EHREEBAR)

Emolument bands (in HKD) i< g E (LABTED)

HKDO to HKD1,000,000 078 7L 1,000,00078 7T 4
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001 7L 21,500,000 7T 4 2
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7L 2 2,000,000 7T - -
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POST-IPO SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme on
24 July 2020 (the “Adoption Date’). The Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is

not a share option scheme and is not subject to the provisions of Chapter

17 of the Listing Rules. Our Company appointed Trident Trust Company (HK)

Limited as the trustee of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme to administer the

Post-IPO Share Award Scheme with respect to the grant of any award by the

Board (an "Award") which may vest in the form of Shares ("Award Shares")

or the actual selling price of the Award Shares in cash in accordance with the

Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. As at December 31, 2021, the remaining life of

the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme was approximately eight years and eight

months.

(a)

Eligible Persons to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

Any individual, being an employee, director (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors), officer, consultant, advisor, distributor, contractor, customer,
supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture business partner or
service provider of any member of the Group or any affiliate (an “Eligible
Person” and, collectively “Eligible Persons’) who the Board or its
delegate(s) considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will
contribute to the Group is eligible to receive an Award. However, no
individual who is resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or
vesting of an Award pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is
not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place or where,
in the view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or expedient to
exclude such individual, shall be entitled to participate in the Post-IPO

Share Award Scheme.

Purpose of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is to align the
interests of Eligible Persons’ with those of our Group through ownership
of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the
increase in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain Eligible
Persons to make contributions to the long-term growth and profits of

our Group.
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(o)

POP MART

Awards

An Award gives a selected participant a conditional right, when the
Award Shares vest, to obtain the Award Shares or, if in the absolute
discretion of the Board or its delegate(s), it is not practicable for the
selected participant to receive the Award in Shares, the cash equivalent
from the sale of the Award Shares. An Award includes all cash income
from dividends in respect of those Shares from the date the Award is
granted (the “Grant Date’) to the date the Award vests (the “Vesting
Date”). For the avoidance of doubt, the Board at its discretion may
from time to time determine that any dividends declared and paid by
our Company in relation to the Award Shares be paid to the selected

participant even though the Award Shares have not yet vested.

Grant of Award
(i) Making the Grant

The Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to which
the Board has delegated its authority may, from time to time, at
their absolute discretion, grant an Award to a selected participant
(in the case of the Board's delegate(s), to any selected participant
other than a Director or an officer of our Company) by way of an
award letter ("“Award Letter”). The Award Letter will specify the
Grant Date, the number of Award Shares underlying the Award, the
vesting criteria and conditions, the Vesting Date and such other

details as the Board or its delegate(s) may consider necessary.

Each grant of an Award to any Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of our Company shall be subject to the
prior approval of the independent non-executive Directors of our
Company (excluding any independent non-executive Director who
is a proposed recipient of an Award). Our Company will comply
with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules for any grant of Shares to connected persons of our Company.
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(i) Restrictions on Grants and Timing of Grants

The Board and its delegate(s) may not grant any Award Shares to

any selected participant in any of the following circumstances:

where any requisite approval from any applicable regulatory

authorities has not been granted;

where any member of our Group will be required under
applicable securities laws, rules or regulations to issue a
prospectus or other offer documents in respect of such
Award or the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, unless the Board

determines otherwise;

where such Award would result in a breach by any member
of our Group or its directors of any applicable securities laws,

rules or regulations in any jurisdiction;

where such grant of Award would result in a breach of the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Limit (as defined below) or
the minimum public float requirement as required under the
Listing Rules, or would otherwise cause our Company to issue
Shares in excess of the permitted amount in the mandate

approved by the Shareholders;

where an Award is to be satisfied by way of issue of new
Shares to the RSU Trustee, in any circumstances that cause
the total Shares issued or allotted to connected persons (as
defined under the Listing Rules) to be in excess of the amount

permitted in the mandate approved by the Shareholders;

where any Director of our Company is in possession of
unpublished inside information in relation to our Company or
where dealings by Directors of our Company are prohibited
under any code or requirement of the Listing Rules and all

applicable laws, rules or regulations, from time to time;

during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant financial year up to the
publication date of the results, unless the circumstances
are exceptional, for example, where a pressing financial
commitment has to be met, in accordance with the Listing

Rules;
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(H) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the quarterly results (if any) and the half-
year results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant quarterly or half-year period up to the publication
date of the results, unless the circumstances are exceptional,
for example, where a pressing financial commitment has to be

met, in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

(I) during any period of delay in the publication of a results

announcement.

(e) Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

POP MART

The aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant to
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (excluding Award Shares which have
been forfeited in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme)
will not exceed 10% Shares without Shareholders’ approval (the “Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme Limit") subject to an annual limited of 5%
of the total number of issued Shares at the relevant time. As at the
Latest Practicable Date, the total number of securities available for issue
under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is 9,771,491, representing

approximately 0.70% of the total issued share capital of our Company.

For any 12-month period, the aggregate number of Shares granted to
any selected participant shall not exceed 1% of the total number of the

issued Shares at the relevant time, without Shareholders" approval.

Scheme Mandate

To the extent that the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Limit is
subsequently increased by way of alteration of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme and our Company is required to issue and allot new shares
to satisfy any Awards in excess of any amount previously approved by
the Shareholders, our Company shall at a general meeting propose,
and the Shareholders shall consider and, if thought fit, pass an ordinary

resolution approving a mandate specifying:

(i) the maximum number of Shares that may be issued for this

purpose; and

(i) that the Board has the power to issue, allot, procure the transfer of
and otherwise deal with the Shares in connection with the Post-IPO

Share Award Scheme.
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The mandate will remain in effect during the period from the passing
of the ordinary resolution granting the mandate until the variation
or revocation of such mandate by an ordinary resolution of the

Shareholders in a general meeting.

Rights attached to the Award

Save that the Board at its discretion may from time to time determine
that any dividends declared and paid by our Company in relation to
the Award Shares be paid to the selected participants even though the
Award Shares have not yet vested, the selected participant only has a
contingent interest in the Award Shares underlying an Award unless
and until such Award Shares are actually transferred to the selected
participant, nor does he/she have any rights to any related income until

the Award Shares vest.

Neither the selected participant nor the RSU Trustee may exercise any

voting rights in respect of any Award Shares that have not yet vested.

Rights attached to the Shares

Any Award Shares transferred to a selected participant in respect of any
Awards will be subject to all the provisions of the Memorandum and the
Articles and will form a single class with the fully paid Shares in issue on

the relevant date.

Issue of Shares and/or transfer of funds to the RSU Trustee

Our Company shall, as soon as reasonably practicable and no later than
30 business days from the Grant Date, (i) issue and allot Shares to the
RSU Trustee under the specific mandate sought from Shareholders
during the general meeting and/or (i) transfer to the RSU Trustee the
necessary funds and instruct the RSU Trustee to acquire Shares through
on-market transactions at the prevailing market price, so as to satisfy the

Awards.
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Our Company shall not issue or allot Shares nor instruct the RSU Trustee
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the prevailing
market price, where such action (as applicable) is prohibited under the
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance or other applicable
laws from time to time. Where such a prohibition causes the prescribed
timing imposed by the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Rules or the trust
deed to be missed, such prescribed timing shall be treated as extended
until as soon as reasonably practicable after the first Business Day on

which the prohibition no longer prevents the relevant action.

Assignment of Awards

Unless express written consent is obtained from the Board or the
committee of the Board or person(s) to which the Board has delegated
its authorities, any Award Shares granted under the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme but not yet vested are personal to the selected
participants to whom they are granted and cannot be assigned or
transferred. A selected participant shall not in any way sell, transfer,
charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest in favor of any other
person over or in relation to any Award, or enter into any agreement to

do so.

Vesting of Awards

The Board or its delegate(s) may from time to time while the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Award

to be vested.

Within a reasonable time period as agreed between the RSU Trustee
and the Board from time to time prior to any Vesting Date, the Board
or its delegate(s) will send a vesting notice to the relevant selected
participant and instruct the RSU Trustee the extent to which the Award
Shares held in the trust shall be transferred and released from the trust
to the selected participant. Subject to the receipt of the vesting notice
and notification from the Board or its delegate(s), the RSU Trustee will
transfer and release the relevant Award in the manner as determined by

the Board or its delegate(s).
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If, in the absolute discretion of the Board or its delegate(s), it is not
practicable for the selected participant to receive the Award in Shares,
solely due to legal or regulatory restrictions with respect to the selected
participant’s ability to receive the Award in Shares or the RSU Trustee's
ability to give effect to any such transfer to the selected participant, the
Board or its delegate(s) will direct and procure the RSU Trustee to sell,
on-market at the prevailing market price, the number of Award Shares
so vested in respect of the selected participant and pay the selected
participant the proceeds arising from such sale based on the actual
selling price of such Award Shares in cash as set out in the vesting

notice.

If there is an event of change in control of our Company by way of a
merger, a privatization of our Company by way of a scheme or by way
of an offer, the Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to
which the Board has delegated its authority shall at their sole discretion
determine whether the Vesting Dates of any Awards will be accelerated

to an earlier date.

Consolidation, subdivision, bonus issue and other distribution

In the event our Company undertakes a subdivision or consolidation
of the Shares, corresponding changes will be made to the number of
outstanding Award Shares that have been granted provided that the
adjustments shall be made in such manner as the Board determines to
be fair and reasonable in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of
the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme for the selected participants. All
fractional shares (if any) arising out of such consolidation or subdivision
in respect of the Award Shares of a selected participant shall be deemed
as returned shares and shall not be transferred to the relevant selected
participant on the relevant Vesting Date. The RSU Trustee shall hold
returned shares to be applied towards future Awards in accordance with
the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme rules for the purpose
of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

In the event of an issue of Shares by our Company credited as fully paid
to the holders of the Shares by way of capitalization of profits or reserves
(including share premium account), the Shares attributable to any Award
Shares held by the RSU Trustee shall be deemed to be an accretion
to such Award Shares and shall be held by the RSU Trustee as if they
were Award Shares purchased by the RSU Trustee hereunder and all the
provisions hereof in relation to the original Award Shares shall apply to

such additional Shares.
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In the event of any non-cash distribution or other events not referred
to above by reason of which the Board considers an adjustment to an
outstanding Award to be fair and reasonable, an adjustment shall be
made to the number of outstanding Award Shares of each selected
participant as the Board shall consider as fair and reasonable, in order
to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits
intended to be made available under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
for the selected participants. Our Company shall provide such funds, or
such directions on application of the returned shares or returned trust
funds, as may be required to enable the RSU Trustee to purchase Shares

on-market at the prevailing market price to satisfy the additional Award.

In the event of other non-cash and non-scrip distributions made by our
Company not otherwise referred to in the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
rules in respect of the Shares held upon trust, the RSU Trustee shall sell
such distribution and the net sale proceeds thereof shall be deemed as
related income of the Post-IPO Award Shares or returned trust funds of

the returned Shares held upon trust as the case may be.

(m) Cessation of employment and other events

Except as otherwise determined by the Board or the committee of the
Board or person(s) to which the Board has delegated its authority, upon
termination of employment or service with our Company during the
applicable restriction period, Awards that are at that time unvested shall
be forfeited or repurchased in accordance with the terms and provisions
of the grant letter and/or award agreement to be entered into by
such selected participant; provided, however, that the Board or the
committee of the Board or person(s) to which the Board has delegated
its authority may (a) provide in any grant letter and/or award agreement
that restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase conditions relating to the
Awards will be waived in whole or in part in the event of terminations
resulting from specified causes; and (b) in other cases waive in whole or
in part restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase conditions relating to the

Awards.

If a selected participant ceases to be an Eligible Person for reasons other
than those stated this paragraph, any outstanding Award Shares and
related income not yet vested shall be immediately forfeited, unless
the Board or its delegate(s) determines otherwise at their absolute

discretion.
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(n) Alteration of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

The Post-IPO Share Award Scheme may be altered in any respect (save

for the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Limit) by a resolution of the Board

provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect adversely any

subsisting rights of any selected participant unless otherwise provided

for in the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, except:

(i) with the consent in writing of selected participants amounting to
three-fourths in nominal value of all Award Shares held by the RSU
Trustee on that date; or

(i) with the sanction of a special resolution that is passed at a meeting
of the selected participants amounting to three-fourths in nominal
value of all Award Shares held by the RSU Trustee on that date.

Termination

The Post-IPO Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of:

0]

(if)

the end of the period of ten years commencing on the Listing
Date except in respect of any non-vested Award Shares granted
hereunder prior to the expiration of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme, for the purpose of giving effect to the vesting of such
Award Shares or otherwise as may be required in accordance with

the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme; and

(such date of early termination as determined by the Board
provided that such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights
of any selected participant under the rules of the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme, provided further that for the avoidance of doubt,
the change in the subsisting rights of a selected participant in this
paragraph refers solely to any change in the rights in respect of the

Award Shares already granted to a selected participant.
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Administration of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

The Board has the power to administer the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme in accordance with the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme and, where applicable, the trust deed, including the power to
construe and interpret the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
and the terms of the Awards granted under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme. The Board may delegate the authority to administer the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme to a committee of the Board or other person(s)
as deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board. The Board or
its delegate(s) may also appoint one or more independent third party
contractors to assist in the administration of the Post-IPO Share Award

Scheme as they think fit.

Grant of Shares under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

An application has been submitted to the Listing Committee for the
listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares which may be issued

pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the details of the changes in
the Award Shares granted under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme are

set out below:

(p)

EEERXNMABERRDERTE

EXEREBRERAHAEERKRN R
AEMBRAIREERE (ER) EEER
NFEBRERENRBFE  BEEELR
BERAFBERE D ERF 80 R A
RiRBERARBEER KN ZBE RN
WERBNER 2D - BEER A 2 RBIERK
EERBAERAFEERRN BB S WESD
BRTERZESAHEHRR/AENEMA
T EFGAEHRRTAZERIRR/A
B —E2REERBLE =TT AEHBEE
EHRARBERRDERE -

REBEBEX A AHRERRORBER
R A7
ARBEMETZEERHBREENAH
BERBRMDEET B ATRERITHRNG LT
REZE2021F 12831 B ILFEHM - 18
RARBEERRMOERFEIEH Z BRI
DEEESFBHIIT

Granted and

Granted and pending
pending vesting as of
Number of vesting as of 31 December
Relevant Award Shares 1 January 2021 Forfeited 2021
Recipient  Granted EZ2021F  Vested during during the HE20215E
HERE RERD Grant date Vesting period 1A1HERE the period period  12A31AE
H5 RH#E R4 A HERE BERBE BREEE BAERE RHBREE
Employees 2,683,326 4 January 2021 Vesting by batches within 0 750,740 57,458 1,875,128
EE 20211848 four years of the grant date
R B HRIFAD
HREE
121,463 4 January 2021 4 January 2021 0 121,463 0 0
20211848 202161 A48
104,925 31 March 2021 Vesting by batches within 0 58,573 1,587 44,765
2021938318 300 days of the grant date
Kt R E%3008 ADH
REE
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EEaREE
Granted and
Granted and pending
pending vesting as of
Number of vesting as of 31 December
Relevant Award Shares 1 January 2021 Forfeited 2021
Recipient  Granted B Z2021%F  Vested during during the BZ20215
HEERE RLEBR Grant date Vesting period 1A1HEEHY the period period 128318E
H5 RHEE R4S BROE BERBE BREEE Baekk RHUHAGHR
721,290 1 April 2021 Vesting by batches within 0 0 0 721,290
2021F4R1H four years of the grant
REBBRIFENSD
N
9,635 1 April 2021 T April 2021 0 9,635 0 0
201F4H18 2021F4A1H
763,258 1 June 2021 Vesting by batches within 0 0 21,740 741518
202156 A1H four years of the grant
REBBRIFENSD
N
13418 2 July 2021 2 July 2021 0 13,418 0 0
201F7H28 20217 H2H
160,752 2 July 2021 Vesting by batches within 0 0 65,883 94,869
20217 A2H four years of the grant
REBBRIFEANS
HREE
24,533 4 October 2021 4 October 2021 0 24,533 0 0
2021F10H48 202110 H4H
348,058 4 October 2021 Vesting by batches within 0 0 0 348,058
202110848 four years of the grant
REBBRIFANSD
N
Goods or 184,409 29 March 2021 15 June 2021 0 184,409 0 0
service 2021F3H298 20216 A15H
providers
Ems R H
5,135,067 0 1,162,771 146,668 3,825,628
Note: sk -
In relation to the fair value of the Award Shares granted under the Post-IPO Share BB ERAFAEEERRMDEEF IR L 2 26
Award Scheme, please refer to note 28 to the consolidated financial statements. BDEAFE  FRHEGE BRI 28 -
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Company at any time during or subsisted at the end of
the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021

amounted to RMB10.9 million.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities has purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company'’s listed securities.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange on 11 December 2020 by way of global offering, raised total net
proceeds of approximately HK$5,781.7 million (the "“Net Proceeds”) from the
global offering (including the full exercise of the over-allotment option) after
deducting professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related

listing expenses.

As stated in the Prospectus, the intended uses of the IPO proceeds are set

out below:

POP MART
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Amount of Balance of
Net Proceeds Net Proceeds
utilizedupto  unutilizedasat Intended
31 December 31 December  timetable for
Percentage of 2021 2021  use of the
total BEZ2021%F R2021F  unutilized
Allocation of  Net proceeds 12A31H 12A31H  Net Proceeds
Intended use of Net Proceeds fhia EELELY HABR BAKHA
Net Proceeds FriesE FBHE FBNE FERE  FMENERE
FEREFERERZ BENSR  BEESL FHEeE RESE NHETRER
(i) Tofinance part of our expansion plans of consumer HK$1,734.5 million 30.0%  HKS$7358 million  HK$998.7 million  Before
access channels and overseas markets 17345BEBT 7358EEET 9987BEEITL 31 December 2024
AR RBRMNEEEEERE BN TS ER B 20245128318
DRk Z Bl
(@) for opening new retail stores HK$954.0 million 165%  HK$603.4 million  HKS$350.6 million
ARARNTER 9540 B BB C034EEAT  3506AEAET
(b) for opening new roboshops HK$346.9 million 6.0%  HKS98.7 million  HK$248.2 million
RRFRI SR ABE 3469BBBTT WBIBBRET  82EEET
() for expanding our business into overseas markets HK$433.6 million 75%  HK$33.7 million  HKS$399.9 million
AR EREBEEINTS $336EBBT BIEBAT  399EEAET
(i)~ Tofund our potential investments in, acquisitions of and ~ HK$1,561.1 million 270%  HKS$262.0 million  HK$1,299.1 million  Before
strategic alliance with companies along the value chain 1561 1 EEBT 20EEBET 12991 BEE T 31 December 2024
of our industry 20245124318
BRBEERE  WHBAGLEERL THADRE S5
HZERRRY BB E
(i) -~ Toinvest in technology initiatives to strengthen our HK$867.2 million 150%  HK$139.8 million  HKS$727.4 million
marketing and fan engagement efforts, and to enhance 8672 EEBTT 1308EEET 77ABEET
the digitalization of our business
ARRARINERE  WEREMNEHLBH2E)
ERRAEBREFEE
(@) fortalent recruitment HK$173.5 million 30%  HKS19.5 million  HKS154.0 million  Before
BRAT % 1735EEAT 195SEBET  1540E8 31 December 2023
203%12A31R
ZHl
(b) for acquiring relevant software and hardware to HK$346.9 million 6.0% HK$28.3 million  HK$318.6 million  Before
enhance digitalization and establish information U6IOBEET BIFEBT 3186EEETT 31 December 2024

systems for digital marketing, customer services,
logistics, products, supply chain, warehousing,
membership, transactions and store management
and marketing

ARBERBERI REFANER T - YET
RARBFEH TPRE R Em - fUE
# B 88 RHURPIEERREHNE
BEH
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Amount of Balance of
Net Proceeds Net Proceeds
utilizedupto  unutilizedasat Intended
31 December 31 December  timetable for
Percentage of 2021 2021  use of the
total BEZ2021%F R2021F  unutilized
Allocation of  Net proceeds 12A31H 12A31H  Net Proceeds
Intended use of Net Proceeds fhia EELELY HABR BAKHA
Net Proceeds FriesE FBHE FBNE FERE  FMENERE
FEREFERERZ FENIE  FEBESL FHEeE RESE NHETRER
() for optimizing our online marketing efforts, HK$346.8 million 6.0%  HKS92.0 million  HK$254.8 million  Before
which primarily consist of strategically placed UGS EEETT NOFBEET 2548FEHTT 31 December 2024
advertisement, icons, links and news feeds on third 2024128318
party promotional platforms bl
ARBRMNE L EHIE T 2RE R
WEE=FHRETE LRNES B #5R
(EF8i:37s
(iv)  To expand our IP pool HK$1,040.7 million 180%  HK$68.3 million  HKS972.4 million
FIREARMEIPE 10407 BBET 6BIRRAEL  IN4AREL
(@) for enhancing our ability to identify outstanding HK$260.3 million 45%  HKS383 million  HKS$222.0 million  Before
artists W03BEBTT 383BEEAT  2020ESHB; 31 December 2024
ARMERMNEEFEMRNEED 2024128318
2Bl
(b) for recruiting talented designers to join our in-house HK$86.6 million 15%  HKS$30.0 million HKS$56.6 million  Before
design team to enhance our in-house original IP 866 HEETT 00FEET se6FHEHT 31 December 2023
development capability by providing competitive 2023%F 128318
salary bl
ARNRREABRENNFENIALERTE
R R A PRI ED R B - DAsE SR Tk
HRBREIPERE S
() foracquisitions of popular IPs from to expand our IP HK$693.8 million 12.0% —  HKS$639.8 million  Before
pool 6938 B BB 6398FE AL 31 December 2024
FERAKBE S B P LA R F IR0 1P 2024%12A318
Z A
(v)  Working capital and general corporate purposes HK$578.2 million 10.0%  HK$578.2 million - Before

POP MART
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S782BEBTT
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The Group will utilise the Net Proceeds of the initial public offering in

accordance with the intended purposes as set out in the Prospectus.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 78 to

97 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company, together with the management and
the external auditor, had reviewed the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Group as well as the internal control matters, and had also
reviewed the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ended 31

December 2021 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
PricewaterhouseCoopers shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for re-

appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the AGM.

Since the Listing Date, the auditors of the Company have not changed.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Ning

Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERRE

The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and

accountability.

The Company has adopted the principles and code provisions as set out in
the CG Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and complied
with the applicable code provisions during the year ended 31 December

2021, save for deviation from code provision C.2.1 as disclosed below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and to reviewing
such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply with statutory

and professional standards and align with the latest development.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’'s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and takes decisions objectively in the best interest of the

Company.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibilities for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the
Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board
has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. All Board committees are provided with

sufficient resources to perform their duties.
The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to

perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is

spending sufficient time performing them.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, consisting of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive

Directors. The current members of the Board of the Company are listed as
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follows:

Name Position in the Company ®E RAR T B

Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and FTERLE BITER EFFEFFER
Chief Executive Officer TTIRABE

Ms. Yang Tao Executive Director and Vice President BEsZt PITEERBIER

Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President 2/t BITEE RBIRE

Mr. Si De Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer and RIEIE BITEE BREZXER
President of China Business AR RS AR

Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director Bkt FEITES

Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director OVt EMITES

Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent non-executive Director RER LA B IEMITESE

Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent non-executive Director RE S E B IEITES

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary  Independent non-executive Director AR e BYUERITES

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly

identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed

“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, to the best
knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other

material relationships among members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. According to the current structure of the Board, the
positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
held by Mr. Wang Ning.
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The Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires approval by at least
a majority of the Directors and that the Board comprises three independent
non-executive Directors out of nine Directors, and the Board believes there
is sufficient check and balance on the Board; (i) Mr. Wang Ning and the
other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as
Directors, which require, among other things, that they act for the benefit
and in the best interests of the Company and will make decisions of the
Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations of
the Group. Moreover, the overall strategic and other key business, financial
and operational policies of the Group are made collectively after thorough
discussion at both the Board and senior management levels. Finally, as Mr.
Wang Ning is our principal founder, the Board believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board will
continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure
of the Group in order to assess whether separation of the roles of chairman

and chief executive officer is necessary.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Since the Listing Date to the Latest Practicable Date, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors representing at least one-
third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive

Directors are independent and remain so as of the Latest Practicable Date.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,

which are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with their respective
terms.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was engaged on a letter
of appointment for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date

and shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

All Directors will hold office subject to provision of retirement and rotation
of directors under the Articles of Association. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, at every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any person appointed
by the Board to fill a temporary vacancy on or as an addition to the Board
shall hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company, and

shall then be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to the management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group'’s operational and financial performance,
and ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in

place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance
in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate

actions and operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses for discharging their

duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by

them.

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the

management.

The Board has clearly set out the circumstances under which the
management should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company. The Board regularly reviews the above said circumstances and

ensures they remain appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal action taken against them arising
out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an

annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their

contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director's responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be
supplemented by visits to the Company's key place of business and meetings

with senior management of the Company.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-
facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading materials
on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where appropriate.
All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the

Company's expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company organized training
sessions conducted by the legal advisers for all Directors. The training
sessions covered a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, continuing connected transaction, disclosure of interests
and regulatory updates. In addition, relevant reading materials including
compliance manual/legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts have

been provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2021

are summarized as follows:

conferences and workshops

relevant to the Company’s

Attending training,

briefings, seminars,

industry and business,
director’s duties and/or

corporate governance
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Reading news alerts,
newspapers, journals,
magazines and publications
relevant to the Company’s
industry and business,
director’s duties and/or

corporate governance

BEADNRITERER BIEEAQAETERES
ESRER ALEER ESHER NLEER
BBENEN - BNE - HHE BENTERA - RE
Name of Directors EEHR EBRRIEHEESER B - BERERY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman of the Board) TELE (EEEER) \ \/
Ms. Yang Tao BaELT v v
Ms. Liu Ran gt v v
Mr. Si De AlfEkE v v
Non-executive Directors EHTES
Mr. Tu Zheng Bt v v
Mr. He Yu AIREE v v
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REELE v v
Mr. Wu Liansheng REESAE v v
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary BEYREE v \
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of which
has been delegated responsibilities and reports back to the Board. The roles
and functions of these committees are set out in their respective terms of
reference. The terms of reference of each of these committees will be revised
from time to time to ensure that they continue to meet the needs of the
Company and to ensure compliance with the CG Code where applicable. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee are posted on the Company's website and

the Stock Exchange’s website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, including two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Liansheng and Mr. Ngan King
Leung Gary and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Tu Zheng. Mr. Wu

Liansheng is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee
are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external auditors,
provide advice and comments to the Board and arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee held five
meetings, during which matters such as reviewing the annual financial results
and report for the year ended 31 December 2020, reviewing the Group's
unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2021, discussing
the audit plan for the 2021 financial year with the auditor, significant issues
on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls, effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and internal audit

function.

The Audit Committee considers that the annual financial results for the year
ended 31 December 2021 are in compliance with the relevant accounting
standards, rules and regulations and appropriate disclosures have been duly

made.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the

presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu
Liansheng and one executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Zhang

Jianjun is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, making recommendations to the Board on the Company's
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior management;
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate

in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting, during which matters such as the remuneration packages
of the Directors and senior management and other related matters were

discussed.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, including one
executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Ning and two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu Liansheng. Mr

Wang Ning is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and diversity
required of the Board annually and making recommendations on any
proposed change to the Board to complement the Company's corporate
strategy; monitoring the implementation of diversity policy for board
members, and assessing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee held
one meeting, during which matters such as structure, size and composition
of the Board, making recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of Directors, and assessing in the independence of independent non-
executive Directors were discussed. The Nomination Committee considered

an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, Directors shall be elected by
the general meeting with a term of three years and may serve consecutive
terms if re-elected. Any person appointed by the Board to fill a temporary
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next

general meeting of the Company, and shall then be eligible for re-election.

At the expiry of a Director’s term, the Director may stand for re-election and
reappointment for further term. Subject to the compliance of the provisions
of the relevant laws and administrative regulations, the general meeting of
the Shareholders may dismiss by ordinary resolution any Directors of whom
the term of office has not expired (the claim for compensation under any

contracts shall however be not affected).

The procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of directors
are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee
will identify individuals suitably qualified to become directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals. The
Nomination Committee will determine the composition of board members
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination
Committee will also make recommendations to the Board of Directors on
the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors (in particular the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the general
manager), taking into account the Company's corporate strategy and mix of

skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY AND NOMINATION
POLICY

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the basic
principles to be followed to ensure that the board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of

corporate governance.

The Board has also adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out the
nomination procedures for selecting candidates for election as Directors of
the Board of the Group. The policy is adopted by the Board and administered

by the Nomination Committee.
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Selection of board candidates shall be based on amongst others, character
and integrity, qualifications, willingness to devote adequate time and a range
of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company's business model

and specific needs.

Selection and recommendation of candidates will be based on the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the
Nomination Committee and a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge,
length of services, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates. The Company should also take into account factors relating to
its own business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will

bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Board Diversity Policy and
the Nomination Policy and the measurable objectives periodically, and as

appropriate, to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.

The Board currently consists of two female Directors and seven male Directors
with a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including but not limited to
overall management and strategic development, finance, accounting and risk
management, which has satisfied with the requirement of gender diversity

by the Stock Exchange.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Board had reviewed the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, training and continuous professional development of Directors
and senior management, the corporate governance policies and practices,
the compliance of the Model Code, and the Company’s compliance with the

CG Code and the disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company in accordance with
code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code, has adopted the practice of holding
Board meetings regularly with at least four times a year, and at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of majority of the Directors, either

in person or through electronic means of communication.

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board committee
meetings of the Company held during the year ended 31 December 2021 are

set out below:

EEEERRESNHELH

REZE2021F12 831 BIEFEHM - RIBDE
ERTRISTFANEXECS1E - AR FIDHEDRE
FELNREHAERRITESTERHR ML
AOBE—R REBEEHANBBAETR
AR A2 EEE -

REZE2021F 12831 BILFEHME  KEFHN

EECREEEEEH

==

Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)

HERCEHIINT

HREER EERY
Audit Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee General
meeting(s) Meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s)
ENERS FMESS REZES
Name of Directors BEEpE =g =] i =] REXE
Executive Directors BiTES
Mr. Wang Ning IERE 4/4 N/A 11 11 1”7
TEm
Ms. Yang Tao D)3 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TER TEm TER
Ms. Liu Ran ApLt 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TEA il TEA
Mr. Si De AlfEEE 3/4 N/A N/A N/A 1/1
TEm TER MER
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Tu Zheng B 4/4 5/5 N/A N/A 1/1
TER TEM
Mr. He Yu fAIREE 4/4 N/A N/A N/A 11
TER NiER TER
Independent non-executive BUkHTES
Directors
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REESE 4/4 N/A 1/1 1/1 1/1
TEm
Mr. Wu Liansheng REESLAE 4/4 5/5 11 11 11
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary BYREE 4/4 5/5 N/A N/A 1/1
TEMR TEM
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Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular Board meetings
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters
in the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and Board committee

meetings, reasonable notice will be generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate

and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management attends all regular Board meetings and where
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on business
developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory and regulatory

compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes of
all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each

meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have potential

or actual conflicts of interests.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company'’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and

effective risk management and internal control systems.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. Heads of departments manage

risks through identification, evaluation and mitigation of risk identified.

Risk management mainly includes four major areas: risks identification, risks

assessment, risks response and risk monitoring and reporting.

Risk identification: each business and functional department and its
subsidiaries conducts, once in a year, an identification of potential internal
and external risks in its respective operation processes. During risks
identification, references are mainly made to the impact the risks have on the
Company'’s objectives, and major problems or risk incidents in the business

activities for the past year.

Risk assessment: according to the risks assessment standards, each business
and functional department and its subsidiaries reviews the risks identified,
and assesses the possibilities of occurrence and the extents of impacts in
order to screen out the significant risks. The Group adopts a combination of
bottom-up and top-down risk assessment procedures to fully identify all of
the Group's significant risks, which are then given rankings. Significant risks
are then reported to the appropriate management level, Audit Committee
and the Board. A final list of significant risks is confirmed after thorough

communication and discussion.

Risks response: the responsible department of the identified risks formulates
a risk response plan by properly applying methods such as risk avoidance, risk
reduction, risk sharing and risk acceptance, with consideration of the Group's
level of risk tolerance. This allows the Group to properly allocate resources for
risk mitigation or improvements on risk response measures, with an aim to

reduce the overall risk of the Group to an acceptable level.
Risk monitoring and reporting: risk monitoring and reporting are carried

out by integrating the use of risk warning indicators, internal auditing and

periodic summarized risk reports.
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We endeavour to uphold the integrity of our business by maintaining an
internal control system into our organisational structure. Our internal control
and risk management systems cover, among others, corporate governance,
operations, management, legal matters, finance and auditing. Our Audit
department reviewed our internal control system and we have implemented
and will continue to implement the relevant suggestions they proposed/
propose. Our Audit department (the “internal audit and compliance
department’) performed a review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems over our major business
processes. The Company has established risk management systems with
relevant policies and procedures that we believe are appropriate for our

business operations.

The Audit Department conducted a follow-up review (the “Internal Control
Review") on, among others, control environment, risk assessment, control
activities, information and communication, monitoring activities such as
revenue cycle, procurement cycle, expenditure cycle, etc. and provided

recommendations to enhance the internal control system of our Group.

We have adopted and implemented the recommendations provided by the
Audit Department and the Audit Department has not identified any material
findings which may have material impact on the effectiveness of our internal

control system.

Based on the result of the Internal Control Review, the Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for
the year ended 31 December 2021, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting, internal audit function, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experiences, training programmes and budget of the Company's

accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangement to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee of the Company shall review such arrangement
regularly and ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up

action.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is aware of and strictly complies with the requirements of
the currently applicable laws, regulations and guidelines, including the
obligations to disclose inside information under the SFO and the Listing
Rules, and the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission, at the time when the relevant businesses
are transacted. The Group has established the authority and accountability,
as well as the handling and dissemination procedures in relation to inside
information, and has communicated to all relevant personnel and provided
them with specific trainings in respect of the implementation of the

continuous disclosure policy.

The Board considers that the Company’s handling and dissemination

procedures and measures in relation to inside information are effective.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and all
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code

during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished

inside information of the Company, are also subject to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, announcements relating to
disclosure of insider information and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the

Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to

continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out

in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities for the financial statements is set out under the section

headed “Independent Auditor's Report” in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration paid/payable
to the external auditor of the Company for the provision of audit services
for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to RMB4.5 million. The
audit services include statutory audits and reviews of the Group and certain

subsidiaries.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the remuneration paid/payable to
the external auditor of the Company in respect of non-audit services for the
year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to RMB1.75 million. The non-audit
services conducted by the external auditor mainly include tax and other

consultation services.
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Hongxuan (“Mr. Li") and Ms. Li Ching Yi ("Ms. Li") are the joint company
secretaries of the Company.

Mr. Li joined the Group in April 2019 and has been serving as a senior
manager in charge of investor relationship. Prior to that, Mr. Li served as a
senior associate of investment banking department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd.
from December 2014 to January 2019 and a senior associate of innovative
financing department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd. from February 2019 to March
2019.

Ms. Li is a manager of the Listing Corporate Services Department of Trident
Corporate Services (Asia) Ltd., a global professional services firm. She has
around 10 years of professional experience in company secretarial field. Ms.
Li is an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the
United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Ms.
Li has assisted on the Company Secretarial matters of the Company and has
closely communicated with Mr. Li, who is the primary corporate contact

person of our Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, each of Mr. Li and Ms. Li has

undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best

investment decisions.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other
general meetings. The general meetings of the Company provide a platform
for communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer Shareholders’
questions at general meetings. The external auditor of the Company is also
invited to attend the annual general meetings of the Company to answer
questions about the conduct of audit, the preparation and content of the
auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.popmart.com), where information and updates on the Company's
financial information, corporate governance practices, biographical
information of the Board and other information are available for public

access.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution should be
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the election of Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after

each general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary General
Meeting

Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association provides that general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members holding
together, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, shares representing not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carry the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The written requisition
shall be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office of the Company, specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by

the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed

to them by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant to Article 16.4
of the Articles of Association, no person shall, unless recommended by the
Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting
unless during the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and ending no later than seven days prior to
the date of such meeting, there has been given to the Secretary notice in
writing by a member of the Company (not being the person to be proposed),
entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of
his intention to propose such person for election and also notice in writing

signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Base on this, if a Shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a written
notice at the Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong at 14/F.,
Golden Centre, 188 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The notice must
(i) include the personal information of the Candidate as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) be signed by the Shareholder concerned
and signed by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected and

consent of publication of his/her personal information.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands for putting forward proposals of new resolutions
by Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move
forward a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures mentioned above. For proposing
a person for election as a Director, please refer to the procedures set out in

the preceding paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal

Or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Address:  Floor 36 & 37, Block A, Puxiang Center
Hongtai East Street

Dawangjing Technology Business Park
Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Email: ir@popmart.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders' information

may be disclosed as required by law.

Change in Constitutional Documents

The Company adopted amended and restated Articles of Association on 23
November 2020, which has been effective from the Listing Date. During the
year ended 31 December 2021, no other changes have been made to the
said Articles of Association. The Articles of Association is available on the

websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends, and
details are provided in the “Report of Directors” on pages 38 to 39 of this

annual report.
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2021 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

2021 FIRIE - tSERE

SRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Overview

The purpose of this report is to objectively disclose the environmental,
social and governance (“ESG") works and achievements made by Pop
Mart International Group Limited (the “Pop Mart” or the “Company”
or "we") and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) during 2021. For detailed
information on corporate governance, it is recommended to read this
report in conjunction with the section headed Corporate Governance

Report in the annual report.

Basis of Preparation

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) in Appendix
27 to the Listing Rules on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong

Kong Limited, and is reported based on its reporting principles.

Reporting Principles

Materiality: This report has identified our main stakeholders and their
ESG concerns in the preparation process, and the stakeholder’s opinions
are taken as an important reference for the Company’s ESG management
and work planning according to the extent of materiality of the issues

concerned.

Quantitative: This report presents the key performance indicators ("KPIs")
in the environmental and social aspects in the form of quantitative data,
accompanied by a description of the relevant criteria, methodologies,
assumptions and/or calculation tools used, as well as the source of the

conversion factors used for the KPIs.

Consistency: This report uses the same statistical method as the

Company's 2020 Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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2021 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Reporting Period

The reporting period of this report covered from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2021.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise stated, the scope of disclosure of this report shall be

the same as those covered in the annual report.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Company recognises the importance of great corporate governance
and risk management, and regards ESG issues as an important part of
corporate strategy formulation. The Board of Directors (the “Board”)
of the Company is the highest responsible and decision-making
body for ESG issues, assumes full responsibility for ESG strategies and
issues reporting, and oversees ESG-related matters that may affect
the Company’s business or operations, the rights and interests of
shareholders and other stakeholders. The Company has established an
ESG governance structure led by the Board, supervised by the president
office, and jointly participated by various functional departments, and
has continued to implement environmental, social and governance work

to ensure the integration of ESG concepts and corporate strategies.

The Company maintains extensive and in-depth communication
with various stakeholders through various channels to collect their
main concerns. The Company actively adopts constructive opinions
and suggestions and responds to key issues on a continuous basis.
According to the external social and economic environment and the
Company's development strategy, in 2021, the Board has reviewed the
evaluation results of major ESG issues, ESG risks identified and ESG goals
set, formulated the Company’s ESG management strategy, and defined

the key direction of ESG governance.

This report aims to objectively disclose the progress and achievements
of the Company's ESG works in 2021, and has been considered and
approved at the Board meeting on 28 March 2022.
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I1l. ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM

The Company always keeps in mind the brand concept of “creating
trends and delivering fineness” with a vision of “become a leading
global pop culture entertainment company”, and adheres to create a
comprehensive operating platform covering the entire industry chain of
pop toys. We proactively perform our corporate social responsibilities,
continue to explore new ways to achieve sustainable development
goals and give back to society, so as to continuously create value for

consumers, the industry and society.

ESG Governance Structure

We have established the ESG governance structure, which is led by the
Board, supervised by the president office and jointly participated by
various functional departments. As the decision-making body for ESG
works, the Board is responsible for setting the Company's overall ESG
strategies and goals, regularly reviewing ESG reports and related issues,
and guiding and supervising the management to carry out specific work.
As the ESG centralized management department, the president office
regularly organizes special ESG training, publicizes and implements ESG
concepts, and assists the Board in coordinating the implementation of
ESG strategies and goals. Each functional department, serving on the
execution level, is responsible for cooperating with the management to
implement specific ESG work to ensure the full implementation of the

Company's ESG management.

ESG Management Strategy

To fully improve the effectiveness of ESG works and improve the ESG
management system, we formulated ESG strategies around the four
dimensions of environmental protection, human resources development,
supply chain management and community investment, and effectively
integrated the concept of social responsibility into business operations

and risk management in 2021.
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Environmental protection strategy: Adhering to the commitment to
green operation and abiding by the environmental laws and regulations
where we operate, we take response to climate change, resource
management and conservation, and environmentally friendly production
processes as the three core areas of our environmental protection
strategy. We are committed to building green stores, so as to implement
the concept of green and sustainable development into every link of

production and operation.

Human resources development strategy: Adhering to our
management philosophy of “employees are our partners’, the Company
has established a comprehensive human resources management system.
We aim to protect the legitimate rights of employees, focus on the
personal development of employees, secure the occupational health and
safety of employees, provide a healthy, safe and comfortable working

environment for employees, and develop and grow with employees.

Supply chain management strategy: Incorporating supplier
management into the ESG management system, we continuously
improve supplier access and evaluation processes, improve suppliers’
ESG awareness, as well as encourage suppliers to strengthen energy
conservation and emission reduction and perform social responsibilities
to build a sustainable supply chain with our supplier partners, so as to
work together to realize our green commitment to the earth’s ecological

environment.

Community investment strategy: With a focus on aesthetic education,
we combine intellectual property rights with public welfare innovation
by providing assistance in education or living resources for remote
areas and special groups. In addition, we support the rural revitalization
strategy by empowering traditional culture through creative design
and increasing farmers’ income through consumption assistance. In
addition, we carry out various voluntary services to improve employees’

awareness of public welfare and perform social responsibilities.
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Communication with Stakeholders

The Company actively communicates with stakeholders and listens to
their demands. We communicate with stakeholders through various

channels, and take the opinions and suggestions of stakeholders as

an important reference for the Company’s ESG management and

work planning. During the year, we continued to identify and actively

respond to key issues of concern to stakeholders including government

and regulatory authorities, shareholders and investors, customers,

employees, suppliers, communities, media, as well as non-government

organizations.

Stakeholders
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Major issues of concern
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Major issues of concern

2021 FRIE - HBERERBE

Major communication channels
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Identification of Key Issues

Combining our business characteristics and communication with
stakeholders, and with the basis of the 12 disclosure aspects as
stipulated in the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide”, the Company has learned about the importance of various
ESG issues to stakeholders through the questionnaire. According to
the results of the questionnaire, we have identified employment, labor
standards and product responsibility as the most concerned issues of
stakeholders. The importance of ESG issues to stakeholders is set out in

the diagram below.
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IV.ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT

The company adheres to the concept of green development. In strict
compliance to relevant environmental protection laws and regulations,
such as the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic
of China K #EEARKEMBIRIBIREE)), the Laws of the People’s
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution
= AR EFBKFEPAE)), the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China % A R HFE
REIFRBIAED), the Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control
Law of the People’s Republic of China HZE AR LTI EEEREY5
FRIRFEFHIAE), and the Energy Saving Law of the People’s Republic of
China KHFEARKLMBELIEEIRE)), and local administrative rules
such as the Bejjing Household Waste Administrative Rules {4t T4
TEBIIRE IR IEH)), the Company contributes to the construction of
an ecological civilization and environment-friendly society by reducing
greenhouse gas emissions, implementing energy-saving and emission
reduction measures, enhancing its water management, and fulfilling its

environmental responsibility in its daily operations.

Emission Management

Emissions generated from the business operation of the Company
mainly include greenhouse gas emissions from the use of electric
devices and vehicles, as well as wastes such as office operations
garbage. To reduce the environmental impact of our office operations,
we continue to implement a variety of measures to manage emissions

and improve the environmental awareness of our employees.

We continue to improve the management of electricity consumption
in our offices and stores, and use LED and natural lighting in our
warehouses to effectively reduce the greenhouse gases generated from
electricity generation. We increase the truck loading rate so as to reduce
the carbon emissions generated during the process of product delivery
and transportation, and we have selected warehouses that are close to
our distribution locations to shorten the total transportation distance
and reduce the carbon emissions generated by our vehicles. In terms
of improving employees’ awareness of environmental protection, we
promote low-carbon travel by encouraging employees to use public

transportation and reducing the frequency of private car use.

I
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We are strictly in compliance with the local regulations on living
waste management and the waste classification requirements of our
properties, and we have been separating office waste, cultivating
employees’ awareness of recycling, and encouraging them to reduce
the use of disposable paper cups; also, the Company has implemented
registration and quota management for office supplies, advocating
employees to use refillable ball pens, reducing the use of office items
such as glue and correction fluid, and resolutely eliminating paper waste.
In respect of warehouse management and order picking, we eliminated
paper distribution sheets of Roboshop and continued to promote
picking through personal digital assistant (PDA) to expand paperless
order picking. In 2021, the warehouse in Nanjing shifted from traditional
paper-recorded order picking to paperless order picking, reducing paper

consumption by 20% as compared to 2020.

Resources Utilization Management

The Company is always concerned about the efficient conversion of
energy and the efficient use of resources. By carrying out energy-saving
and environmental protection projects, systematically managing the use
of resources in each business segment, replacing with high-efficiency
energy-saving equipment, and raising employees’ awareness of energy
conservation, the Company is fulfilling its green commitment to building

a good ecological environment and creating a green office enterprise.
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Electricity Consumption Management

In active implements to the general requirements of national energy
conservation, the Company adheres to the concept of “energy saving”
continuously, starting from the smallest details, and improving the
electricity management in offices, stores, roboshops and warehouses,
and adopts the following measures to enhance the energy efficiency of

the Company:
Office:

Continuously explore air-conditioning temperature control
skills, and set up specific requirements for the opening
temperature, setting temperature and wind speed of air
conditioning in summer and winter to effectively reduce

overall energy consumption;

Turn off some lights during staff lunch breaks and overtime
work, and encourage the timely switch off of personal
computers and monitors or set them to power saving mode

when not in use;

Lights in public areas will be turned on in demand, only on

cloudy days or when the sky is getting dark.
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Store: N

Relevant electrical equipment will only be turned on when
necessary, and except for working hours (including the normal
opening hours of stores), only emergence lighting will be

turned on in other time slots;

Roboshop: - R

The operating hours of the roboshop are reasonably planned
and controlled according to its peak hours, and the machines

will automatically shut off during non-operating hours.

Warehouse: . X7

Develop Warehouse Energy Conservation Regulations to
gradually replace traditional lamps with low-energy LED
energy-saving lamps, improve the utilization of natural light
while regulating the use of lighting and fans within the

warehouse to eliminate waste.
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HRAEFBRLEDETALE B

{[eI: 3 POP MART §  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 354 EI SR E AR A |




2021 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Water Management

The Company supports the construction of a water-saving society
through practical actions by implementing various water conservation
measures and improving the management of water demand and using
processes to reduce water consumption and improve water efficiency.

The measures include the following:

Strengthen the daily inspection and maintenance of water facilities,
regularly arrange maintenance personnel to check the drainage
system to prevent water running, water spray, water drip, water
leakage and other waste of water, and deal with malfunction once

identified in a timely manner;

Install water-saving taps on water facilities for water-saving
retrofitting, so as to adjust the water pressure of taps and control

water velocity;

Develop and post water-saving slogans in office area to enhance
the awareness of staff on water conservation and help them
cultivate water-saving habits in daily work and life, and call on staff
to turn off water taps when not in use to prevent long running

water.
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Packaging Materials Management

The Company focuses on the green features of products and takes into
account the environmental and energy-saving requirements for products
during the design, packaging, logistics and recycling processes, so as
to incorporate the green and low carbon concepts into the whole life
cycle of our products. The packaging materials of our products primarily
include color-coated paper box, color-coated paper card, aluminum
foil bag, POF shrink film, polyethylene (PE) film and corrugated box
for logistics, etc. During the year, for our products, we continued to
use counterweight pack made of biodegradable pure diatomaceous
granule and spunlace non-woven fabric to replace the traditional plastic
counterweight pack. For the "MEGA Collection Series'" products, we
have optimized their packaging materials for environmental protection
by trying to replace the foamed plastic liner in the original product
packaging with degradable and recyclable paper tray liner, and use
paper with Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) certification, as well
as thoroughly assessed the environmental impact of our packaging
materials. In terms of warehouse management, we properly recycle and
reuse packaging cartons, cardboard, etc., which effectively reduces the
consumption and waste of packaging materials and prolongs the life

cycle of our products.

The "MEGA Collection Series” is a high-end pop toy product line launched by the
Company.
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Setting Environmental Goals RIGEERE

In 2021, the Company has set environmental goals to track the progress 20216 ARAIHIERREER - SRR
of environmental management in a quantitative manner, and updated REETHER  VEERBERBILLER
and revised the environmental management indicators as appropriate REBREEETENEE] - 2HEEIRE
based on that progress, so as to fully implement the environmental IRAEFEE ©

protection measures.

Emission reduction
goal

WEEEE

Waste reduction goal

HEE R

Energy-saving goal

EiREE &

Water-saving goal

By the end of 2030, the greenhouse gas emissions (Scope 1 and 2)® of the Company will reach a
carbon dioxide emission peak.

EZE2030FE - AR AEE - LEE-VRERBHNEREE -

By the end of 2022, the distributing of the orders will be fully online. Roboshops will implement a
paperless office model.

BZ2002FE 2 HERREER b BMBABELEASETEMEBAR

By the end of 2023, at least 90% of the packaging cartons generated in stores will be collected and
recycled by the Company or by qualified third parties.

BE2023FE  EL00%FIEEENBEBEERARAREGELANE=J7EWHMA -

By the end of 2025, office electricity consumption per capita will be reduced by 10% as compared with
that of 2020.

BE2025F K - APRAFEEER2020F KA 10%

By the end of 2025, office water consumption per capita will be reduced by 10% as compared with

HiKB & that of 2020.
BE2025F K © AP AFEKER2020FHA10%

Note: it

(1) Scope 1 covers the emission of greenhouse gases directly produced by the () BEREEARAEE NI ESE
businesses that are owned or controlled by the Company, such as carbon EEMNBREREBYN  WABREEREAR
emissions from the consumption of petrol and diesel by official business - %?EE%E’\JWK%FEK? #WE_RERE
vehicles; Scope 2 covers the emission of greenhouse gases indirectly @ﬁﬁ%ﬂfﬁﬁ(ﬁggﬂﬁﬂﬂiﬁfﬁ)%ﬁ - ER
produced by electricity generation, heating, cooling and steam internally B - RRREARTSI B R E RS
consumed by the Company, either purchased or acquired. e

Environment Key Performance Indicators™ RIFEAREIERY

The 2021 environment key performance indicators of the Company RAF2021 FRIBEBARERIERIIRN

are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, the scope of environment T -BRRAZBAN  REBHERTHE

statistics covers major offices and operating stores of Pop Mart in China, RERBBRHETFERAETENARE RE

whereas the rest will be included as and when appropriate in the future. EPE - HERE & 15 P AR RO B R A 5

FHEE e
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Emission®
BB

Indicators Data for 2021
EE 2021 FHIE
Total greenhouse gas (“GHG") emission (Scope 1 and 2)® (tons)
RERENESE (BE—LEEE )Y (1) 3,304.60
Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) (tons)
BHEOAEREHM (FBE—) (W)

Petrol

YU 10.70
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) (tons)
fEOR = mESHER (888 —) (WE)

Purchased electricity

SNER 3,293.90
GHG emission per capita (Scope 1 and 2) (tons/person)
AR ERE NS (BE—R#EE =) (B A) 0.86
GHG emission per square meter (Scope 1 and 2) (tons/square meter)
BYHRREEENRAZREHNE (BE—RBE=) (B FHK) 0.05
Total hazardous wastes (tons) @
BEREEYEE (W) 0.23
Hazardous wastes per capita (tons/person)
NIBEREEWESE (W, A) 0.0007
Hazardous wastes per square meter (tons/square meter)
FEHAREMENEETEENES (W, THK) 0.000003
Total non-hazardous wastes (tons) ©
EEREEYEREE () 49.93
Non-hazardous wastes per capita (tons/person)
ANEEEREREY (W, A) 0.01
Non-hazardous wastes per square meter (tons/square meter)
FEHAREMBENEEEENES (W, THK) 0.0008

Notes:

(1) Due to the increase of new offices and stores of the Company in 2021 as per
its business development, the total energy consumption, total office water
consumption and total greenhouse gas emission have increased overall as
compared with that of the previous year.

(2) Due to the small number of self-owned vehicles of the Company, the
emission of exhaust emissions such as nitrogen oxides and sulfur oxides
generated thereof was limited. Based on the nature of the operation of the
Company, its major type of gas emissions is GHG emission from electricity
and fuels derived from fossil fuels.
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(3)  The GHG list includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. They (3)

mainly come from purchased electricity and fuels. GHG emissions data is
presented in carbon dioxide equivalent (COe) and is based on the Baseline
Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China Under the 2019 Emission
Reduction Project issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of
the People’s Republic of China, and the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories (2019 Revision) issued by the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

(4) Hazardous wastes generated from the Company's operation mainly include (4)
waste toners, waste toner cartridges and waste ink cartridges for office
printing devices, and the replacement or disposal of which will be handled
by printing service suppliers or qualified professional companies.

(5)  Non-hazardous wastes generated from the Company’s operation are mainly (5)

waste paper, including A3 copying paper, A4 copying paper and thermal
paper, which will be handled collectively within the premises.

Energy and Resources Consumption

2021 FRIE - HBERERBE

Bs

FRUEERE_SEK - Frials
A TERANETHEMRE - BERE
BREDR_SREERY)  TRIEFEA
RAMBE 4 RRE B Q019 F ER
B H PR EAEEGTRE T ) RERF
FRESIEMZEGIPCOTEMLIPCC
2006 F IR EREE S E IR 201918 5T hiw)
EITIRE -

AREELHENEERERMIZBERD
TENRBEREME  BEER  BERD
5 HEBREERITHRBHERIEE
HHEEXNRBRRE °

AREEL S ENEEERY TR REER
3R BIRASKEEDAR - A4RRENAR R AU
HimEs—BRIE -

BRREIRHAE

Indicators Data for 2021
it 2021 FHIB
Total energy consumption (MWh)®
selREREE S (KRR ) 5,272.85
Direct energy consumption (MWh)
HiERER L)

Petrol

pai:i 41.80
Indirect energy consumption (MWh)
eI OB RE OK RIS )

Purchased electricity

SNEE T 5,231.05
Energy consumption per capita (MWh/person)
AREREREE ORRE 7 A) 137
Energy consumption per square meter (MWh/square meter)
I KRBRERENEREREE KRR FHK) 0.08
Office water consumption (tons)®?
WRRAOBRES () @ 369.45
Office water consumption per capita (tons/person)
A ARKHEES (B, A) 0.10
Office water consumption per square meter (tons/square meter)
P RREEBEORRANEREE (B F75K) 0.01
Total packaging materials for finished products (tons)®
EXmpTRABEYES () 5,800.02
Packaging materials consumed for finished products per million revenue (tons/million yuan)®
BHETHERERAENMEEYE (W a8T)Y 0.13
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Notes:

(1) Energy consumption is calculated on the basis of the conversion factor
set out in the General Principles of Consolidated Energy Consumption
Calculation (GB/T 2589-2020), the national standard of the People’s Republic
of China, including purchased electricity and petrol consumption for
vehicles.

(2)  Except for the Company’s Beijing, Nanjing and Shenzhen office area, the
office water usage in other office areas and operating stores is managed by
their respective premises. Water charges are included in property fees, and
water usage cannot be measured separately. Hence, during the Reporting
Period, only data from Beijing, Nanjing and Shenzhen office area is collected
for office water consumption and office water consumption intensity. Our
office water is sourced from municipal pipeline network, thus there is no
obstacles in securing water supply.

(3) Packaging materials mainly include plastic packaging bag, paper box and
paper bag.

(4) Packaging materials consumed for finished products per million revenue
refers to the weight of packaging materials consumed for finished products
per million revenue of the Group.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Company always treats environmental protection and natural
resources as one of its vital responsibilities for corporate development.
Due to the business nature of the Company, the Company has a limited
impact on the environment and natural resources. While expanding our
business scale constantly, the Company will continue to take energy-
saving and emission reduction measures, advocate the conservation
culture and promote the concept of environmental protection. On
the basis of a comprehensive understanding of the Company’s energy
and resource consumption, we are benchmarking against advanced
domestic and international peers to reduce the negative impact of our
own operations on the environment, thereby enhancing our green

competitiveness.

In 2021, the Company has not discovered any significant pollution and

impact on the environment in its operation.
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Response to Climate Change

Currently, climate change is one of the major challenges. The Company

is deeply aware of the importance and urgency of the climate change

issue, and is actively responding to the challenges posed by climate

change and accelerating its transition to a low-carbon economy. During

the year, based on the existing risk management system, we sorted out

and identified the main ESG risks including climate change risks, further

reviewed the management of related risks, communicated with various

functional departments, and formulated relevant countermeasures.

The main climate change risks identified by the Company and the

countermeasures formulated are as follows.

Main risks

FTERR

Description of risk

[ B 3

2021 FIRIE - HEREARRE

PR SRARE

me% SHANEERHEZ— K

RARBHRRB(CMENEEREHE
%LE BT B mAR LS R A PR
D3R R e 48 E 8 Y °ZF5FF§' HMER
BRBREEBROEM L - i #37
“Aﬁf”WUTKEWWBGIz@@'%
HERROERET TE— PR - WE
EHESFIERER ST THBEYEE

vy

i

AR E AR E E R RS R R & E 8
JEETHEHEUNT ©

Countermeasures

iEagiy i

Personal injury and property

damage risk

ABMEEXBRR

The occurrence of bad weather such as
rainstorms, typhoons and snowstorms
may cause damage to the health and
safety of staff and property of the
company.
%T‘ﬁ fig 2,

CEAE/N E ﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁi\&&
ETE]JEXTE\ °

Develop internal management systems and plans,
issue weather alerts to employees in a timely manner
when bad weather occurs, provide employees with
emergency supplies such as umbrellas and raincoats,
allow employees to work remotely and flexibly,
remind employees to stay away from billboards,
sewers and other dangerous zones, continuously
improve disaster emergency response mechanisms,
identify possible asset losses, and purchase necessary
insurance.

HEANREREENGFE - ERHRAELERR
B THXRARAE  RETRHERS WK

LEEZWE  AHFBEIRBEITNHA  EEET
%fiﬁ TKEBEEERES  THREXLE
ESEEKRS - BRI EEIRL  BELE
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Main risks

FTERR

GOVERNANCE REPORT

Description of risk

[ B 3

Countermeasures

i

The risk of transport
interruption

BT ER

The risk of cessation of
business

R RE R

Bad weather such as rainstorms,
typhoons and snowstorms may affect
warehouse processes such as receiving,
storage and shipment and cause
interruptions in transport operations.

EW RE BREERLRANE
£ TR ERE TR BEZAE
RIRVEN B BUE 8 S 5 & -

Bad weather such as rainstorms,
typhoons and snowstorms may result in
poor transportation of products or the
inability of stores to operate normally,
leading to the cessation of business
activities and damage of the Company’s
economic interests.
FH RBE - RZESERLHRANE
%ﬁﬁﬁm@%K%ﬁWEﬂ

FEERER  BRE2ERHEL
RIEBEN S8

In the future, the Company will continue to conduct in-depth studies on

the possible impact of climate change on its business operations, adjust

its response strategies in a timely manner and continuously improve its

climate change management mechanism.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5

We regularly assess the impact of bad weather
on product transportation, continuously improve
the warehouse hardware facilities, enhance the
warehouse business operation and resilience, invoke
the emergency logistics transportation system when
bad weather occurs, communicate with logistics
service providers and adjust the work plan in a timely
manner, and use emergency logistics transportation

methods such as air or rail transportation when

necessary.
EHFEESRARYERERTRNTE &
EREEMRE  RBARBEEBRIELEERE
7 ERSRARELERBBESRERER

REERYRIRBEABEBLFBRIIEIR  LER
RAz=ExERERSESnEsn -

We have established an emergency relief mechanism
and regularly assess the impact of severe weather
on the Company’s operations. When bad weather
occurs, we assess the impact on specific areas and

develop response plans.

Li%%ﬁ“%ﬂ*i%ﬁﬁ,%%ﬁﬁ GIES
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V. EMPLOYMENT AND LABOR STANDARDS

Human resources are the core resource of a company. Adhering to
our management philosophy of “employees are our partners”, the
Company has expanded its channels for talent introduction, established
a comprehensive human resources management system, and strived for
creating a fair and just employment environment and a safe and healthy
working environment for our employees. We fully respect and protect
the legitimate rights of each employee, implement diversified talent
development strategy, pay attention to the development of employees,
and create a career platform for employees to show their talents and

dreams.

Employment Management

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China K ZE AR KLFBELE)E)) and the
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China A AR HFNE
B E)A [FE)), the Company has formulated a series of human resources
management systems to regulate labor relations in accordance with
the law, including the Human Resources Management System, the
Attendance Management System, the Probation Management System,
the Business Trip Management System, the Expatriate Management
System and the Vocation Management System. We make our work
arrangements based on the ability and willingness of our employees,
and refuse to force employees to work through violence, threats or
illegal restrictions on personal freedom. Also, we actively advocate and
monitor our partners to implement the same employment standards
as we do. We have clear regulations on employee recruitment,
employment, compensation, leave, promotion, termination, working
hours management, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other personnel and welfare benefits, and eliminate differential
treatment of employees based on race, age, gender, marital status,
religious beliefs, etc. We provide equal work opportunities for all

employees and effectively protect their legal rights and interests.

2021 FIRIE - HEREARRE
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We also follow the requirements of the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Protection of Minors & AR T R F AREE)),
the Regulations on the Prohibition of Child Labor {ZEIH{EFE TR E))
and other laws and regulations, and strictly examine the valid identity
documents of applicants in the recruitment process and further verify
the document information through the human resource management
system to ensure that the employment process meets the requirements
of national laws and regulations, and strictly prohibit the employment of
child labor and any other unlawful employment practices. If child labor
or forced labor is found, we will immediately stop their work, conduct
identity verification while contacting their guardians or families, take
the initiative to communicate and assist in sending them back to their

original place of residence.

We focus on recruiting different types of talents according to our
business structure, and we continue to cultivate new talents and
optimize our personnel structure according to the characteristics of
our business. As of 31 December 2021, the Company had a total of
4,053 employees in China and overseas, of which 3,845 were regular

employees and 208 were outsourced employees.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5
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Employment?

2021 FRIE - HBERERBE

ETEREER
Indicators As of 31 December 2021
bipd BZE2021F12H31H
By gender (persons) Male
23:3:ION) ES 1,243
Female
L°8 2,602
By employment type (persons) Full-time
BER (X) S 3716
Part-time
FREL 129
By age (persons) Under age 30 (excluding)
RER (A) 305 () AT 3,076
Age 30 to 50 (excluding)
3052 508% (V&) 769
Above age 50 (including)
505% (8) AL 0
By geographical region (persons)  Mainland China
BIE (N) PR AR 3,845
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
P =il 0
Other countries and regions
H A B R K@ 0

The statistics of employment, employee turnover rate and employee occupational
health and safety cover the Company's regular employees and do not include

outsourced employees.

2
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Employee Turnover Rate

ETIRAEER
Indicators As of 31 December 2021
bipd BZE2021F12H31H
Employee turnover rate (%)
BITRKE (%) 22.96%
By gender (%) Male
A% 5 (%) E= 22.03%
Female
z 22.91%
By age (%) Under age 30 (excluding)
RER (%) 308% (P E) AT 24.95%
Age 30 to 50 (excluding)
30552 505% (&) 19.84%
Above age 50 (including)
505% (B) AL 0
By geographical region (%) Mainland China
I E (%) B R A R 22.96%
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
PEIR A @ 0
Other countries and regions
HAbBIR K= 0

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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Employees Caring

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China (RZEARFLFIEH
HEREE)) and the Regulation on the Administration of Housing
Provident Fund KEFEATEEEEIEH)), the Company has improved
its welfare system and remuneration system so as to keep the increase

in the happiness and satisfaction of employees.

In respect of the remuneration system, we offer competitive
remuneration packages to employees. We make contribution to the five
insurances and housing provident fund (FLER—%) for our employees
and provide them with incentives such as catering and transportation
allowance, performance bonus, year-end bonus, seniority bonus, and

medium and long-term equity incentive.

In respect of staff welfare, we keep abreast of employees’ trends and
needs in time and provide employees with various welfares, including
annual regular physical examination, extra medical insurance, new
product special offer, holiday gift, birth gift, marriage card, maternity
gift and funeral allowance. For female employees, we give preferential
treatment and care in accordance with laws and regulations such as the
Special Provisions on Labor Protection for Female Employees  ZZB T
LENRERBIZRE)) and Provisions on the Scope of Prohibited Labor
for Female Employees ( i T2 & BEE AT )), and set up
the Women Committee so as to effectively protect the rights of female
employees, and provide parental leave, maternity allowance and other
benefits for female employees who have given birth, as well as equip

sleeping area and maternal and child rooms in the office area.

We constantly optimize the working-hour management policy,
encourage employees to work efficiently during normal working hours,
relax and enjoy themselves during holidays. We offer employees the
rights on overtime work and rest day re-assignment. Overtime payment
will be made if employees are unable to re-assign rest day due to work

reasons.

2021 FRIE - HBERERBE
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We also pay attention to the physical and mental development needs of
employees, encourage employees to participate in recreational activities,
relieve work pressure, provide team building fees for departments,
and regularly hold afternoon tea, birthday celebrations, swimming
competitions, badminton competitions, basketball competitions and
other activities to enrich employees’ spare time and enhance team

centripetal force and cohesion.

Health and Safety

The Company strives to provide a healthy, safe working environment for
employees. In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases Law of the People’s
Republic of China A RAFBIBEZMI767%5)), the Regulation on
the Administration of Sanitation in Public Places KA 35T £ B IR 1K
B1)), the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance € TISARERIEH))
and the Measures for the Supervision and Administration of Employers’
Occupational Health Surveillance K FA A BN B2 R ES £ B B IR
%)), the Company comprehensively promotes safety management and
encourages employees to improve their awareness of self-protection
so as to secure the occupational health and safety of employees. The

Company did not experience any work-related fatalities in 2021.

We have completed a series of work to ensure the health and safety
of employees, including organizing regular physical examination
for employees every year, starting EAP?, strengthening publicity of
health knowledge and so as to help employees to identify potential
occupational diseases, occupational contraindications and other
abnormal symptoms as soon as possible, enhance employees’ healthcare
awareness and promote the physical and mental health of employees.
In 2021, we launched the employee mental health project, "Pop Mart
Heart-to-Heart Center”, in a bid to provide employees with more
convenient and professional mental health services. Employees can
make psychological consultation appointments and learn psychological
knowledge through the intelligent psychological cloud platform, thus

providing employees with the strength to relieve their work pressure.

EAP: Employee Assistance Programs.
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We closely monitored pandemic control requirements issued by central
and local governments as well as the changes of epidemic situation,
implemented strict visitor health checks, conducted regular sterilization
in our office areas to fully protect the health and safety of our staff.
To prevent safety accidents, during the year, we enhanced safety
knowledge training for employees and conducted regular fire drills and
evacuation, which effectively enhanced employees’ safety awareness

and fire emergency response capabilities.

Occupational Health and Safety

BERREHEZSE
Indicators

B

B EIRRRE BFNRRE
HZIFELIEN  BREEIRAENR
FAR - M AWE L ESRE - 208
REBTIWRFEEZE - BHLELE2EY
BEAFE RMAMEBEETINZE2H
MIBYINE  EMESBTREENRSR
REER AREAEINZE2EZIH
LR °

Data for 2019 Data for 2020 Data for 2021
2019 F 25 2020 F &iiB 2021 F B

Total work-related fatalities (persons)
ITTHEAZ(AN)

Rate of work-related fatalities (%)

A I T E (%)

Number of work-related injuries (persons)
AIZEAH(A)

Number of lost days due to work injury (days)

HIESELXIERR(X)
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Development and Training

The Company focuses on the long-term career development and growth
of our employees and strives to establish a comprehensive learning
and development system. We have formulated the Human Resources
Management System to clarify principles regarding staff training and
personal capability development. Focusing on the needs of different
positions and actual demands of staff, we have also set up a diversified

training program with distinctive culture so as to expand talent reserves.

The Company conducts regular staff promotion for functional lines?
and operational lines* through performance appraisal and promotion
interview, and implements multi-dimensional evaluation (e.g.
performance in professionalism, communication and collaboration and
team management) to offer a multi-platform development plan for the
career path planning of our staff. To cultivate talents with grassroots
experience and retail management potential, we have launched the
operational management trainee program and reached out to many
talents suitable for retail center operation from colleges and universities
at home and abroad. Upon recruiting, they will be given opportunities
for business practice, rotational training and external exchange to

improve their overall ability and personal value.

In 2021, we continued to improve our staff training and development
system adhering to the principle of “Business-centric and People-
oriented”, making the training content more lightweight, personalised
and interesting. In particular, we have introduced interactive sessions
such as sandbox games, etc. to the training in the hopes of enhancing
team cohesion while assisting employees in improving their business
capabilities. To facilitate employees’ development and growth, we use
a "Skill + Practice” learning strategy to provide employees with practical
skills and on-site practice area and conversation space. For the middle
management, we also carry out the “Polaris Program”, which aims to
cultivate excellent managers who can guide the direction like the Polaris

and help management staff achieve leadership improvement.

Functional lines represent the Company's staff worked in offices.
Operational lines represent the Company’s staff worked in stores and roboshops.

2021 FRIE - HBERERBE

BRI

AABIMIETIRMMNBEERENXE -
BATEE2ENSEEERER - A
ELANEREESE) - AR THJIR
EABENFEMAREERR - AHHBTH
BAMERIESR  RuZTe  AF
FrEXErFFIER - i AT BFERR

ARBAERERZRETTABRE RO
EHIMRBRA EERNETTIE B
BEETWEXRES  BBRIHE BEKE
BERAETZHRENT D  KREIBRESL
ERBREZFEERAE - RTHER
BEBKBRNTEERELENAT - HM
FMRERLFE - mRFRINER - HEE
WIEBRETZERLELRUNAS &
THMEER WEBEBRINKEENH
g WHEI2HURGEAEEEA
EfE -

2021 - AMBFETEE LI HES
R BEIUEBRBL  UARER &R
S FEINBTENESL - BIEL - B
Bt - AP E ENIRET - Hland g
FEEE  BOREHE TRA XS
T R R R A B BORE B ) o FRAPI{E R [ kil
+ Practice | MEEF % WMEILEKREAR
MR AERERIZR TS ENRZE
M-BHEIRREERE - StHREERE
AB BATHREMLEEFS ] - §4E5E
BRILBE KBS T MNESFEESE
BYEIEES TEIHEE IR -

y

BALARIER R AR RRMET »
BEGEARRIPIEREBABEET

—Z=— 53 ANNUALREPORT 2021 § POP MART

125



2021 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2021 F]RIE - HERER/RE

POP MART %
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Pop Mart’s middle management training “Polaris Program”

BB 28 | EEEE

Training Performance of Functional Lines Staff

BEERETZIER

Percentage of Average training

Indicators staff trained (%) hours (hours)
b ZHIE 7 k(%) FIFHRE (D)
By gender Male
2 3Ed]| 5 97% 045

Female

28 96% 0.55
By employee category Management
R EEE 98% 0.38

Non-management

FEEEE 96% 0.62
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Training Performance of Operational Lines Staff

EERETZIER

Percentage of Average training

Indicators staff trained (%) hours (hours)
B FHIE 2 (%) FZINFIREE ()
By gender male
BRI = 99% 11.12
female
L°8 95% 11.18
By employee category management
RER EIRE 99% 11.26
non-management
FEEE 94% 11.16

VI. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Company strives to achieve synergistic development of industry
train. To improve the supplier management system, we have formulated
the Supplier Management System, the Documentation on Standardized
Operation for Procurement Department, the Non-product Procurement
Management System, the Non-product Supplier Management System,
the Standardized Operation for Logistics Department, the Treasury
Management System, the Stock Taking Operation Procedures and
other documents. We proactively implement responsible procurement
procedures, providing all-round management in terms of procurement
standards, procurement processes, supplier access and daily
performance to guide our suppliers in the right direction to actively
fulfill their environmental and social responsibilities and continuously
enhance ESG risk management, so as to promote the sustainable

development of the industry.
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Supplier Access

The Company has formulated strict selection standards and policies
for supplier access, evaluation and dismissal, and regularly evaluates
the legal compliance of suppliers. We have formed a well-experienced
supplier management team, as well as a supplier inspection team that
is comprised of relevant responsible personnel from procurement
department, engineering department, quality assurance department,
quality management department and production management
department. In addition, a supplier safety and compliance management
team was set up in 2021 to comprehensively strengthen the quality,

safety and compliance management.

While selecting suppliers, we conduct admission assessment and review
of suppliers from environmental protection, resource conservation,
safety management, corporate sustainable development and other
aspects, and inspection evaluation criteria will differ by product features
and requirements. We require suppliers to strictly comply with laws
and regulations, such as the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China K AREFMBIKR
SEATAIEY), the Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law
of the People’s Republic of China (™ ZE AR 1B E 4L EE Y55 43R
HEBAE)) and the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China % AR ELMBIKFLIREHAE)), as
well as obtain relevant environmental protection qualification. Before
entering into cooperation agreements with suppliers, we shall ensure
their production conditions are fully meet the Company's standards
with pollutant purification and treatment equipment equipped and
pollutant discharge and recycle measures in place. The supplier
management team and inspection team of the Company will conduct
regular investigations to explore new suppliers, as well as site visits on
its operating venues, productivity, technology capability, development
capability and hardware environment, then they will rank suppliers, and
only those are qualified for inspection can make a purchase application.
The Company keeps close attention to the management capability
and performance of suppliers in environmental and social aspects,
and suppliers that have insufficient environmental and social risk
management will not take into consideration. In 2021, the Company has

54 suppliers who were completed the admission review.
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In addition, we encourage suppliers to pass the certification and audit
from third-party institutions, such as the International Council of Toy
Industries (ICTl) Code of Business Practices, the Disney International
Labor Standards (Disney ILS), the Sedex Member Ethical Trade Audit
(SMETA) and the Business Social Compliance Initiative (BSCI).

Daily Management of Suppliers

The Company has formed a qualified supplier list and constantly
optimized supplier management to restrict and supervise supplier
performance. We regularly conduct performance appraisal management
on existing suppliers by monthly evaluation and annual evaluation to
evaluate suppliers’ production quality, attendance, shipment, service,
and on-time delivery rate, and communicate with and give feedback to
suppliers based on the evaluation result. We carry out different incentive
policies for suppliers at different levels, identify well-established
suppliers, and assist suppliers with problems or risk points to successfully
complete rectification and ability improvement. For suppliers were
found to seriously breach of relevant environmental management
requirements in the process of production or exist of serious ethical
issues or found in violation of the regulations, the Company will

terminate their partnership and eliminate unqualified suppliers.

Promoting Green Procurement

The Company highly values green development and the performance
of its suppliers and prioritizes the procurement of products that meet
specific environmental protection requirements throughout the whole
process of the life cycle of the product, products that are harmless
or less harmful to the ecological environment, products with high
resource utilization rate and products with low energy consumption.
The Company promotes the improvement of environmental behaviors
of suppliers, which in turn will promote and demonstrate the green

consumption of society.
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We require our suppliers to use renewable wooden cardboard and
abandon the use of petroleum-based plastic cardboard, and supervise
them in the daily inspection work of the factory inspection team
to detect violations of relevant regulations in a timely manner. We
encourage our suppliers to give priority to the use of environmental-
friendly products tested and certified by our Company, such as
environmental-friendly pure diatom counterweight packs and other
environmental-friendly packaging materials, as well as environmental-
friendly paints, inks, solvents, adhesives and other products, and
purchase through designated suppliers to ensure the environmental

protection and safety of raw materials.

As of 31 December 2021, the number and distribution of the Company'’s

suppliers are as follows.

HMEREERERTBENARERR -
MEEBOAEMBNZEBRR - LER
FRE O H B TEP Y EETEE
AR B3R ERMARENIT A - B
BHENELEERERRRAAZENR
REMR  MRAEREEEEFRRER
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BETRE  BERERMEANREREERZS
M o

HIE2021F 128318 - ARAFEEWNHEE
EEE R DMHHEMT -

Number and Distribution of Suppliers

HEFMBERD HER

Indicators

R

As of 31 December 2021
B ZE2021F12831H

By geographical region (hnumber)  Mainland China

ZitE (@) HEREAEE 54
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
BRAE 0
Other countries and regions
HtERRBE 0
Total (number)
#st (@) 54
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VIl. RESPONSIBLE OPERATIONS

The Company deepens responsibility management, adheres to
customer-centricity and thoroughly implements the responsibility
culture to continue to provide customers with quality products and
services. We strictly comply with laws and regulations such as the
Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China % ARF
MBEREEE)) and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests {# % AR FEFEIH
BEERIREL)). While being committed to ensuring great quality
control, we continue to promote product innovation, improve customer
complaint handling and after-sales service, implement customer rights
protection measures, actively protect intellectual property rights and
brand reputation, and improve information security management

system, so that consumers can do shopping at ease.

Product Quality Control and Recall

The Company strictly abides by the national toy standards related
to our operations, such as the GB/T 26701-2011 General Technical
Requirements for Model Products and the GB 6675-2014 Toys Safety,
to strengthen general technical requirements for model products.
We strictly control product quality and have formulated management
procedures and inspection standards such as the General Product
Inspection Standards, the Quality Standard Manual for Action Figures,
the Quality Inspection Workflow and the Product Special Procurement
Process to comprehensively supervise every stage in the production
process and continuously improve the existing quality management

system.
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In 2021, we have optimized the raw material selection and compliance
testing process of our products to strengthen quality control. To
ensure product quality and safety, we choose packaging materials that
meet national safety standards. Our supplier safety and compliance
management team is responsible for the safety control of raw materials,
regularly sampling raw materials and sending them to a third-party
testing agency for environmental protection and safety testing and
analysis. For product compliance testing, we have employed SGS-CSTC
Standards Technical Services Co., Ltd. (SGS), an internationally recognised
testing agency, as the international testing business partner for our
products to assist in product safety and compliance testing and organize
special training and seminars around product safety and compliance
requirements to further improve the Company’s quality management
level. The Company's quality control team will periodically conduct on-
site random inspections of all manufacturers, requiring manufacturers
to strictly abide by our quality control guidelines and optimize the
technique and production process of defect-prone products assessed
by our after-sales department, so as to ensure that product quality and

safety meet the compliance requirements.

We have formulated the Product Recall Procedure and other systems
and processes. Once a product with potential safety hazards or an
unqualified product is identified, the Company will recall all unqualified
products for rework and scrap the products that cannot be reworked.
In addition, warnings and reminders are printed on the packaging of
our products to protect the health and safety of the customers, such as

“Small parts”, “Not for children under 3 years”, “This is collectible item.

Recommended for ages 15 & up”, etc.

In 2021, the Company did not recall any products due to product quality

problems.
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Training on product safety of Pop Mart
ARBHERTRIEI

Customer Complaint and Benefits Protection

The Company always takes customer satisfaction as the top priority
and listens to customers’ demands. We strictly comply with the laws
and regulations such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests % AR
FMEH & EESIREE)), the Measures for the Punishment of Acts
against the Interest of Consumers KIZEHEERRITREIIIVE)),
the Interim Measures for the Return without Reasons of Commodities
Purchased Online within Seven Days KBt BEmR+- AEERERE
1795 and the Provisions on the Interdiction of Fraudulent Pricing
Practices (ZEIEBHEIRFFIT AR, and have formulated different
rules and regulations such as the Standard Operating Procedure for
Stores, the Regulation on Procedure of Return/Exchange Goods by
Customer Service and the Customer Complaints and Service Supervision
Management System to standardize store operations, continuously
optimize customer service procedures to ensure customers’ problems
are solved rapidly and effectively.

We continue to improve and build an all-media service platform,
whereby customers can communicate with the Company and provide
their opinions and suggestions via different channels, including 400
hotlines, WeChat mini-program, Tmall online service and in-store
customer service. We have publicized our after-sales handling policy to
fully protect the rights and interests of the customers.
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We continue to pay attention to the problems, demands and
suggestions raised by customers, constantly improve the customer
complaint handling system, make timely handling of customer
complaints, respond to customer questions, and analyze the causes of
complaints and rectify the problems. Through customer satisfaction
surveys and other ways, we identify deficiencies in our services, and
constantly take steps to improve, while strengthening the management
and training for customer service staff and store employees to improve
their service quality and efficiency. Once receiving a complaint, we will
arrange a complaint handling officer as soon as possible to provide
solutions against the demand of customers within a limited time
and follow up until the customer's request is satisfactorily resolved.
In case of industrial and commercial complaints, the Company will
actively cooperate and report the results to the market supervision

administration promptly.
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B

Key Performance Indicators for Product Responsibility

ERETERERER

Indicators Data for 2021
BE 2021 FHIE
Total industrial and commercial complaints on products or services received (times)
EEBRERIRBHN IFRFEZ OR) 22,572
Clearance rate of industrial and commercial complaints (%)
THRFERE(%) 100%
Percentage of total products sold or shipped that are subject to

recall for safety and health reasons (%)
EERCEXEMBHIERZERREERM AR W E D L (%) 0
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Customer Privacy and Information Security

The Company highly values customer privacy and information security.
In strict compliance with laws and regulations and departmental
regulations such as the Network Security Law of the People’s Republic
of China K ZEARKMBEIAELZZ X)), the Personal Information
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China R ZE AR FIE &
N2 BAREE)) and the Measures for Determining the lllegal Collection
and Use of Personal Information by Apps {Appi& %&iE U (F f 1@
MNEBITARIEFE)), the Company has formulated the Information
Security Management System, the Information Disclosure Management
System, the Information Security Training Manual, the Data Security
Management System and other documents to establish a perfect
information security management system.

The Company has assigned a dedicated information technology and R&D
technology department, which is responsible for the management and
supervision of the Company's information and data security. We protect
the information, data, applications, and terminal security with high-
tech means such as encryption, intranet control, installation of anti-virus
software and firewalls, while also regularly conducting special audits on
data security and information compliance to monitor the entire flow
of customer data strictly. We clearly define the collection, transmission,
storage, use, sharing, deletion, transferring and disclosure of corporate
data and users’ personal data in the Data Security Management System,
and relevant policy requirements apply to all our business lines. We
strictly adhered to the principle of minimum collection to standardize
the collection and processing of customer personal information.
For each category and level of data, different degrees of encryption
and authorization are carried out. If a department needs to use the
relevant information, the department must use it within the specified
scope after authorization. We also provide employees with training
on confidentiality management of customer information regularly to
further enhance their awareness of confidentiality through the sharing

of warning cases and knowledge publicity.

In the event of information or data leakage, the Company will
immediately delegate security specialists to trace the sources causing
information leakage problems and fix them in a timely manner, assess
the amount of information leaked, the scope and extent of the leakage
impact, etc.,, and inform the data owner of the situation. We will also
report to the security management and supervision department of
the Company for specifical analysis of the leakage, so as to formulate
optimized solutions, promote its implementations, and prevent the
recurrence of similar events. There was no significant information
security or customer privacy breach in 2021.
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Intellectual Property and Brand Protection

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Patent Law
of the People’s Republic of China *FZFE ARLMBIZEF]EL)) and the
Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China K FEEARLMEIZE
YE#E)%)), the Company has formulated the Intellectual Property and
Software Management Measures and established an integrated platform
covering the entire value chain of intellectual property operation. We
constantly improve our intellectual property management system, raise
awareness of intellectual property protection among our employees,
enhance brand protection, and take necessary measures in a timely
manner to deal with products or contents that involve infringement, so

as to eliminate the occurrence of infringement.

To minimize the risk of intellectual property infringement, the
Company strictly supervises all series of products on an ongoing
basis by registering intellectual property rights with the competent
authorities in a timely manner, conducting novelty searches, searching
for intellectual property information, and carrying out relevant analysis.
In 2021, the Company connected to the WeChat brand protection
platform and opened a back-office management account to participate
in independent monitoring and rights protection actively, and fully
implemented intellectual property management. While protecting our
intellectual property rights, we also respect the intellectual property
achievements of others. When we cooperate with artists and intellectual
property providers and obtain intellectual property authorization from
a third party, we require the third party to provide proof of originality
related to the intellectual property to strictly prevent the infringement

and misappropriation of intellectual property rights.

We have established a system to protect our rights. When collaborating
with suppliers, we contract them with the Confidentiality Agreement
and the Annual Cooperation Framework to clarify the ownership of
the product’s intellectual property rights, designing materials and
modules, and require suppliers’ assurance of non-infringement on
the intellectual property rights and other legal rights. In the event of
malicious registration or misappropriation of intellectual property rights,
we will require relevant parties to stop infringing on the Company'’s
rights and interests and correct improper behavior through online and
offline rights defense and will take measures to actively respond to
such infringements, including reporting to authorities or requesting for

indemnities, in serious situations.
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We value and encourage technological innovation and invention
and promote the application of technological innovations. In 2021,
we introduced an intellectual property platform in the front-end of
the rights protection to effectively record draft drawings and vet its
ownership in the process of creation, so as to actively protect our
own intellectual property rights. In terms of product design, we have
adopted NFC anti-counterfeit chip authentication and equipped identity
cards in our "MEGA Collection Series” to provide a method for product
authenticity verification in the manner of technological identification to

enhance brand recognition and implement brand protection.

Advertisement and Trademark Management

In compliance with laws and regulations such as the Advertising Law
of the People’s Republic of China (FEARKMBEEEE)) and the
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China H#E AR ILFE
FEI1%2%)), the Company constantly strengthens the examination and
regulation of advertisement and publicity, requiring advertising and
promotional content to be true, healthy, clear and understandable,
and avoiding any false publicity or misleading advertising content and

product descriptions.

We identified possible risks of advertising violations in business
operations and developed relevant countermeasures. We required any
external promotional information to be jointly reviewed by the business
and legal affairs departments and published only after confirming that
the content is accurate, relevant to the facts and does not infringe on
the legal rights of others and does not violate terminology regulations.
For advertisements in overseas regions, we required our overseas
partners to comply with our promotion standards and local laws and
regulations in the promotion process to ensure the truthfulness and
compliance of promotional information. If the advertising or promotional
information does not conform to the actual situation and violates the
relevant laws and regulations, we will immediately start the withdrawal

process, stop the launch and make corrections.
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In terms of trademark management, to better manage our intangible EREERITE  ATEFMEEQRE
assets, we have set clear requirements on the area, form, ratio, location, FEE RMYnEEEntRRSE &
font and color of brand logos, and stipulated that all use of our products, ERER - RBELA - NE - FTE-EE
LOGO and materials must be approved by the Company at relevant ST THRESR - REMBEEARARE
levels. Meanwhile, we registered the trademarks of high-end products m - LOGO ~ IR EM KB R T BB AF]
in a timely manner, formulated trademark use norms and unified brand HEBRER - B BMHSmRIE
logo, so as to maximize the compliant use of the brand logo and prevent mEEREEM - SIEREERRE -
the risk of the brand logo being sued for infringement. F—mEEHR  BERBRRDEEENE

BER - R REREEFRERR

M=
a

M=GA SPAC= MOLLY

Standardize the use of “MEGA Collection Series” product trademark and logo

FHE[MEGAL R R Y | EREZERLOGOERA

VIl ANTI-CORRUPTION MANAGEMENT N RESER

The Company advocates a corporate culture of integrity and honesty RATEEFHEEENCEE AR
and is committed to creating a clean working environment. We comply éﬁﬁj%,%ﬁ’gl{’ﬁigtﬁ o FGEF(HEAR
with relevant laws and regulations, such as the Company Law of the HRIMBAATEY (P A REME R EERE)
People’s Republic of China HhZE ARFMEI A BNE)), the Anti-Money <<E|:§|§)\E;:§ﬂ.}§$ﬂ§;jﬁﬁ%/ﬁ>ﬁm ]
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China (HZE A RIHA EEER  SIE(REREEBRRE) (K
Bl 4E§%)) and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s BTESEHEI(ABEEESE) &Rk
Republic of China K FZEARKMERTEEFHFEFIEL)), and have S T Y (ARSI E) (TE
established relevant management systems including the Anti-Fraud AERHEEEREREEHEICETLT
Management Regulations, the Anti-Money Laundering Management AREAEEHEYZHEETIESE - BT M
System, the Compliance Management System, the Gift Acceptance FRAEEEELETAE WES - EH - B
Management Regulations, the Conflict of Interest Management System, B = BMEHERAEREZETABRBER
the Exit Audit Management System, the Information Confidentiality ZDEEE - B EEEE RS EENERE
Management System and the Employee Code of Conduct Management CEHREVERE)  HEFERERIE 1T
System. We maintain a zero-tolerance attitude towards any form SN EIRIE 2 EMNB AN AIEE
of business violations such as embezzlement, corruption, bribery, B o

extortion, fraud and money laundering. We also sign the Sunshine
Cooperation Agreement with our suppliers and partners to standardize
the procurement operation process, create a transparent procurement
environment and hence strengthen our compliance operation in all

aspects.

AT POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED SaiB 3545 BB S BA R A A
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Promoting the Integrity Culture

The Company continues to strengthen the awareness of integrity among
all employees. We further promoted our compliance culture through
morning meeting training, sharing cases of corporate violations, sending
greeting cards on holidays and other forms, and prohibited directors and
employees from engaging in any illegal or unethical economic practices
and making profits from them. In 2021, we conducted regular integrity
training for our directors and all employees, with a single training
session of approximately 30 minutes for store managers in each region
of the retail center, and a special training session of approximately
40 minutes for key departments, such as the Purchasing Department
and the Operations Management Department, to raise awareness of
business ethics and information confidentiality among our directors
and employees. We also designed a variety of posters with anti-fraud
content, such as refusing to accept gifts and adhering to the principle of
information confidentiality, and posted them in our offices to promote

the integrity culture in our daily lives.

Improving Compliant and Reporting Mechanism

The Company encourages its employees to actively report the actual
or suspected corruption, bribery and other improper acts that violate
professional ethics. In 2021, we designated the Audit Department as
the official reporting department in charge of providing various internal
and external reporting channels, including reporting hotlines, reporting
mailboxes, official online reporting platform and letters. At the same
time, we developed a mechanism namely “Direct Channel for our
Friends (/NEZHEBE)" to strengthen the compliance management of

our stores and ensure smooth business feedback and disciplinary report.

2021 FRIE - HBERERBE
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We protect the whistleblowers whose relevant information is strictly
kept confidential, to ensure the transmission of information about
whistleblowers and their report contents, effectively control the
application scope of reporting information and prohibit any form of
retaliation against the whistleblowers. For the violations of relevant
laws and regulations as well as the Company rules, the Company, upon
the verification of relevant situations, will give employees disciplinary
punishment depending on the severity, including dismissal or reporting

and sending to the judicial authority.

In 2021, the Company joined the Enterprise Anti-Fraud Alliance and the
Trust and Integrity Alliance to work together on the discussions about
enterprise anti-fraud, explore common issues of anti-fraud, conduct
in-depth research on industry risk, hot spots and difficulties, so as to

strengthen the industry exchanges and internal corporate governance.

During the Reporting Period, we did not have any major non-compliance

or any case of corruption and fraud.

Anti-corruption Training
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Indicators Data for 2021
Eifd 2021 FHIE
Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices (cases)

CSEAESHARGEE (B) 0
Number of Directors participating in anti-corruption training (persons)

SHERESEIESHAR(A) 5
Number of employees participating in anti-corruption training (persons)

SHEREFFIETHAB(A) 1,800
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IX. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT

The Company always keeps in mind the brand concept of “creating
trends and delivering fineness” and is committed to a warm brand. We
highly value and actively undertake corporate social responsibility by
investing in ecological environmental protection, rural revitalization as
well as supporting aesthetics, education and other fields. Besides, we
participate in community welfare-related activities in various forms,
maintain communication and friendly relations with the surrounding
communities, striving to be an outstanding corporate citizen and

creating value for society on an ongoing basis.

Cash donation for 2021:

Approximately RMB10.5348 million

Public auction for 2021:

Approximately RMB361,100

Case: Protecting ecological environment and practicing the
concept of sustainable development

The Company is deeply aware of the importance of protecting the
ecological environment. On 4 June 2021, DIMOO, the Company’s dream
ambassador, co-branded Kiehl's to launch the limited edition of panda
charity product and donated part of the proceeds from the two summer
charity products to the waste harmless treatment and water purification
project in the wild panda habitat. In addition, we practiced the concept
of sustainable development by launching charity products, so as to

promote the harmonious coexistence between human and nature.
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In response to the Kunming Declaration of the COP15 of the United
Nations Convention on Biological Diversity, on 22 October 2021, on the
occasion of the launch of the DIMOO Forest Night series, we donated
RMB500,000 to the China Environmental Protection Foundation in
collaboration with DIMOO designer Ayan, to build a Pop Mart beaver
conservation public welfare forest for the conservation of endangered

species.

POPMART @ *eanwwses ymEBEmE

QiERBFEvEERE

EIEEB~] 8

AR EE ( EMSHEEAY ) F+RRE
HEKRe (RBPSES ) @AEBEHESDIMOO
®RitfAyan—EEHERBRIFPESSIBE
5067, BTHNEYMRITTERIPIRE, H
ESZ A S B AIEHEAMIRKE .

*

REEBEBECENERUERYIETRR
EHITRE(COPISKEMBEEE ) » 2021410
A228 ' EDIMOOBRMZ R AT EMBE
2B APIEE A DIMOORR AT AT Ayan 6] o 2
BREREESSBESIETARE » g1
ERIB R RRE AN - REVEEYE -

Pop Mart beaver public welfare forest

RB R TERE QM

Case: Driving rural revitalization and promoting regional
industrial development

The Company actively responds to the national policy and supports
rural revitalization. On 14 June 2021, the Company cooperated with
the Shanpin Gongshe (&M 7ZA4L) platform of China Foundation for
Poverty Alleviation to hold an activity with the theme being “Responsible
Consumption at Dragon Boat Festival (EIFiHTF « EEHE)", and
purchased over RMB200,000 of agricultural products from poverty-
stricken areas as the welfare of Dragon Boat Festival for the staffs,
supporting the industrial development of poverty-stricken areas through
responsible consumption, thereby boosting the poverty alleviation and

income growth.
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Pop Mart’s activity themed by “Responsible Consumption at Dragon Boat Festival”

BARKERERT BEHEIXEEY

On 18 August 2021, the first cultural revitalization public welfare
project donated by the Company through the China Volunteer Service
Foundation was officially launched in Mengjiazhuang Village, Liuzhangzi
Township, Chengde County, Hebei Province. We donated RMB300,000
to the village for the construction of cultural and creative sculpture
works and set up an educational fund to help local students from
indigent families complete their studies. Relying on the advantages
of creative culture, we help the construction of landmark cultural and
entertainment industrial clusters to promote the development of local
tourism and assist to create a livable and ecologically beautiful new

countryside.
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Pop Mart’s large-scale sculpture “Little Painter Molly” settled in Mengjiazhuang Village
BEABRAEMB[NERKA I BZFREREN
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Case: Supporting local education by carrying out aesthetic
education projects

The Company actively supports local education and carries out a
number of aesthetic education projects to help children in mountainous

areas and to develop aesthetic education in rural schools.

In 2021, we officially launched the first brand public welfare project
“POP MART Public Welfare Aesthetic Education Center”. Combined
with the national policies on aesthetic education reform in rural, we
donated RMB360,000 to the China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation
in the first batch to build two aesthetic education centers in Jiangkou
Town Central Primary School and Liangji Town Central Primary School,
respectively, and to provide art packages to 14 rural schools in Li
County, Longnan City, Gansu Province, therefore helping rural children
in terms of educational resources and school supplies. We cooperated
with the Ullens Center for Contemporary Arts (UCCA) Beijing Foundation
to develop art courses, through online and offline teaching methods,
to help teachers and students improve their abilities and qualities in

aesthetic education, and to support the development of local education.

R XFWEHE  HRXEHA
HH
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Public welfare aesthetic education activities carried out by Pop Mart
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Case: Deepening school-enterprise cooperation to cultivate
artistic and cultural talents

The Company resolutely implements the policy of “Integration
of Industry and Education” of the 19th National Congress of the
Communist Party of China and has established and deepened school-
enterprise cooperation with many universities and colleges across
the country. In January 2021, we donated RMB3 million to the Peking
University Education Foundation and co-founded the Research Center
for Business and Arts with the Guanghua School of Management of
Peking University to promote talents training and industry development
in the art and culture industry. In November, we made our first donation
of RMB720,000 to the Communication University of China Education
Foundation to fund the talents training and specialty construction of
the School of Animation and Digital Arts, Communication University
of China, and support the development and academic exchanges of

Chinese fashion trend research and trend creative design courses.

Case: Focusing on public welfare and delivering beauty to
the society

The Company deeply understands that the development and growth
of an enterprise is inseparable from the support of all sectors of society,
and always insists on striding forward on the road of delivering beauty
to public welfare and provides care for individuals or groups in need. On
1 June 2021, the Company and the Ai You Foundation jointly launched
the “Childishness never dies” theme activity at Children’s Day to send
holiday gifts and warm companionship to nearly 1,000 hospitalized
children in 8 hospitals in Shanghai, Tianjin and other cities. We organized
staff volunteers from Nanjing Branch to Nanjing Children’s Hospital for
helping the children being treated in the hospital adapt to the medical
scene and pass warmth to the children through diversified activities.
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Pop Mart and Ai You Foundation gave holiday gifts to hospitalized children
BABEREFEhEEESERAERREXLHAEY
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Case: Launching a co-branding public welfare image to pay
tribute to the aerospace industry

On 16 October 2021, the crewed spaceship Shenzhou-13 was
successfully launched at the Jiuquan Satellite Launch Center in China.
The Company and Shanghai ASES Spaceflight Technology Co., Ltd.
jointly launched the public welfare image of “"MEGA Collection Series
1000% SPACE MOLLY Lunar Rock’, which was exhibited at the China
Science and Technology Museum and officially commenced pre-sale by
lottery with a limited edition of 500. We donated all the proceeds from
200 “SPACE MOLLY Lunar Rock” public welfare image dolls embedded
with rocket fragments to help the development of aerospace popular
science education.

S
E=E
2021510 A16 8 AT =5E ARMIE
FEDERFEEG R OKINES - AT
B EEREKITMARBEER AR A EHR T
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“SPACE MOLLY Lunar Rock” were exhibited at the China Science and Technology Museum
[SPACE MOLLY A& | EHERHLER H

Case: Supporting the disaster front line and delivering hope
to disaster areas

As one of the outstanding national enterprises, the Company offered
its support immediately to the front-line work in disaster areas. On 21
July 2021, several districts in Henan province, including Zhengzhou,
encountered extremely heavy rainfall, and thus the Board of the
Company convened emergency meetings and made a first-time
donation of RMB5 million to the Henan Charity Federation to support
the flood control and disaster relief work in Zhengzhou, Xinxiang and
other districts. In addition, we sent volunteers to the disaster-hit areas
to assist the front-line flood control and flood fighting work on 23 July,
which helped bring support and hope to the victims and conveyed

warmth and care to them.
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The Company obtained several awards and honors due to its
outstanding performance in social welfare during the year. On
September 16, 2021, the Beijing Federation of Industry and Commerce
released the “1+4" lists of the 2021 Beijing Top 100 Private Enterprises
QO RREEER R 1+4' 5%
of the "Beijing Top 100 Private Enterprises in Social Responsibilities”
(tRRETEMGEMLHM) for its initiatives in the fields of

environmental protection and rural revitalization. On 24 November, the

), the Company was selected as one

Company was awarded the “"Outstanding Enterprise in Social Practice”
HEEREL D) due to its “Rural Children’s Aesthetic Education
HBNREXZFHEERER) in the

“Business for Good, Creating Sustainable Future Together — 2021 Annual

Development Special Project”

Forum on Responsible Power of China Benefit Corporation” (B ¥R 2 -
HEIRTHF R RIEENFEE R
Tencent News in Beijing. On 18 December, with the theme of “Fortune
(FEHEF—DEMER),
the 2021 China Top 500 Enterprises in Charity and the 5th Business and

EiE N

18) organized by

and Responsibility — Value of Enterprise”

Philanthropy Forum was held in Chongging. The Company was granted
two awards, i.e. “2021 China Top 500 Enterprises in Charity” (2021 Bl
FZZE N7 50058) and “2021 China Top 500 Enterprises in Donation for
Flood Fighting” (2021 /Bl 1 247 8 8 50058).

2021 FIRIE - HEREARRE

ERAFEELAE NS FEMRERIE
BAVES T ZEARIFETRE - 20215F9A 16
H tRmIEEegREMm2021tnRE
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HOMORARY CREDENTIAL

Pop Mart won the awards of “2021 China Top 500 Enterprises in Charity” (2021 F Bl %22 A #50058) and
“2021 China Top 500 Enterprises in Donation for Flood Fighting” (2021 Bl {3 #1182 50058)
BBAS 2021 PEIBERE A 50058 | R [2021 PEIBEHMIBE5003 | 218

Looking forward to the future, the Company will continue to play
the cohesive power of popular trendy toy culture, pay attention to
social demands and actively engage in community development so
as to achieve joint development of the Company and its stakeholders,
ultimately giving back to the society and make contributions to promote

the economic and social development.

BRI ANR R M B I U
RENE  BIHERR BEHRSEHR
BRER  SNERCFEEANFN @AM
THHEER  RERTHRELE - A

REEPHSEREMNE -
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ESG INDICATOR INDEX ESGIEFRE 5

Content
RE

Section

B

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements
BERERE

Governance Structure:

rq A\m %

A statement from the board containing the following elements:
HESFRHNER  EPHEFTINARR
(i) adisclosure of the board's oversight of ESG issues;
() BERESEFHRE HIRELFENEE
(i) the board’s ESG management approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate,
prioritise and manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to the issuer’s businesses); and
(i) BEEERIRE  HERERTENHLER  BETH  BAHETEEENERE dek
ERHHMEE (BREFBTAEBNEAR) VBRE - &
(iii) how the board reviews progress made against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation
of how they relate to the issuer’s businesses.
(i) BEFSWARERE 4 RERERERREE - WHRET PN ERET ARG ARE
A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the Reporting Principles (Materiality, Quantitative and
Consistency) in the preparation of the ESG Report.
M EEREBERE L2 NEARSRHNAERERRY (EEE - S(M—2E) -
A narrative explaining the reporting scope of the ESG Report and describing the process used to identify which
entities or operations are included in the ESG Report. If there is a change in the scope, the issuer should explain
the difference and reason for the change.
FREEIRIN - ?i@&%ﬂéi&iﬂ’alii&%ﬁl - R R Y

e BB XISMARE - B NEAMENIBIE -
FERBEAMNE  BTARRETRZERESHREA -
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About this Report
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Content

AES

Section

B

“Comply or explain” Provisions
[ TE<FRRR R

A. Environmental

A. RIFEEE

A1 Emissions

A EERR D

General Disclosure

— AR EE

Information on:
BHERIORERBHR - MKRIOEDS BEREBEREZEVNELESH
(@) the policies; and

@) BXE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to air and

greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous

waste.
(b) BTHEITABEAZENRBEIERRIINER
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

RS AE DUR IR A1 BER Y R IE R AR R BERBUR -

KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BIRERIE A 28 (8B —) RegREE (8E - ) RERBINE UABEFE) X
(MABESER - BEREHE) -

KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity

(Em) =E

(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

BRETIEEAM IMELEEREMAE (JANER

KPI' A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
FARESEFAMATEEREEZYRE

(AMEEHE) & (003E ) 28 (A SES SR - §EEmE) -

KPI'A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

RSB RUE IR A SR PRRT LBV E B IR R miE BE & B IRPT IR P88 -

KPI' A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BRERIERA MR BEERBEEEYN L - I8
PRERE) P8R -

AFTET SRR B AR MR E RS L B AR P

Environment
Management
REERE

Environment

Key Performance
Indicators
RIBARERIER
Environment

Key Performance
Indicators
RIFARENUER
Environment

Key Performance
Indicators
RIBRRERIER
Environment

Key Performance
Indicators
RIEMRERIER
Environment
Management
REER
Environment
Management
RIFEE
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Content
AR

Section

B

A2 Use of Resources

A2EIRER

General Disclosure

—ARIKEE

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw materials.
BRUERER (BIEERR - KREMEREMED BUR

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in buildings, electronic equipment, etc.
o BRAAREE  #F RB - EF BFRES-

KPI'A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in

total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRERIRFA2VRENE SN EE R/ SHZER (WE - fooh) B8 UATRETREFE) &
TR (MABES SN - BIARBIE) -

KPI' A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BREBIERAL2EFKERTE (MMANSES SN - BERBITE) °

KPI' A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

RS AR DR IR A2 MR AL PR S M BER(E et B IR M A 215 4k B AR FTEREREV P B

KPI' A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose,

water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

RSB BUE IR A2 A6 SKEUE KR E R BRI R - A RPIRIZ B AR B R R RERE LB R
FRERERH) 25 »

KPI'A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if applicable,

with reference to per unit produced.

BIRAERIERA2S RN mATA B EM M EE (AN E) &K (NER) SEEEUGE -

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5
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Content Section
AR =8

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

ASRIERRARER

General Disclosure Environment
—MRARER Management
Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and natural resources. RIFERE
BE LT AR RE N RAERERERZENBR

KPI'A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and natural resources and Environment
the actions taken to manage them. Management
BSE SRR ANV EBEHHRBERRABRNEATZEREEKNEREHELENTE - RIEER
A4 Climate Change

AARIRE

General Disclosure Environment
—MRAREE Management
Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues which have impacted, RIFERE

and those which may impact, the issuer.
BRINEHEAR AT EHBETAEELENEARIFEEETHBOR -

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, Environment

the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them. Management
BRBERUERAMIMAER R AT S HBETAEERENEARRIEMRER - RELHTTH - RIEER

B. Social

B. HEHE

B1 Employment

B1{E(E

General Disclosure Employment and
—MRAREE Labor Standards
Information on: ERE RSB TAER

BEAHI N AR E  BEIET - TEREC BRYE - FERE St RERAREMFBREN

(a) the policies; and

@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

(b) BTHEITABEAZENRBEIERRIINES

KPI'B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), Employment and
age group and geographical region. Labor Standards
BISHERUEEBRIE R - EIRAR (M2 REERE) - FRER bR EIDMES @S - 1R Ko 55 T#ER
KPI' B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. Employment and
RSB RUIEIER1 2R MR - FEeAAR| Rib R E D AIEEBRKLLE - Labor Standards

1EfR K85 TR
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Content
AT

Section

B

B2 Health and Safety

B2l Z 2

General Disclosure

— MR R

Information on:

BEARELZE2TIERSERRERESBRBESEN

(a) the policies; and

@ BE: M

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
providing a safe working environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

(b) BFEHETABEAZENBBEERMAOINER

KPI' B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three

years including the reporting year.

BRERIEEBLIBRE=F (BEEREE) BFRAT TR ABKLLILE -

KPI'B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

s EBIRIER 2 A TEBATER S -

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they

are implemented and monitored.

RS AE IR IR A AT IR MM B R I R 2 2556 - DA RMERR AT REEZRTT0% o
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Content
AR

Section

B

B3 Development and Training

B3E /& K&

General Disclosure

— MR R

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

BRRTHE B BT TR E M A R B B BUR - FFINES) -

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external courses paid by the employer.
i IEAIEREET - AR R EE N BRI ARIMIRIE -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category

(e.g. senior management, middle management).

RARERUEIEB3 N RIE R LEE R (MERERE PRAETEE) BAO0NXIEETL -
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee category.

MRERIEER 2R MR R BREENE Y - BREETKZ N FIIRE -

B4 Labor Standards

B4%5 T#A|

General Disclosure

— AR

Information on:

B IEE Tesabilss T

(@) the policies; and

@ BE: &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to preventing child and forced labor.

(o) BFHBETARGEAZENBBEZLADINER -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and forced labor.

FASEAE IR IR B4 HE AR R RIS B I B HE AR R E T MR85 T -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.

RS A IR R4 2 i FE IR B RIS BIR B BB R AT EREH) 5K
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Content Section
RE =1
B5 Supply Chain Management
B5LIEREE
General Disclosure Supply Chain
—MRARER Management
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. HEEER
EIRHEBENIRE Mt g EREGE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
RASRAERIEIEBS R E B D ML ER 2L E - Management
g E IR
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers where the Supply Chain
practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
RASEAE SRR Bs 2t B RIS A R eV 1B 0 - ME T ERBESINEEEEE - UEREERTR HrEsEE e
BERPE o
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along the Supply Chain
supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
BIBHERUERBS 3t AL B B B B ERSHRIB LA G EBES - AREERITRERTE - HrEgEeEe
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products and Supply Chain
services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and monitored. Management
B BEAE BUBIRBS 4 H AL TE BROE (LB R I (2 62 2 FIRIREE i R RTE VB B - A RABRIEIT B RTTE » HrEgEER
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Content Section
RE =1

B6 Product Responsibility

Be EmEIE

General Disclosure Responsible
—R = Operations
Information on: &S

BRAMRHERNRENERAZS - BS  SHRLLBFEUARBRITED
(a) the policies; and

@ X &

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to health

and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and methods

of redress.

(b) ETHEITABERTZENERERNROINER -

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.

MR ENIERRe EERCEXERBAHT AL BEREMMARDKNBE DL

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are dealt with.

RSB IR IR B0 2K BRI N E m R RIS VIR AR BB PA R BRI 7% ©

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual property rights.

FASEAE IR 1R Be 3t Bl M i R IE R ERE B RE V1B DI o

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.
BRERUEZBe 4L E ST BIE REmBYIEFF -

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

MREBIEERe STV BEEBERRERILBEE - URABERTRERTE -

Responsible
Operations
BERE
Responsible
Operations
BIERE
Responsible
Operations
BEKE
Responsible
Operations
BEKE
Responsible
Operations

BEEE
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Content
AR

Section

B

B7 Anti-corruption

B7TRES

General Disclosure

— MR R

Information on:

BRI IEERES - BIR - MGFRERER

(a) the policies; and

@ BE: M

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

(b) BFEHETABEAZENBBEERMAOINER

KPI'B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against the

issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

R ERUEEB7 VRN ERAAE BT ASHES ROV E AN ESHARMFHNEE LFRER -

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how they

are implemented and monitored.

BABERUREB7 2 [ # e S B IRAR T - A BB AT R BRI ©

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

BRAENIER7 I MESR R B TRRHHREISE -

B8 Community Investment

BS#LEIRE

General Disclosure

— MR R

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the communities where the

issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.

B EZERTREEMELRFENEREERZHSEBHENROBER

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labor needs, health, culture, sport).
BB RUETRS. I B RS (B RIEFE  SIHK  BF Xt 8B5F5)-

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

RRENIEER A IH B AP AER (NS FHEHE)

POP MART
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To the Shareholders of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP
LIMITED (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set out
on pages 165 to 300, comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income for the year then ended,;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A BET R S

§

™

BRARKEREEARAARR
(REESHSTMATHERAA)

=R
HACHETHAR

ARAIBREEEBERAB (U TEHBIER

TJ)&EW% Bl (ATHBEEEE ) 5IER

F165F300 AL A BIIETRE © BIE
R2021F 12 A1 BGAEERGBR ¢

BEZALFENGEBEEAEMEEE

BEZRLFENGARERER K

RAEMBHRRNE BRI ESTEERR
EREMERER -

KPHWER
HMRA EZW%AH%F*&%EWHIW B 7
BELERDEEMR SRR T EER2021

F12H31H E’]Z*AﬁﬁiinR&E%ZiEZEIJtE
ENGRAVBRARMGEHEESRE  YEER
ERECARMEDD) BB EBIREZ R hE -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
("IESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment provision for

inventories.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

RENER

BAEREBECEBRFRER)ETER - RAE
ZEEATHAENEICEAREZEUENE
AHEARMBHRRAENEES SR IEE— S8
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R

EEEEE (%)

Key Audit Matter
BARETSER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEHONTEEREENER

Impairment provision for inventories

FEREER

Refer to notes 2.12, 4(a) and 21 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BRMGE M EHREMNE2.12 - 4(a) K21 -

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s balance of gross
inventories was RMB794 million, against which a provision of
RMBS5 million was made.

R2021512A31H » BEXEENETEEBRARKE74BE
TC WEHRE G ERELEEARBSHET °

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
FERRAMA ST FEME PBIEED® - JRHHER
BELERKLBIETNMETEEREMFTH T TRAMER
HUSHE PTRAZR o

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration
of key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection,
estimated future selling prices and selling expenses of the
respective inventories.

FENRBEEEGT P REEEEANE  ZS5HEFER
FEERAERE - RARHETER  FBEARREBUARHER X EM

We considered this is a key audit matter because the
impairment assessment involved significant management’s
judgement.
ENREM LT REREEAFE - RMRRES—(ERHEE
FEHAtEE -

We have performed the following procedures to address this
key audit matter:

HFIRERIEE —BRB FENT T ATER

We assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors;

BAIVE BT A EH R A E A [E A R b E R 8K
% URHEE AR E A E b

We understood and evaluated management'’s internal
control and assessment process of impairment provision
for inventories and tested the key controls over
management’s estimation of impairment provision for

inventories;

BT RYFHE T BB S TSR E R A R 5 A

AEBEE - MR TERBETERELEBATHEEE
&

We discussed with management and evaluated the
appropriateness of the method and assumptions used in
impairment provision for inventories;
BMEEREN WL G T FEREEBERNTGA
MEBHROBEZ M

We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment provision for inventories to assess the
effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

BPIE DA AT BRI B R (B 2 B0 AT ik 45 RAETT T R1ME -
NEEEREGFHRENARIL
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

EEEEE (%)

Key Audit Matter
BRENER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNAREBRETEE

We tested the aging profile of inventories items on a
sample basis by checking to relevant documents including
goods receipt notes;

BBEAMER (BREESE)ZY e ER
FHEEENEREBET TR

We compared the carrying amount of the inventories, on
a sample basis, to their net realisable value through review
of sales subsequent to the year end;

BB BHFRUAENEESERNETEDS - EHENE
% e REEEEN SR HEET TR

We assessed the reasonableness of methods and
assumptions applied to the provisions by challenging
management’s future sales projection, estimated future
selling prices and selling expenses, with reference to
industry trend, approved budget developed based on
historical data and actual sales subsequent to the year end;
HBEREREEBNARKIFETRN - RKHEREM
HEBMNMF (2BTEBE)  REELEHSIER
REMBELFERRNBERBEE - fFHEBHETENR
BHEIRE

We checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculation
of the provision for inventories;

BARE T FEREEGBT B LR

We observed the physical condition of inventories during
stocktake to identify if any inventories were damaged,
or obsolete and inquired management if appropriate
inventories provision has been made.
BMAEFERHBHESE T FENDEARR - TR
EeaHRBEESRE  UHAREEEEEE(FLER
WESREERE -

We found the assumptions adopted and judgment applied by
management in the determination of impairment provision for
inventories were supported by the evidence we gathered.
BMRR - ERETEREFEREEBFRANBRRNER
B HIET IS B IR AT 4K o
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all of the information included in 2021 annual
report of POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED (the “Annual Report”)
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report
thereon. We have obtained some of the other information including the
Management Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report.
The remaining other information, including the Financial Summary, Report of
Directors, Chairman’s Statement, Corporate Governance Report, Biographies
of Directors and Senior Management, Environmental, Social and Governance

Report, is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the remaining other information to be included in the Annual
Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we
are required to communicate the matter to the Audit Committee and take

appropriate action considering our legal rights and obligations.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R

Hft s 5

BERARESAHAMEEAE - AR B
J%mﬂ@%%a%ilﬁ@“ﬂwmiiﬁ
(IF®]) ANFEBEREE - BETBHES %%
BREBMOZEEMRE O%tfﬁEiﬂy%%%B
finfs B - BIERMEANZ A ®RE B ATEE
ERENWEST R THMERS (RIENK
BME - - EEghE EEREF  LEEAR®
HEERRREEEBEUARIEN HER
ERaWmE) BHeEAREAKRE BEIUS -

ﬁﬁﬂﬁé%ﬁﬁ%%gﬁﬁxﬁ%ﬁm%
CBMBR Tt A EZEEME R BEREM
Hxﬂm%uﬁzn Ay ©

FRRMEREMBHRRNES  RANECE
EMELANEMER  EUEESR  BEHE
ERREEEA M BERRAKMAEEBRE
¢%T%W1ﬁf&ikﬁ%ﬁ%@?ﬁﬁi
REFREL A E

ERBMEERZBEHRE AATERGHEM(E
BTN TIE WRRMAR/EMESFE
BRERRL - RMFEREZEE - HEES

| BPRBERERSE -

EHRMEEFRAMSESREMEREL MR
BMRAERFEERERBRL - ZRMTEEH
BHEEHEARGTZEFER  UEERMNZE
BRENMNEFZRIEETY -

—Z=— 53 ANNUALREPORT 2021 § POP MART

161



162

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

POP MART
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B A% B R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B A% B R

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Yuen Kwok Sun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GRERERREMEZERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Hiat AR¥ET T AERBTTT
Revenue Wa 5 4,490,651 2,513,471
Cost of sales B E AR 6 (1,732,027) (919,363)
Gross profit EF 2,758,624 1,594,108
Distribution and selling expenses IH R IHER X (1,106,078) (630,069)
General and administrative expenses — M EITHFAY (557,509) (279,967)
(Provision for)/reversal of impairment SREERE (BE), #Ro
on financial assets (1,435) 398
Other income H A A 7 54,425 45,420
Other gains/(losses) - net Hulezs /(B18) — F8 8 1,785 (11,107)
Operating profit R A 1,149,812 718,783
Finance income MU 9 28,609 1,953
Finance expenses MEHE 9 (21,246) (10,946)
Finance income/(expenses) — net MBRA S (FX)— F48 9 7,363 (8,993)
Fair value changes of convertible AEBERELERN AT EY
redeemable preferred shares 33 - (6,260)
Share of profit of investments DR AERE ARG & T
accounted for using the equity method 17 14,016 3,873
Profit before income tax BR AT 15 B AT 2 A 1,171,191 707,403
Income tax expense i 10 (316,624) (184,091)
Profit for the year FREF 854,567 523,312
Profit for the year attributable to: LT G FERER
- Owners of the Company — RRRHEA A 854,339 523,505
- Non-controlling interests — RS 228 (193)
854,567 523,312
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mERERkEMEERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
Wizt ARBT AEBTT
Other comprehensive loss Hit2HEEE
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss AIBEEFHT DB E Bz AIEE
— Currency translation differences —BE¥HBmEERE (12,629) (25,726)
ltems that will not be reclassified to BAgEFHEEBEEZHIEE
profit or loss
- Currency translation differences —E¥nEERE (102,926) (13,050)
Other comprehensive loss for the year, FREMZEEE
net of tax BREiE (115,555) (38,776)
Total comprehensive income for the year FR2HEWKFZHETE 739,012 484,536
Total comprehensive income for the year U TEMFERZEUEEE :
attributable to:
- Owners of the Company — RRRHE A 738,816 484,604
— Non-controlling interests S 196 (68)
739,012 484,536
Earnings per share for profit attributable 4~ T #A A BAGEFRI A
to owners of the Company SREF
— Basic (expressed in RMB per share) —EX(UAFRARETERT) 12 0.62 0.44
— Diluted (expressed in RMB per share) — 88 (UERARBITER) 12 0.62 0.44

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

mEBEERER

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Hiat AR¥ET T AERBTTT
Assets &=
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment I E Y E S i 13 366,281 238,325
Intangible assets mLEE 14 134,032 92,731
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 609,517 287,799
Investments accounted for using FAEREARNRE
the equity method 17 61,539 50,380
Financial assets at fair value through BATEEEEEH
profit or loss TABZNEREE 23 328,688 16,900
Prepayments and other non-current assets ~ FAFIB R EMIERENEE 22 30,727 6,177
Deferred income tax assets BEMSHEE 18 35,553 23,087
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 1,566,337 715,399
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables g 5 W GRIA 19 171,334 78,334
Other receivables o FEUGRIE 20 154,939 90,781
Inventories 3 21 788,829 225,369
Prepayments and other current assets TERTRIE R A MR B A E 22 353,580 177,918
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFAEBZSNESREE
profit or loss 23 20,544 -
Restricted cash HEHRE 24 3,353 3,263
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 24 5,264,710 5,680,235
Total current assets BREEE 6,757,289 6,255,900
Total assets BEE 8,323,626 6,971,299
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HEEESER
As at 31 December
MA12H31H
2021 2020
20214 20204F
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
K et AR¥T AREBFT
Equity &
Share capital & 7 25 923 923
Shares held for Share Award Scheme TR EENET IS B R, 26 (15) (16)
Other reserves HE M 27 5,023,583 5,189,115
Retained earnings REBAEF 1,793,691 939,352
Equity attributable to owners of EATEE AEEER
the Company 6,818,182 6,129,374
Non-controlling interests in equity FEPERR R 1,824 1,628
Total equity MR 6,820,006 6,131,002
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
License fees payables [ERTRIEE 30 46,371 27,934
Lease liabilities HEBE 15 364,543 147,050
Total non-current liabilities “BERBHER 410,914 174,984
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables =Y AN e 29 266,098 115,804
License fees payables JERRES 30 86,004 58,880
Other payables H T 5RIR 37 266,902 202,297
Contract liabilities aBHEE 32 119,624 83,941
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 256,909 144,724
Current income tax liabilities BIERFTBTaE 97,169 59,667
Total current liabilities HwWhREaE 1,092,706 665,313
Total liabilities wmas 1,503,620 840,297
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 8,323,626 6,971,299
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The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 165 to 300 were approved by the Board of

Directors on 28 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

Mr. Wang Ning
TREE
Executive Director & Chairman

HITEERER

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
mERERMEX

A b EEE R BEREEBEMHE G5 -

F165BEF300 B MM IEMERR2022F3 A28 H
EEEgifE  WATIIESAREE

Mr. Si De
AfELAE
Executive Director

WITES

—Z—— 535 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 J POP MART

169



170

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

mERBEHR

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARHE AEL
Shares held
for Share Non-
Share Award Other  Retained controlling
capital Scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
ARORE
STEBEN
e Ry  HfbRE  REEF Mt FERER CH
(Note25)  (Note 26) (Note 27)
(Watas)  (W2e)  (W&27)
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mgt | AR¥FR AR®Tr ARETR ARETR AR%Tn ARMTR AR%ET:x
Balance at 1 January 2021 R2021F1 R BER 923 (16) 5,189,115 939352 6,129,374 1,628 6,131,002
Comprehensive income 2HEKE
Profit for the year ERET - - - 854,339 854,339 228 854,567
Other comprehensiveincome  Eft2EME
Currency translation difference RREEE - - (115523 - (115523 (32 (115,555)
Total comprehensive income eilenttl - - (115523) 854,339 738,816 196 739,012
Transaction with owners BRBEANRS
Dividends declared and paid ERREAHRE - - (205:833) - (205,833) - (205,833)
Share vested under the Share RERDR REBIHE Rl
Award Scheme 28 - 1 (1) - - - -
Share-based compensation AR BEREMBREHE S
expenses 28 - - 155,825 - 155,825 - 155,825
Total transaction with owners ~ BREHANR 5 A% - 1 (50,009) - (50,008) - (50,008)
Balance at 31 December 2021 12021512 A31 BH&Sh 923 (15 5023583 1793691 6,818,182 1824 6,820,006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY

GAREBBE
Attributable to owners of the Company
b YNSiE Z PN
Shares held
for Share Non-
Share Award Other Retained controlling
capital Scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
AT 5B
HEEE!
jig Ry EtEE  REEN NGE SEERER At
(Note 25) (Note 26) (Note 27)
(Fsras)  (Bigke)  (WEE27)
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
M#  ARETR ARETr ARBTT ARETR ARGTR AREBTT ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2020 ®2020F1 A1 AR 82 - 169,631 423068 592,781 - 592,781
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit/(loss) for the year ERET/(BR) - - - 523,505 523,505 (193) 523312
Other comprehensiveincome  Eft2EME
Currency translation difference ERimEEs - - (38901) - (38901) 125 (38776)
Total comprehensive income 2ERELE - - (38901) 523,505 484,604 (68) 484,536
Transaction with owners BRBEANRS
Profit appropriation to BREETERELRT

statutory reserves - - 7221 (7221) - - -
Non-controlling interests arising on 744 HHE R FEERIER

business combination - - - - - 1,696 1,696
Re-designation of ordinary shares ~ EFHETE & BB AE LR

to preferred shares 25 (3) - (499,658) - (499,661) - (499,661)
Issuance of ordinary shares to MERRRETLER

the then shareholders 25 4 - 393,801 - 393,805 - 393,805
Conversion of convertible ERERELRER

redeemable preferred shares BERR

into ordinary shares 25 3 - 626,922 - 626,925 - 626,925
Issuance of ordinary shares under  IREEMR 148 1 23T &

Restricted Share Award Scheme BT E@R 25 2 2) - - - - -
Capitalisation issue EALET 25 733 (14) (719) - - - -
Issuance of new ordinary shares  B{THT LB 25 89 - 4409110 - 4409199 - 4409199
Issuance of ordinary shares upon  TREARCEIESTE (4

exercise of over-allotment option BT L @R 25 13 - 661,269 - 661,282 - 661,282
Share issuance costs RABIRAE - - (154,902) - (154,902) - (154902)
Dividends declared ERRE - - (384659) - (384659 - (384659
Total transaction with owners ~ EEBANR B 841 (16) 5058385 (7201) 5051989 1696 5053685
Balance at 31 December 2020  R2020 12831 B8R 923 (16) 5189115 939352 6129374 168 6131002
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in VA B4R T a1 B0 B 2% 8 ERBERT B 5 — T BIE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
CASH FLOWS

MERITRER

OF

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
Wizt ARBT T AERBTTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELENRERE
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 35(a) 1,042,075 899,881
Interest received A 28,609 1,953
Income tax paid BEARATSH (291,587) (198,476)
Net cash generated from RETHABRSTFHE
operating activities 779,097 703,358
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELENESRE
Increase in financial assets at fair BRAFEFABRN SR
value through profit or loss EEM (1,272,757) (247,400)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BELERE (287,502) (175,984)
Purchases of intangible assets BEBEEE (46,246) (47,608)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at R EIZAFEFABZNSHEE
fair value through profit or loss FTiS 738 950,988 281,653
Investment income from financial assets at fair A EFTABZNEREERE
value through profit or loss A 4,832 -
Dividends received from an associate U B — FE B 2 N BIRR B 2,074 -
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and LEWE - BELEHE  BREE
equipment, intangible assets FriS5R 609 2,713
Investment in a joint venture R—REEEENIR] = (4,475)
Investment in an associate R—REEE QN TIRE - (27,424)
Cash acquired from business combination ¥BGEeMHESNERES - 1,590
Net cash used in investing activities RETBFTAESFEE (648,002) (216,935)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
FERERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Note RMB’'000 RMB'000
HiaE ARBT AEBTT
Cash flows from financing activities MELTBHELNESRE
Payment of lease liabilities HEBENK 15 (220,126) (147,995)
Dividends paid ERRE (208,834) (377,580)
Payment for listing expenses EmRZAAR (6,867) (154,902)
Capital injection from the shareholders RARBIREFE
of the Company - 398,375
Deemed distribution to the then BRIEDRTERRRIABE FHE
shareholders for purchasing %
the Listing Business - (4,566)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary BATE R PTSRIE
shares 25 - 5,070,481
Proceeds from issuance of convertible 4T A1 E A ] B B8 ST IR B PR 1S 3X
redeemable preferred shares 18 33 - 86,561
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEE (FTH), ERLFHE
financing activities (435,827) 4,870,374
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRBELESEY CBD)
cash equivalents EHNFEEE (304,732) 5,356,797
Cash and cash equivalents at FINEESRREEEY
beginning of the year 5,680,235 324,614
Exchange losses on cash and RekReFEVRENEBE
cash equivalents (110,793) (1,176)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRNESRBESEEY
the year 5,264,710 5,680,235
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR

GENERAL INFORMATION

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9 May 2019 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3
of 1961 as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address
of the Company's registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the product design and development and sale
of pop toys in the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") and certain
overseas countries and regions. The ultimate holding company of the
Company is GWF Holding Limited (formerly known as Grant Wang
Holding Limited), which is controlled by Mr. Wang Ning and his spouse,
Ms. Yang Tao.

Pursuant to a written resolution of all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) passed on 23 November 2020, conditional upon the
share premium account of the Company being credit as a result of the
issuance of new shares pursuant to the Global Offering, the directors
of the Company (the “Director”) were authorized to capitalize an
amount of USD112,128 towards paying up in full at par of 1,121,278,635
ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value each for allotment and issue to
the persons whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company at the close of business on the business day preceding 11

December 2020 (“Capitalization Issue”).

On 11 December 2020, the Company has successfully listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).
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2.1

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

(“RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue
by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2022.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the year presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group consisting

of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with IFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS") issued by International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB") and the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ("HKCO") Cap. 622.

(ii) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which are carried

at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(iii) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amendments for the first time

for their annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2021:

Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, Interest Rate Benchmark
IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 Reform —Phase 2

The Group also elected to adopt the following amendments early:

Amendment to IFRS 16 COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

The amendments stated above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to

significantly affect the current or future periods.

(iv) New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards, amendments to accounting
standards and interpretations have been published but are not
mandatory for 31 December 2021 reporting period and have not
been early adopted by the Group. These standards, amendments or
interpretations are not expected to have a material impact on the
Group in the current or future reporting periods and on foreseeable

future transactions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation

(i)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date

that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries
are shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit of loss
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity

and balance sheet respectively.

Subsidiary controlled through Contractual Arrangements

There is an entity controlled by the Group under Contractual
Arrangements. The Group does not have legal ownership in
equity of the structured entity. Nevertheless, under Contractual
Arrangement entered into with the Registered Shareholders of
the structured entity, the Company and its other legally owned
subsidiaries controlled the structured entity by way of controlling
the voting rights, governing its financial and operating policies,
appointing or removing the majority of members of its controlling
authorities, and casting the majority of votes at meetings of
such authorities. Accordingly, the Group has rights to exercise
power over the structured entity, receives variable returns from
involvement in the structured entity. As a result, it is presented as a

controlled structured entity of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (continued)
(ii) Joint arrangements

Under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint

arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.

Joint ventures

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity
method (see (iv) below), after initially being recognised at cost in

the consolidated balance sheet.

(iii) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting (see (iv) below), after initially being

recognised at cost.

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting (see (iv)

below), after initially being recognised at cost.

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares with
preferential rights or redeemable preferred shares

Investments in associates in the form of ordinary shares with
preferential rights or convertible redeemable preferred shares are
accounted as financial assets measured at fair value through profit

or loss (Note 2.10).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)

POLICIES (continued)
2.2 HEANRER (&)
(iv) R E

2.2 Principles of consolidation (continued)

(iv) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from joint ventures are

recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group's share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made

payments on behalf of the other entity.
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these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for

impairment in accordance with the policy described in Note 2.10.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Principles of consolidation (continued)
(v) Changes in ownership interests

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the group. A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received
is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to

owners of the Group.

When the group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of

equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where

appropriate.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations

(a)

Business combination under common control

Business combinations under common control refers to
combinations where combining entities are controlled by the same
parties before and after the combination and that control is not

transitory.

The acquirer measures both the consideration paid and the net
assets obtained at their carrying amounts. The difference between
the carrying amount of the net assets and carrying amount of
consideration paid is recorded in reserve. All direct transaction
cost attributable to the business combination is recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. However, the handling fees, commissions and other
expenses incurred for the issuance of equity instruments or
bonds for the business combination are recorded in the initial

measurement of the equity instruments and bonds respectively.

Business combination not under common control

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for
business combinations not under common control, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary

comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired

business

equity interests issued by the Group

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Business combinations (continued)

(b) Business combination not under common control
(continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non - controlling interest's proportionate share of the acquired

entity’s net identifiable assets.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of the:

consideration transferred,

amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity,

and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the

acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is

recognised directly in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar
borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under
comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is
classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified
as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with

changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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2

2.3

24

2.5

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

(b) Business combination not under common control
(continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are

recognised in profit or loss.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group on the basis of dividend

received and receivables.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the financial

information of the investee's net assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-makers
("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified

as executive director of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation
(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The functional currency of the Company is United
States Dollars (“USD") and the functional currency of the companies
outside of PRC is USD, Hong Kong Dollars ("HKD") or South Korea
Won ("KRW"). The consolidated financial information is presented in
Renminbi ("RMB"), which is the Company’s and Group's presentation

currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in
equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying
net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net

investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income within “finance expenses — net”.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income within “Other gains/(losses) - net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain

or loss.

AE:Z POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED SaiB 3545 R s BA R A A

2 EXSHEESRE 4w

2.6 INE]E

(i)

(i)

PR ZSIE
AEERERBNMBRRPATINIEA
BN EREEMENEZEERE
MEBTE([HEEE]) - XRFH
meEEE RET(1XT]) RPER
SMREIMEEER RET BT (T
) HFEE ([BE]) - REPBEH
RARE (TARKE D 2% ARBR
ARBRAEEZ25EH -

R 5 R AEER
UINEEITHZ ZRAR 5 A K E

ERSNERE - RIAINETHENER
HEERABBNAFRNERBERE
ERSNERE — RN BT RER o 10
ZENERE RS BERBADREL
REBERFREUDER BEAR
BONEBHE D FIRE - AR HERNE
PRI o

HEFEENINERBERGEEERNR
Hip2mREERA MRS — F8 ]
275 - FrAEEMINERENEGAE
mhEMEZERERATEbKE
(BR)—F8IZ27 -

ASNEREMN IR AT EFEZIEER
MR RREEAFEERZEX
BmE - RAVEIRNEERAGBZ
MEZHER/DNTERGIEEZ
—&bm o PINSEEMMEENRAEE (I
BAFEFABRNER) NEEER
ERRTFHRARSDTEKGLEEN

—55 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)
POLICIES (continued)

2.6 Foreign currency translation (continued) 2.6 IMNEMEE (48)
(i) Group companies (i) EE QAT
The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of ae B EE BB TEGINES
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have (HIEBRRE 2 S8 )MELER
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are HBRAIBA T HRABELRESEE

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are . BEEBBRAEICEENEE

translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet REE RN MERHKE

income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive - BEREWEERIZBARRAZZTES

income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is MERRE (FRIFLEEW FFZER

not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the S B EREXZHTENGIEY

rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income £ KE‘HQ?\&F’%?%E@X% H &

and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions), wme)

and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other - EENBEREBSRNEMEE

comprehensive income. Wz MTERR ©
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation RirE ANRE - MEGINE BB EMF
of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings BREUREFRRIEEEZEREZH
and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such R EM eI AEMEENENY =8
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When ARHEME2EKEER - B HE g
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the EBXNEEEKNZFRELDEM
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Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a AWE SN EBMEENEERAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.7

POP MART

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income during the financial period in which

they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Roboshop machines 5 years
Moulds 1.5-3 years
Equipment and others 5 years

Leasehold improvement  Shorter of remaining lease term or useful life

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains/(losses) - net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction-in-progress represents buildings, plant and/or machinery

under construction or pending installation and is stated at cost less

accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes the costs of construction

of buildings, the costs of plant and machinery, installation, testing

and other direct costs. No provision for depreciation is made on

construction-in-progress until such time as the relevant assets are

completed and ready for intended use.

2.8 Intangible assets

(i)

Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in note 2.3. Goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity

include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at
which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes,

being the operating segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)
(i) Software
Acquired software are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred

to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

(iii

=

Intellectual property rights (“IP Rights”)

Acquired IP rights are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Variable payments in relation to purchase of IP rights that
depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

(iv) Licensed intellectual properties (“Licensed IPs”)

License rights are stated at historical cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The historical
costs of license rights are measured at the present values of the
fixed minimum payments at the date of purchase of the respective
license rights. Variable payments in relation to license rights that
depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)
(v) Research and development costs

Research cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. Development cost is capitalised only if all of the

following conditions are satisfied:

it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will

be available for use

management intends to complete the software and use or sell

it
there is an ability to use or sell the software

it can be demonstrated how the software will generate

probable future economic benefits

adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete
the development and to use or sell the software are available,

and

the expenditure attributable to the software during its

development can be reliably measured.

Other development costs that do not meet those criteria are

expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Intangible assets (continued)
(vi) Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life

using the straight-line method over the following periods:

Software 5 years
IP rights 10 years
Licensed IPs 2-10 years

The Group estimates the useful life of the IP rights and Licensed IPs
based on the estimated period during which such assets can bring
economic benefit to the Group. The Group estimates the expected
lifecycle of major IPs will be more than 10 years. Among the rights
relating to each of the acquired IP rights, trademark has a term of
validity of 10 years and is subject to renewal after its expiration,
and patents for each IP are valid for 10 years from the date of
application. For acquired IP rights, the useful lives are determined
based on the shorter of the expected lifecycle of the IPs, and 10
years, being the term of validity of the major rights of the IP rights.
For licensed IPs, the useful lives are determined based on shorter
of the expected lifecycle of the IPs, and contractual term of the

respective license agreements (Note 4(b)).

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each

reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

(a)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI"), or through profit

or loss), and

those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value

through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its

business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(c) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL") are expensed in

profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely

payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement categories

into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit of loss and other comprehensive income when the
asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in interest income using the
effective interest rate method. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net in the consolidated statement

of profit of loss and other comprehensive income within “Other

gains/(losses) - net” in the period in which it arises.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity instruments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity instruments in OCl, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other gains, net when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised
in “Other gains/(losses) - net” in consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported separately from other changes

in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether

there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note
3.1(b) for details.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 EXSHEESRE 4w

Q0 REREMERMEE (&)

(c)

TE (&)
ERTH

AEBARFEHMERETAET
BREFE - WAKEEEERENH
e 25 #a TANQFER
mRER AERILEIBZEARE
& TEHATERERBIERLZSE
MOBERR - EASBEWEURNTH
AR ZERENRBHEER
BRPERSE MK EFHE

BAFEFABENENEENRT

BEEPRGAEaEME2EKER

B EM W (B18) — 58] %R

(@A) - R FEFARME

mEFENERERE - HREBR

(ARRERERER) N &M RF
EE)7) 55 -

RE

N S5 32 AT B 140 5% 5 £ B EL LA 5
RAFIBRNES TARBNERREE
B8 - AR E S ABUR R EE
BB -

HRE WA AEEERBEK
M BREENF IR AFFOBLITE
% 73 7R BRI 1) 16 E AR R U R R B
HREHZMEE (FBH2HME
3.1(b)) °

—Z=— 53 ANNUALREPORT 2021 § POP MART

193



194

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

—_

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

2.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average method. Costs of purchased
inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. It
excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.13 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as

current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2 EXSHEESRE 4w

2.13 Trade receivables (continued) 213 BEZENFRIE (&)

Due to the short-term nature of the current receivables, their carrying

amount is considered to be the same as their fair value.

Details about the Group's impairment policies and the calculation of the

loss allowance are provided in Note 3.1(b).

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other short-
term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months

or less.

2.15 Share capital and shares held for Share Award Scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Shares held for the Share Award Scheme are disclosed as “Shares held
for Share Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the shares are

vested or cancelled.

2.16 Trade payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 180 days of
recognition. Trade payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 License fees payable

License fees payable are initially recorded at the fair value, which
represents the present value of the fixed minimum periodic payments to
be made in subsequent years. They are subsequently stated at amortised

cost using the effective interest method less payments made.

Interests incurred on license fees payable are charged to the
consolidated income statement as interest expense. Changes in estimate
of the expected cash flows are recognised as distribution costs in the
consolidated income statement. The revised expected cash flows are
discounted using the original effective rate to arrive at the carrying

amount of the liability.

2.18 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the Group has received
considerations from the customers before the control of the goods

transferred or the services rendered.

2.19 Convertible Redeemable preferred shares

Preferred shares issued by the Company are redeemable upon
occurrence of certain future events. These instruments are also attached
with a conversion option. Details of the convertible redeemable

preferred shares issued by the Company are given in Note 33.

The Group designated the convertible redeemable preferred shares as
financial liabilities at FVPL. They are initially recognised at fair value. Any
directly attributable transaction costs are recognised at finance costs in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. The component of fair value changes relating to the Company’s
own credit risk is recognised in OCl. Amounts recorded in OCl related to
credit risk are not subject to recycling in profit or loss but are transferred
to retained earnings when realised. Fair value changes relating to market

risk are recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Convertible Redeemable preferred shares (continued)

Convertible redeemable preferred shares are classified as non-current

liabilities unless the holders can demand the Company to redeem the

convertible redeemable preferred shares within 12 months after the end

of the reporting period.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on

the current period’s taxable income, based on the applicable income tax

rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and

liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Group and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to

be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax

asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary

differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and
when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

221 Employee benefits
(@) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit

obligations in the balance sheet.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)

POLICIES (continued)
WIEERER ()

2.21 Employee benefits (continued)

(b) Pension, housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurances

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
has arranged for its PRC employees to join defined contribution
plans, including pension, medical, housing and other welfare
benefits, recognised by the PRC government. According to the
relevant regulations, the monthly contributions that should be
borne by the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are calculated based
on percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a certain
ceiling. The assets of these plans are held separately from those of

the Group in independent funds managed by the PRC government.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the above
contributions have been paid. The Group’s contributions to these
plans are charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income as incurred.

2.22 Share-based compensation

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via
Share Award Scheme. Information relating to the schemes is set out
in Note 28. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the
grant of the restricted shares is recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value
of the restricted shares granted as at grant date, including any market
performance conditions, excluding the impacts of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions as well as including any non-
vesting conditions, when applicable. The total amount expensed is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of

the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of shares that are expected to vest based on the non-
market vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision of
original estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Share-based compensation (continued)

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when

the shares are exercised.

2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, and represents amounts receivables for goods supplied or
serviced provided, stated net of discounts and the relevant business

taxes or value added taxes.

(a) Sale of goods - retail store sales and roboshop sales

The Group operates a chain of retail stores and roboshop machines
for selling pop toys. Revenue from sales of goods are recognised
when the control of the product has transferred to the customer.
There was no right of return for the sales to the end customer.
Retail sales are usually settled in cash, by credit/debit cards or

through online payment platforms.

Despite that a majority of roboshop machines are directly operated
by the Group, certain roboshop machines are operated by third
party roboshop partners where the Group grants roboshop partners
the right to operate roboshop machines for selling pop toys for
a period of two years. Roboshop partner acts as an agent of the
Group rather than the principal in the transaction since roboshop
partner is not primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide the pop toys to the customers, does not take inventory risk
and has no pricing latitude. Hence roboshop partners do not obtain
the control of goods before they are transferred to the customer.
Revenue is recognised when control of the products has transferred
to the customer, and the commissions to roboshop partners is

charged to “distribution and selling expenses”.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Sale of goods - online sales

Pop toys are also sold through self-operated online platform or
other third-party e-commercial platform and revenue is recognised
when the control of the products has transferred to the customer,
which is the point of acceptance by the customers. Revenue from
these sales are recognised based on the price, net of the estimated
sales discounts at the time of sale. Transactions are settled in
cash, by credit/debit cards or through online payment platforms.
The commissions to the third party e-commercial platform is an
incremental cost to obtaining a contract. The Group apply the
practical expedient to expense the commissions as incurred as the

expected amortisation period is one year or less.

Sale of goods — customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail and online
customers accumulate points for purchases made which entitle
them to discounts on future purchases. A contract liability for the
award points is recognised at the time of the sale. Revenue from
the award points is recognised when the points are redeemed or
when they expire. During the year ended 2021, the points expire at
the end of each six months from the date on which the initial sales

occurs.

A contract liability is recognised until the points are redeemed or

expired.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)
(d) Sales of goods — wholesale

Revenue are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when products are delivered to the wholesaler,
the wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the wholesaler's acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the wholesaler,
and either the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or
the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance

have been satisfied.

As receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because

only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

(e) Revenue from conventions

The Group holds conventions that enable the Group and third-
party brand owners to sell pop toys to the customers. Revenue
from holding conventions includes selling convention tickets,
commission income and sales of the Group's products. For tickets
sold, revenue is recognised in the accounting period in which
the services are rendered. For commission income, revenue is
recognised upon sales of goods by the relevant brand owners.
For sales of goods, revenue is recognised when the control of the

products has transferred to the customer, see Note 2.23(a) above.

(f) License fees income

The Group licenses characters to third parties on relevant products
for a period. The income is recognised ratably in the contractual

period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the

Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-
lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for

these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the

following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any

lease incentives receivable

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value

guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably

certain to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term

reflects the Group exercising that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options

are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,

security and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate
adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not

have recent third-party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency

and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual
lessee (through recent financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a

starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease
payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease
liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and

adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of

the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date

less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset

is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles
and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease

term of 12 months or less.

(@) Variable lease payments

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that are
linked to sales generated from a store. For certain stores including
fixed and variable rental payment terms, the lease payments are on
the basis of variable payment terms with percentages ranging from
9% to 18% of sales. Variable payment terms are used for a variety
of reasons, including minimising the fixed costs base for newly
established stores. Variable lease payments that depend on sales
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition

that triggers those payments occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)
(b) Modification of lease

A lease liability is remeasured upon a change in the lease
term, changes in an index or rate used to determine the lease
payments or reassessment of exercise of a purchase option. The
corresponding adjustment is made to the related right-of-use

assets.

The Group has adopted Amendment to IFRS 16 - Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions retrospectively from 1 January 2020. The
amendment provides an optional practical expedient allowing
lessees to elect not to assess whether a rent concession related
to COVID19 is a lease modification. Lessees adopting this election
may account for qualifying rent concessions in the same way as
they would if they were not lease modifications. The practical
expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only if all of the
following conditions are met: a. the change in lease payments
results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the
same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; b. any reduction in lease payments affects
only payments due on or before 30 June 2021; and c. there is no

substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

The Group has early adopted Amendment to IFRS 16 — Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021, which extended
the practical expedient to lease payments that were due on or
before 30 June 2022.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all qualifying

COVID-19-related rent concessions.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.25 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and the

Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to expenses are deferred and recognised in
the profit or loss or deducted against related expenses over the period
necessary to match them with the expenses that they are intended to

compensate.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the costs that

they are intended to compensate.

2.26 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the "Other

gains/(losses) - net”.

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from
financial assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 9

below. Any other interest income is included in other income.

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of

the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).
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AEABHA -

MBRAWGFEDEZZRERMNEEAR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.27 Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on
or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end
of the reporting period.

2.28 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding

any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and

excluding treasury shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the

determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs

associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares

that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of

all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BERERE
3.1 IEBEE

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, primarily
the credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial

performance.

Risk
E b

Exposure arising from

B A EER

AEENEFDEAARSERBRAR
EREHARERDELAR - AEEY
ERAREEHUSERGRMBHTY
TR + Sk i A 52 L 1 22 48 0
THEE

fFEREK -

Measurement

FFEAR

Market risk — foreign
exchange

M5 Rk — JMNE

Credit risk

=ERR

Liquidity risk

REE TR

(@) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currency different from its functional currency.

NEEIN g B T RMINEHENEREEREE -

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, financial assets
at FVPL, trade receivables and other receivables.

ReRASFEY  XBRHHEL  BAFEFAERZD
TRIEE - B 5 RUGRIE R YR -

Financial liabilities
TRIAE

Cash flow forecasting

Sensitivity analysis

B mETAERM DT

Aging analysis Credit ratings

SRR DR ERTAR

Rolling cash flow forecasts
EEHEmETEA

(a) TIEER

The Group's businesses are principally conducted in RMB,

which is exposed to foreign currency risk with respect to

transactions denominated in currencies other than RMB.

Foreign exchange risk arises from recognised assets and

liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. The Group

did not enter into any forward contract to hedge its exposure

to foreign currency risk for the year ended 31 December 2021

and 2020.

(i) SMEEfE

NEBHERTEUARBEET
M E B AARESNE B EHER
SHINERR - DHERNEERA
B RRIBINEG IR E FEE
FEEINERR - BE20201F K
20206F 1231 HILEFE - A%HE
A T S TR B H0 DAST IR E AR
s BB D o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(a) Market risk (continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued)

POP MART

Exposure

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk as 31 December

2021, expressed in RMB was as follows:

31 December 2021
2021128318

MEEREE @)
MEBEE (#)
(a) TR (4)
() SMNERBR (%)
[ Bg2 i

AEER2021F12 A31 BHHNE
ERR O (AARBITHIR) a0F

31 December 2020
2020912 A31H

usbD HKD usD HKD

T BT E BT

RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR%¥TR | AREBETRT ARETE

Cash and cash equivalents RekALEEY 311,810 444,479 4,605 2,383,429

Financial assets at fair value RATAEFAEZNE

through profit or loss REEE - 20,544 - -

License fees payables JERREE (13,719) (21,986) (5,574) (7,167)
Sensitivity BRRE

As shown in the table above, the Group is primarily exposed to
changes in USD/RMB and HKD/RMB exchange rates.

M ERFR - AREEEEEET
HARMER BTN ARBES
28 -

Impact on post tax profit
HBRBBBNNOK
For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020

202145 2020%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARBTT

USD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% ETHAREET — EF10% 22,357 (73)
USD/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% 70 ARBER — TE10% (22,357) 73
HKD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% BILAARKEER — FF10% 33,228 178,220
HKD/RMB exchange rate - decrease 10%  MS7TH A RMEER — TFE10% (33,228) (178,220)
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(a) Market risk (continued)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Financial assets and liabilities at fixed rates expose the Group
to fair value interest-rate risk while financial assets and liabilities
at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate

risk.

The Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates as the Group
has no material assets/liabilities bearing significant interest.
The Group currently does not hedge its exposure to interest

rate risk.

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalent, financial assets at
FVPL as well as credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers

including outstanding trade and other receivables.

(i) Risk management

Credit risk is managed on group basis, except for credit risk
relating to accounts receivable balances. Each local entity is
responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk for each
of their new clients before standard payment and delivery
terms and conditions are offered. The Group's credit sales
are only made to customers with appropriate credit history.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. The
carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, financial assets
at FVPL, trade receivables and other receivables represent the
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial

assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 HKEBERE @)
3.1 MEBREE (&)
(a) TISEM (4)
(i) BEmBR A FEFZEE

BEENENEREENBEESS
EmEmER A ENERRE - mEEH
K eREENRABEANEERR
ReneEr xR -

AEBENRARKER S REER
EBIRTEMENE - HAA
SEYEBBAEE ABEELSE
RAE o NEE B A& &=
[\

(b) FERE

=
=]

ERRKXEREMASEEY &

RFEFABENETBREEA LS
HERTEFFNEERR 28X
BIENE S N E MR -

(i)

B B

FEERBRZARNERER  HEHH
YRR EERBRRIN - &
BHEREENERIEENRER
MHEF AR E R R EE B
MEFPHNEERR - NREBEEAFT
BEARIGEERLHBCEFETR
B AEERBEENEAEERR
& - B RIRTTHER  BATFE
FAABZEMEREE - E5RUGK
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—Z—— 535 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 J POP MART

211



212

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i) Risk management (continued)

POP MART

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, all the bank deposits
are deposited in or managed by state-owned or reputable
commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality financial

institutions without significant credit risk.

For retail and online sales, trade receivables mainly include
credit card receivables and receivables from third-party
payment platform receivables. The management of the Group
believes the credit risk is limited because the deposits in transit
was held by high-credit-quality financial institutions or other
third parties. There has been no recent history of default in
relation to these financial institutions and third parties, the

credit risk inherent in such trade receivables is low.

For trade receivables due from wholesalers, the management
assesses the credit risk quality of the wholesalers based on
their financial positions, past experience, expected loss rates
based on the payment profiles of sales and other factors. The
Group has policies in place to ensure credit terms are granted
to reliable wholesalers. The Group’s historical experience in
collection of receivables falls within recorded allowances and
the directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for

uncollectible receivables has been made.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKEBERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiEEEE (&)
(b) EERE (&)

(i) = mEE R E

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to

IFRS 9's new expected credit loss model.

trade receivables, and

other receivables

While cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are
also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the

identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all account receivables. To measure the expected
credit losses, account receivables have been grouped based on

shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the

customers to settle the receivables.

AEEREMERLINERHEE
WEN A BRI R E ERIE 5
M EEREEERRN

BHRWFIE - R
H e W R

BERS LA EEMARZRS
REMAETERM SRS LS
OSREVREMRE - 1 BBIRRE
BRI REK o

B 5 EF0R

AEBRABBERMEREERE
SR AT ETRBEERE
ZIEH B R E A 2 TR
HIEREE - RTFERDEREES
B RUERERERANEER
BB LB RRBETHE -

BHBREXDER —BREHEAMNH
S FRIEIIA B 5% AR A O 4R B R
LEEERMmSH - BLERRe
FHREE  URRBEBEZEETFE
HEMGRIERE N RBEBER =N
BRI RATIEIEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk (continued)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 and
2020 was determined as follows for trade receivables :

31 December 2021

3 MBEREE®)
3.0 BEREE (&)
(b) FERKE (&)
(i) ZEEERE (&)
& 5 RENRE ()
TR BAT BT E

JEU FRIB 2021 F & 2020F 12 A
31TBEH R SRR -

20215128318

Over
Provision on collective basis 0-90 days 91-180 days 180 days Total
REBEERE 0Z90Xk 91Z180Xk 180KH L et
Lifetime expected credit ZHIFEHEEEIEX
loss rate 0.53% 5.11% 100.00% 1.83%
Gross carrying amount RERMEE 162,250 10,476 1,802 174,528
Loss allowance R (857) (535) (1,802) (3,194)
31 December 2020 20205 12A31H
Over
Provision on collective basis 0-90 days  91-180 days 180 days Total
REBEERE 0F90K  91F180K  180KMA L #aEt
Lifetime expected credit ZHIFEHEEEIEX
loss rate 1.12% 1.04% 100.00% 2.81%
Gross carrying amount RERMEE 67,736 11,477 1,386 80,599
Loss allowance R (760) (119 (1,386) (2,265)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of
a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and
a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater
than 180 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as
net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited

against the same line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBMRME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiRMEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) FERK (&)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) EMEERE (&)
Other receivables o fth & YR 1E
Other receivables mainly include deposits for lease. The HtEWHEEZREHEERS -
management of the Group makes periodic collective AEFERETHRBERELEED
assessments as well as individual assessment on the 8 N2 1T A GRS H A FEUGRIB RO AT
recoverability of other receivables based on historical U o] 14 3 77 8 — &1 1 LA K2 {R 51 5F
settlement records and past experiences. The Group measures e AEEFREAOBE([EL
credit risk using Probability of Default (“PD"), Exposure at W] BAORR#H O ([ELHE
Default ("EAD") and Loss Given Default (“LGD”"). This is similar gk 0 ) RERBAE ([ENIE
to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected KEDT2EERR - EHBERE
Credit Loss (“ECL") under IFRS 9. B S R E oK IE N 5T =78 5

FEEEBER((RBREEEBER]D MA
TR -

Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial - UATERFREAEERED
recognition are classified in ‘Stage 1’ and have their credit HMEWRRIBE DA BER
risk continuously monitored by the Group. The expected VJEASESRHERZEE
credit loss is measured on a 12-month basis. ERk - HAMEEEER 2

FESS S

If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically, when - MR R fﬁ?‘fﬁﬂégﬁt
the debtor is more than 1 day past due on its contractual mABEMN(EENS - ER
payments) since initial recognition is identified, the BARE DR @HH AP
financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet B eRMIEWBE[RE
deemed to be credit-impaired. The expected credit loss is 2] BMRWRAREEEREE
measured on lifetime basis. BE - HEEEEEREET

BHEETE o

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired (specifically, - MemMIAZAEEERE(A
when the debtor is more than 90 days past due on its BmE  2EBANEHMNK
contractual payments), the financial instrument is then BHEo0ORIA L) - Alem T A
moved to ‘Stage 3". The expected credit loss is measured WHRE[RE3] - BEEEE
on lifetime basis. BREEFEREENE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EABBRERME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 IBEAMEZE (&)

(b) Credit risk (continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Other receivables (continued)

In view of the history of cooperation with the debtors and
collection from them, the management of the Group believes
that all of the Group's other receivables are classified in Stage 1
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, and the credit risk inherent
in the Group's outstanding other receivables is not significant.
The average loss rate applied as at the 31 December 2021 and

2020 were 1.13% and 1.37% respectively.

Net impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit

b) EERM (&)
(i) EMEERE (&)

HAtb e R (48)

ERBTLEEBASERRER
AW AEBEBEERE A%
[ P A H th FE U SRIE R 2021 FF 2
20205 12 A31 BN AR -
AR ERERE 2 Kb B IER
BREERBITEKX - 722021
F 2020128318 FHEIER
KR E1.13% K 1.37% °

REBHEAERSBEENRERRE

or loss FEE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31HLEEE
2021 2020
20216 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT AR®ET T
Impairment losses: RERE :
Impairment losses on trade receivables B 5 RUWGRIBREE 18 929 -
Impairment losses on other receivables At JE U R IE R (B B 18 506 270
Reversal of previous impairment losses on (B ¢ 5l & 5 FE W GRIE R E E 18
trade receivables - (668)
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment ~ £REERERE /(EB@)
on financial assets 1,435 (398)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EABMBRERME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 IBEAMEZE (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (0 REEZREMK

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents.
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group's
finance department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining

adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Cash flow forecasting is performed by the finance department of
the Group. The finance department of the Group monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs as well as the liabilities to

other parties.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts

disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

FREEGEHFBEANRERRES
By AR EEERBNSEEE - &
SENMBREEETREANET N
ReFEMRERESNTRNE -

ReRETRR AL EY B EBET -
REBUBHERAEERPESH
REPRB TN - ARREEEHHE
SR MBELERTKAREEMITH A

& o

TREBEEBZANIBEOR &
HIR  SAEENSRAERREH
B MEETON - RPBEENS
HRAWARBARERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POP MART

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MERRERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiEEEE (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () REBESER (&)
Between Between Total
Less than 1and 2and  Morethan contractual Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
kKA
PR-F —EmF MELE EENE  RELE fREE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARETr AR®TR AR%TR AR%¥TR AR%¥Txn
As at 31 December 2021 R2021% 128318
Trade payables B SENFE 266,098 = = = 266,098 266,098
License fees payables EREEE 86,004 28,909 18,806 4,935 138,654 132,375
Other payables (excluding ~ EtERFE(TRETLE
wages, salaries and HEREMESENAR
other employee benefit [ERTIE)
and tax payables) 161,939 - - - 161,939 161,939
Lease liabilities HERE 290,090 213,760 194,131 = 697,981 621,452
Total @5t 804,131 242,669 212,937 4,935 1264672 1,181,864
As at 31 December 2020 W2020% 128318
Trade payables B SENFE 115,804 - - - 115,804 115,804
License fees payables ENEEE 58830 14,100 19,150 5,134 97,264 86,814
Other payables (excluding ~ EbERFE(TRELE
wages, salaries and Fo REMESENA R
other employee benefit ERTiE)
and tax payables) 131,520 - - - 131,520 131,520
Lease liabilities HERE 154,947 103,316 49,434 - 307,697 291,774
Total @&t 461,151 117416 68,584 5,134 652,285 625912
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3
3.2

3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeqguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for owners of the Group and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to enhance owners’ value in the long term.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the balance sheet plus net debt. As at
31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020, the Group has no net debt.

Fair value estimation

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are
recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements.
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its financial instruments
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An

explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

(@) Financial assets and liabilities
(i) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the
inputs used in determining fair value, the Group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under
the accounting standards. An explanation of each level follows

underneath the table.

3.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

3 BEREE 2

3.3 A EMREE (&)

(@) THEEREE (&)
(i) 2FEERE

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B4 E#&2 E#3 st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR¥TR ARBTR AR¥TR
As at 31 December 2021 2021 12A318
Financial assets at fair value NFEFAEZNEREE
through profit or loss
- Investment in associates —RATFEFABRE
measured at FVPL BERARE - - 207,763 207,763
— Private equity fund investments ~ — FAERIEESIRE - - 95,636 95,636
~ Other unlisted investments —Et3r EmRE - - 25,289 25,289
- Listed equity securities-stock — LR AES-RE 20,544 = = 20,544
Total st 20,544 - 328,688 349,232
As at 31 December 2020 20206124318
Financial assets at fair value NFEFAERZNEREE
through profit or loss
- Investment in an associate —RATEF ARG S
measured at FVPL RERE - - 16,900 16,900
Total oty - - 16,900 16,900

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

MEEEEE 2
3.3 AFEME (&)

() ERMEERERE (4)
N FEER (&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i)

The Group analyses the financial instruments carried at fair
value by valuation method. The different levels have been

defined as follow:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These

instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the

instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based
on observable market data, the instrument is included in level
3. This is the case for private equity fund investment, other
unlisted investments and investment in associates measured at
fair value through profit or loss. Further details of the Group's
financial assets and financial liabilities that are measure at fair

value using level 3 inputs are given in Note 3.3(a)(ii) below.

REBRBEETEDITARFE
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FERAMNTSREAEMEANE - Z
STHINAEZFIF -

B2 WHRERTEEENE
BMIA(WBIMTETR) ZAF
BENRAMERNEE @ Z5EE
ool 2 215 A AT B R T A5 B T AR
DIRRBR BB E (T o WEtHE
TEZAFEMFENEHERBA
IR AR B REE - AIZTAY
AE&2m -

[E4R3 : IN—IBK ZIAE N A Y
B FEARIE AT B R TS SRS L -
BIZITATABRIFR - REBRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

POP MART

inputs (Level 3)

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for
the periods ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

3 MBEREE®)
3.3 AFEME (&)
() ERMEERERE (4)
(i) EAEA T A BRI B 1%

BT FER 2 (BAR3)

TRINFERIEE REZE2021F
128318 2020912 A31H 1F8
BESE-EE

[nvestment in

Investment in Wealth
associates Other Private Management
measured unlisted equity fund Products
at FVPL investments investments ("WMPs") Total
BROFETA BHER
Bt El Bt L nERE  (BMER))
BENTRE K& E¢RE k& szt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT
Opening balance at 1 January 2021 RONE1B1BNENSE 16,900 - - - 16,900
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BEABATEG AR
EHEE 187,176 3,574 95,000 896,795 1,202,545
Disposal of financial assets at FVPL RERATETABRR
tHEE - - - (912,594) (912,594)
Change in fair value LTEEY 3,687 1,715 636 15,799 21,837
Closing balance at 31 December 2021 R20215 1283186
EREH 207,763 25,289 95,636 - 328,688
*includes unrealised gains recognised in profitor *EERNERTEIMREELEE
loss attributable to balances held at the end of the - E-BATE(E RE R Wik
reporting period 3,687 1,115 636 - 6,038

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R




3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

inputs (Level 3) (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3 MKARERE®)
3.3 A EMREE (&)
) TREERARE (&)

(i) EHEXT B A B 15
BT FERZ (BAR3) (8)

Investment in

Investment in Wealth
an associate Other Private Management
measured at unlisted equity fund Products
FVPL investments investments ("WMPs") Total
BRATEHA
BR BN B Em
—FBERE  HfhdEtm RERE  ([EHER])
®E RE 2eRE e &5t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT  ARETR  AR%TR  AR%TR  ARET:
Opening balance at 1 January 2020 1202051 B1 RN ENERE - - - 50,000 50,000
Purchase of financial assets at FVPL BARATEABEN
TRAE 16,900 - - 230,500 247400
Disposal of financial assets at FVPL RERATEABRD
TREE - - - (281,653) (281,653)
Change in fair value AFER - - - 1,153 1,153
Closing balance at 31 December 2020 20205128310
ERGS 16,900 - - - 16,900

*includes unrealised gains recognised in
profit or loss attributable to balances held

at the end of the reporting period

“BERBETERNREHR
RARHEERERNEG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair
value

The valuation of the level 3 instruments mainly included
investments in associates measured at fair value through profit
or loss, investments in unlisted equity securities, and private
equity fund investments. As these instruments are not traded
in an active market, their fair values have been determined
by using various applicable valuation techniques, including
discounted cash flows and market approach etc..

The following table summarises the quantitative information
about the significant unobservable inputs used in level 3 fair
value measurements:

B EE ()
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AFEMEE (&)
) tRIEERAE (&)
(iii) 12 1B F577 ~ By A B % R B2 2

FIEAIEFE

B3z MEIAXIZEFRAT
Bt ABmAHENBERRIERE
FE LR AR HIRE RALFIRAE
ERE - ARZEFTALENER
TISETEE  HAFESBRA
ZRERE A ERN (BFERERA
EREBERTISES) EE

RIS P AR E T A FER
%ﬁékT\ﬂ&“ﬂﬁi@)\%ﬂ%Zi%

Fair value Range of inputs
AYE BAUEEE
As at 31 December As at 31 December
R12A318 R2A318
2021 2020 2021 2020
01E | 00F  Valuation Significant unobservable 201F | 200%  Relationship of unobservable
Description RMB'000 | RMBO0O  Techniques inputs inputs to fair value
it ARBTR ARBTT  HERS EXTUREEARE TUREG\UBRATENBE
Private equity fund 95,636 - Netasset value (1) N/A as quantitative N/A NA - NA
investments BERA() unobservable inputs TER | TER TEA
iEhrEeRE are not developed
by the Group
iR (ArsfuERE A
HRUERALERE)
Investments in associates 18,540 16900 Income approach (2) Weighted average cost 18.00% 1800%  Increased or decreased WACC by 10% would
measured at FVPL 1) of capital ‘WACC') approximately decrease or increase
BRFE AR METSERRA the fair value by RVB774,000
SN (31 December 2020: RIB1 226,000)
HixE IETHEARREMIED 10% * 2
FEREDLEMIARK 740007
(20205128318 : AR®1,2260007)
Terminal growth rate 2.50% 300%  Increased or decreased terminal growth
BRERE rate by 10% would approximately increase
or decrease the fair value by 138,000
(31 December 2020: 98,000)
REERE A TRI0% ATEAE
gD 4 AR 138 0007 (2020512
R318 - AR%980007)
Revenue growth rate 5.60%- 860%  Increased or decreased revenue growth
LN 323 10380% | 1754%  rate by 10% viould approximately increase

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

or decrease the fair value by RMB138,000
(31 December 2020: RMB512,000)

WNERE LA S TRI0% AFERSE
MgF AR 1380007 (200812
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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e MBRRME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MERRERE @)
3.3 AFEMRE (E)
@ cREEREE#E)
(iii) 15 B~ B A B3R R L

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(@) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair

value (continued) FEEER (&)
Fair value Range of inputs
AYE BAHBEE
As at 31 December As at 31 December
#12A318 R12A318
2021 2020 2021 2020 Relationship of unobservable
1F | 00F  Valuation Significant unobservable 2015 20005 inputs to fair value
Description RMB'000 | RMBOOO  Techniques inputs TUBRGABEELTEN
i ARBTR ARBTT fHERS EXTUREEARE BE
189,223 - Backsolve Conversion/ N/A N/A~ The higher probability
from recent redemption/ TER TEE  of conversion with
transaction liquidation correspondingly lower
price market probability probability of
multiple & /B /EEH liquidation and
method (3 BEZ redemption, the
ARHR HERAED lower the fair value.
SHEEEC) Eanmeltes  FRRER
mE e - ATERE -
Subtotal 207,763 16,900
It
Other unlisted 25,289 - Market approach Price to sales(PS') * PS:23 N/A~ Increased or decreased
investments (4) i Discount for lack of DLOM: 24% TEE  PSby 10%would
At ETREWY marketability(‘DLOM) Mm% 23 approximately
TR BZEHED "2 EHEN increase or decrease
R R= 4% the fair value by

RMB1,107,000 (31

December 2020; N/A)

Increased or

decreased DLOM by

10% would approximately

decrease or increase the fair

value by RMB348,000

(31 December 2020: N/A)
MEE AN TRI0% AT

EREMAROHARE

1,107,0007% (202012 A31

B TER)

e ABEOTER LAY

TB10% ATERRD Y

M ARE348.0007T

(2020128318 : 7ER)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(@) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Valuation techniques, inputs and relationships to fair

value (continued)

(1) The Group determines the fair valuation of its private equity fund
investments as at the reporting date based on the net asset values
of the private equity funds with underlying assets and liabilities
measured at fair value as reported by the general partners of the
funds.

(2)  For investment in an associate measured at fair value through
profit or loss, as the investment is not traded in an active market,
its fair values is determined by using valuation techniques and
is within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The investment is
primarily valued based on cash flow discounted method. There
is no significant change in fair value of the unlisted investment
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

(3) The fair values of certain investment in associates measured at fair
value through profit or loss are calculated using the Back-solve
from recent transaction price. In this model, the fair value of the
financial instruments is determined by the implied equity value
derived from a recent transaction in the respective unlisted
company's equity.

(4)  For other unlisted investments, the fair values are determined
by using the market approach and the significant unobservable
inputs include the valuation multiple, being price to sales
(the "PS") and discount for lack of marketability (the"DLOM").
Management determines the valuation multiples with reference to
the respective multiples of comparable companies, as adjusted by
the lack of marketability that market participants would consider
when estimating the fair value of these investments.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

POP MART
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

Impairment provision for inventories

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration of
key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection, estimated
future selling prices and selling expenses of the respective inventories.
Management reassesses these estimations of impairment provision for

inventories at each balance sheet date.

Useful lives of Licensed IPs and IP rights

The Group has Licensed IPs and IP rights that are primarily used to
design and sell pop toys. The Group estimates the useful life of these
Licensed IPs and IP rights to be 2-10 years based on the contract and
expected economic benefit. However, the actual useful life may be
shorter or longer than management’s estimate, depending on the
market competition. Periodic review could result in a change in useful

lives and therefore amortisation expense in future periods.

Current and deferred income taxes

There are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will be reflected in the income tax expense and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made. In addition, the
realisation of future income tax assets is dependent on the Group's
ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future years to utilise
income tax benefits and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future
profitability from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and liabilities that

could have a significant effect on the income tax expenses.

Dividends derived from the Company's subsidiaries in mainland China
to foreign investors are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 10%.
The Group regularly assesses its needs to make distributions out of its
subsidiaries in mainland China. In this regard, withholding tax will be
provided in the period in which dividends are distributed or on the
undistributed profits to the extent they are expected to be distributed in

future.

4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management determines the operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by the CODM that are used to make strategic decisions. The
Group's revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and capital expenditure
are primarily attributable to the sales of pop toys to external customers,
which are considered as one segment. The Group's principal market is
the PRC and its sales to overseas customers contributed to less than

10% of the total revenue. Accordingly, no geographical information is

presented.

Breakdown of revenue by business lines is as follows:

Wz K o3 BB E #

ERERBEIELERKE
FEBBOR RO E RIEERL 2
@E’UH&/ RX - BE-BfE
TEHEERAINGEE P HE
%&ﬁi’% 1 EDE - AEERE
B HABIEFEFPHNHERERMTE 2 H&z
B10% ° Bt - SWARZFIHIHE RS o

REBRE DM RPANT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTT

Revenue from contracts with customers EFE&EHWE
Revenue from online sales iR HE WS 1,879,189 951,875
Revenue from retail store sales TERHE W 1,673,386 1,002,054
Revenue from roboshop sales M2 AT IS SHE WS 469,803 328,679
Revenue from wholesales = 444,817 207,386
Revenue from conventions Eels 23,456 23,477
Total st 4,490,651 2,513,471
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WERTHER &
(continued)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTT
Revenue g
Point-in-time eSSk 4,490,651 2,505,509
Over-time(i) R—EBR R () = 7,962
Total 5t 4,490,651 2,513,471
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLFEE
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AR®ETF T
Revenue g
Revenue recognised on a gross basis RREEERRY 4,490,651 2,511,843
Revenue recognised on a net basis (ii) 1 5 58 AL AE R SR M (i) = 1,628
Total HEET 4,490,651 2,513,471

(i)  All original contracts are for periods of one year or less or are billed based on
time incurred. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

(i)  Certain revenue generated from consignment sales of third-party brand
products in the Group's retail store and at the conventions hosted by the
Group is recognised on a net basis when the Group acts as an agent in the
transactions and does not take inventory risk or have latitude in establishing
prices for the products.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no revenue derived
from transactions with a single customer represent 10% or more of the

Group's total revenue.

(i)

FIAERIGEHMEIRIE B —FRIAT - k&
REMEENSEGE - ERRPIERELE
IS 1SS ARFRIERT - DEEERFRENK
RN HERTHE -

BEAREEEZRSTEERERL TAETE
RERREEEMEENE TEE  E=71H
BERRARENTEE RAE B ENN
RELORFEHEMELNE TRRRFE
EAERER o

HE2021F K2020F 12 A31HILFE - I
EHE -XEFNRFEENNEZERER
U ZE10%E A E o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

6 EXPENSES BY NATURE

6 EMEITHNAEX

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020

20215 20204F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET ARBTT

Cost of inventories included in cost of sales SEABERANFER AR 1,445,001 748,452

Employee benefit expenses (Note 34) EERFIFZ (MizE34) 669,725 242,963

Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) EREEENE (Mik15) 221,698 142,940
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment  #1% ~ BE &&HEITE (KizE13)

(Note 13) 161,834 66,682
Advertising and marketing expenses BE R EiER s 157,552 92,171
Transportation and logistics expenses g RYImFAE 141,259 110,061
E-commerce platform service charges BERTARBE 123,895 81,262
Design and license fees RETREEE 104,674 62,721
Expenses relating to short-term leases and R AHESENHEEHAER

variable leases not included in lease liabilities A E BN 86,318 43,620
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) M EEEE (T 14) 51,470 36,221
Taxes and surcharges e K2 30,680 20,634
Cost of moulds with useful lives within one year — {#FAFR A —FAREEMK A 17,155 7,460
Commissions to roboshop partners TR FHEBABIESIERENAS 6,674 13,179
Auditor's remuneration Z SR B & 6,250 3,150

— Audit services — FEatiRTE 4,500 3,000

- Non-audit services — EFF R 1,750 150
Impairment of inventory FERE 1,318 2,095
Listing expenses WX - 44,024
Convention cost RgA - 18,408
Expense relating to re-designation of ordinary BNETEBRAELRBEHEAX

shares to preferred shares (Note 33) (Bg5E33) - 16,910
Others Hit 170,111 76,446
Total BEt 3,395,614 1,829,399
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7 OTHER INCOME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Htg A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AREFTT

License fees income FEBIA 37,656 18,695
Government grants (i) BT 466 8 (0) 15,353 26,412
Promotion service fees HERBE 740 -
Others Hph 676 313
Total HET 54,425 45,420

(i)  The amounts represent government grants related to income which are
received from the local government for the contribution to the local
economic growth. These grants are recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income upon the receipt. There are

no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) - NET

BRASBEEBNR - BEEEEERF
HERM A ZEFREOBAGRE - %%
SRR SISO RSy BN el G
MR o MBS A A BARER R
HAEIH

Hfpzs ~(&18) — FHE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTT

Changes in fair value of financial instruments BATEFABENESRIAEATE
at fair value through profit or loss (Note 23) %) (KizE23) 15,262 1,153
Donation BRK (10,896) (11,527)
Exchange loss i 5 518 (3,302) (1,655)
Others Hith 721 922
Total HEt 1,785 (11,107)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBEHRME

9 FINANCE INCOME/(EXPENSES) - NET 9 BI#WA (BAX)- BE

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Finance income BHEUA
- Interest income — Fl B YA 28,609 1,953
Finance expenses g dcha
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities and license — fAEBENEMNEBREZF S
fees payables (21,246) (10,946)
Finance income/(expenses) -net BMIEWA (FX)— B8 7,363 (8,993)

10 FAEHIR X

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HILEE

2021 2020

20214 20204F

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBT ARBTT

Current income tax BRERPRIS T 329,090 190,959
- Hong Kong profits tax — BEBNEH 73 4,104
— The Mainland China corporate income tax — B R RE TS 329,017 186,855

Deferred income tax (Note 18) IRIEFTSHL (BI5E18) (12,466) (6,868)
Income tax expense FEHimx 316,624 184,091

(a) HEREREBERESHER

ARARBEREREAFENFERSHE
MR REREERAR - BEREHS
WITER  ARFEEHNHASHERE
o RBEBHERMERTER  BER
registered under the Business Companies Act of BVI are exempted from BHERBEEEELAETMA KRS
BVI income tax pursuant to the current laws of the BVI. SEERERPHNEBHERBRENSEH -

(@) Cayman Island and BVI Income Tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Island income tax pursuant to

the current laws of the Cayman Islands. The group entity incorporated or

b2 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEps s EAR A &




10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

(b) Hong Kong Profits Tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HKS$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of the group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% on the Group’s estimated assessable profit
for the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 16.5%).

Mainland China Corporate Income Tax (“CIT")

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
the mainland China has been calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the
estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 December 2021 (the
year ended 31 December 2020: 25%), based on the existing legislation,

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

A group entity has been granted certain tax concessions to small
scale entities by tax authorities in the mainland China whereby the
subsidiaries operating in the respective jurisdictions are entitled to tax

concessions.

Mainland China Withholding Tax (“WHT")

According to the applicable mainland China tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the mainland China to a foreign
investor with respect to profit derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the mainland China and Hong Kong,

the relevant withholding tax rate will be 5%.

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate undistributed earnings of
the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the mainland China are
RMB1,715,409,000 (as at 31 December 2020: RMB935,668,000). In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future, and that the Company
has the ability to control the timing of the distribution from these
subsidiaries. Accordingly, despite an assessable temporary difference on
such retained earnings exists, no deferred income tax liability has been

recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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BERK ST EY R RIBLR 2008 F 1 A1 A Z B EE
/s R R SN B & 5 R /) R SR A
M10%ETEIF o WA BB AN
BEERMEPRRERES MU
EBRBENLHEETOGRERHAE - 8148
R TE TR K 1§ R 5% o

HZE2021F128318 - REBEFE AR
AR ERARNRSERFIRER
AR#1,715,409,0007T (B ZE 20204512 A 31
H: ARM9356680007T) - EERAE * %
LB AR AR BE R AT T8 B8 5 2R 5 R
ZERF - WEARRAB BN HIZEW
BRARDEAFNER - At - REFE
ZERBRANHERVYRHEEZE - B
RSB REABREMELHREFHE

&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

The reconciliation between the Group's actual tax charges and the
amount which is calculated based on the statutory income tax rate of

25% in the mainland China is as follows:

10 R8I (&)

AEENBEREVYEBERESBEAREE
JE TS BEAR R 259% T B & & B8 2 F] 9 S i 4

T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBETTT
Profit before income tax B A5 15 Al s ) 1,171,191 707,403
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates of 25% RE AR R 5% BT IE 292,798 176,851
Tax loss for which no deferred income tax asset  REERIELATSHEEMNTHIEERE
is recognised 440 1,246
Share of profit of investments accounted for A REZREARMIEE R
using equity method (3,504) (968)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes(i) N A] 1% 3 (i) 35,868 7,653
Impact of different tax rate BRI Z (8,978) (691)
Taxation charge HEA 316,624 184,091

POP MART

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2021, expenses not deductible for
taxation purposes mainly include the Share-based compensation expenses

of RMB147,068,000, (2020: nil) (Note 34).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, expenses not deductible for
taxation purposes mainly include the expense relating to re-designation of
ordinary shares to preferred shares of RMB16,910,000 (Note 33) and the fair
value changes of convertible redeemable preferred shares of RMB6,260,000
(Note 33), both of which are recognised in the Company’s consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and are not

deductible for taxation purposes.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

() BZE2021F12831BIHEEHM - A
FX T EREURNAEROTMAT AR
#147,068,0007C (20204F : ) (Ffi5E34) °

HE2020F 12 A3 HIEFE - TAHIFIAX
FERERSNIETERRAELREAN
S AR%16,910,0007T (HiFE33) KAl ik
A IE BB SR A FEE E) AR ¥6,260,000
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11 DIVIDENDS

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 1 June 2021, the shareholders of
the Company approved a final dividend of RMB14.94 cents per ordinary
share of the Company, amounting to RMB205,833,000 (which are net
of the dividend of RMB3,687,000 attributable to the shares held for
Share Award Scheme) for the year ended 31 December 2020. During
the year ended 31 December 2021, the dividends paid amounted to
RMB208,834,000, including RMB202,473,000 paid for the final dividend
for the year ended 2020 and RMB6,361,000 paid for the interim dividend
for the six months ended 30 June 2020.

As at 31 December 2021, the remaining balance of unpaid dividends
amounting to RMB10,596,000 was recorded in other payables in the

consolidated financial statements.

The Board recommended the payment of a final dividend of RMB15.24
cents per ordinary share of the Company issued for the year ended 31
December 2021, representing an aggregate amount of RMB213,655,000
based on the total issued share capital of the Company as of the date
of approval of this consolidated financial statements. In the event of
change in the total issued share capital of the Company before the
record date for dividend payment, dividends will be distributed per

share and the total distribution amount will be adjusted accordingly.

The proposed dividend payment is subject to the approval by the
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (the "AGM”") to be held on 1 June 2022 and is
payable in Hong Kong Dollars based on the official exchange rate of
Renminbi against Hong Kong Dollars as quoted by the People’s Bank of
China on 1 June 2022. Upon Shareholders” approval, such dividend will
be paid on 23 June 2022 to the Shareholders whose names shall appear

on the register of members of the Company on 10 June 2022.

The proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in
the consolidated financial statements, but will be reflected as an
appropriation of distributable reserves for the year ending 31 December
2022.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

11 IRE

BIER2021F6c A1TBBBRREE - &
NEREIEIRNEZ2020F12 431 H
FFEREREERARALTBRARE
14.94% + & AR¥205,833,0007T (F1Bk
R BT EFEOROEEREAR
#£3,687,0007T) - RELE 2021512 A31H
LHEEHE BRMBRESHEAREARE
208,834,0007T * BIENEE2020F IEFE
ER REAMR B AR 202,473,000 7T RN EL
£2020F6 A30B AR A SRR EARE
ANER#6,361,0007T °

R2021F 128318 KT EHRTEHE
HARM10,596,000LEREGE M BREE
fth FEAT SRIBASR o

EESEEMEE2021F12831BIFE
RN REREERAAFEREITEARA
R¥15245 - REBERNZEVBHIREA
EBEBHARABEEITRABEFGEHAA
R¥213,655,0007T ° fin ik B 50 8% B BRI N
ARIBBEITRABEEMES - AIRE
BERRDRTR AR FE G A o

HEBRRMNBREAHARRABRE ([IRER]) £
187202296 A1 BEITHERERRBAFK
g(IRFREFAEG]) LHER - FAlE
- MREHREREARRITAR20225F6
R1BRmEARERETE FEEUET
XA o FRIREBLER - BRAKR SN 2022
FoA23BMEMN202296 108 A5 KRR
e EE VI

BEBREST KRR GV BEER R AR
BB MR AEEHZ202F12A31H
IFFERBARDIRGERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Following the completion of the Capitalization Issue on 11 December
2020 as disclosed in Note 1, the weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share for the

year ended 31 December 2020 has been retrospectively adjusted.

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable
to owners of the Group by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue less shares held for Share Award Scheme during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

12 BIRER
R P FR £ 20204E 12 A 11 BETHE
AALEITEAE - BEEE2020F12A31H
HFESREARRE TR TR MNE

FHHEEHHE

BREXRER

BREAZIIZEZ2021F % 2020F12A8
NHIEFE - ANEEER ARG GEFIERIA
B 317 3 A% D0 AE 19 BUR BL AR 1 SR Eh R

gBEnkin 2 EHE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBETT
Profit attributable to owners of the Company KRR ANEEEN (ARETT)
(RMB'000) 854,339 523,505
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 317 & @A N F
issue less shares held for Share BRI 1 SRR ET B P
Award Scheme (Thousands) Wetn 2 2Z= (%) 1,377,954 1,194,709
Basic earnings per share BREARAEF
(expressed in RMB per share) (AEBBRAREITRT) 0.62 0.44
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBMRME
12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 12 BRER @)
(b) Dilute earnings per share (b) BREERER
The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 BE2021%12A31 B R2020F12A318 1k
December 2021 and ended 31 December 2020 is set out below: FESREFANNGEHIIWT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
Profit attributable to owners of RRAEMER ANFEMS T
the Company (RMB'000) (AREETT) 854,339 523,505
Adjustment for fair value changes on redeemable i B & B K A] 85 & 4L I%
and convertible preferred shares (RMB'000) N EZEHAR (ARETT) - 6,260
Profit used to determine diluted earnings FARETE SREE R &R F
per share (RMB'000) (AR¥FT) 854,339 529,765
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 217 & 38 I% hNAE F O SUR LD
issue less shares held for Share REVETEIFTRR D 2 2= (FR)
Award Scheme (in thousands) 1,377,954 1,194,709
Adjustment for R
— Restricted Shares granted and assumed vested ~— BRI MEBEREHBZRH
(in thousands) Bt (FAR) 873 -
- assumed conversion of convertible redeemable  — fRR ¥ A A 0] I BB IR
preferred shares (in thousands) (F1) - 16,514
Weighted average number of shares for diluted I35 22 FI R 15 ANAE S 15 81
earnings per shares (in thousands) (FA%) 1,378,827 1,211,223
Dilute earnings per share BREERN (UERAREITER)
(expressed in RMB per share) 0.62 0.44

—Z—— 535 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 J POP MART

237



238

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Dilute earnings per share (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, diluted earnings per share is
calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. The Company's potentially dilutive ordinary shares comprised
shares which may be granted and assumed vested under the Post-IPO
Share Award Scheme. A calculation is done to determine the number
of shares that could have been acquired at fair value (determined as
the average annual market price of the Company'’s shares) based on the
monetary value of the subscription rights attached to the outstanding
shares granted under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (defined as
the “Restricted Shares”). The number of shares calculated as above is
compared with the number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the Restricted Shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, diluted earnings per share is
calculated based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company after adjustment for fair value changes on redeemable
and convertible preferred shares and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for conversion of
convertible redeemable preferred shares.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5

12 8RER (&)
(b) BRBERF (&)

HE2021F12831BILEE  SREER
MU BEREABEFENEEL AR
B g ABRBITEIINT BRI MEFES
Hir 8  ARAABTEHEFENT AR
BERBEXAARBEERRMNERDTEE
BFRBEREEBNRG - i A%
ERBRMDERTEME  STERDRES
RAFRBERROERTEETE TR
TTESNEAD ([ ZIRBIBK 1) Al R
BHEEE  BEURATE (EAREKRG
WENFHMEET) BENRGOEE - R
B A E SR B EBRITESRS
B BT 1T AR B L8R o

HZE20200F12A31BILEFE  SHREER
FITRIB AT ER KA SRELERAF
BEBAERADRESE AN EREF
Kot °] ¥ 4 0] (0148 St AR i A R 1k B
TEINE BRI BT E -



13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

13Y%  BERRE

Roboshop Equipment Leasehold Construction-
machines Moulds  and others improvement in-progress Total
BEABE
EEH BE  RERHM HERE EEIR st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR¥TR ARBTR AR¥ETR AR¥ETR ARE¥TR
As at 31 December 2020 72020512 A31H
Cost (BN 66,110 95,187 20,494 146,944 - 328,735
Accumulated REE
depreciation (14,467) (20,312) (5,161) (50,470) - (90,410)
Net book amount REFE 51,643 74,875 15,333 96,474 - 238325
Year ended BZE20215F
31 December 2021 12A31ALEE
Opening net book FHREFE
amount 51,643 74,875 15,333 96,474 - 238,325
Additions wNE 20,878 82,225 13,355 166,556 7,388 290,402
Depreciation charge HEER (13,469) (74,770) (4,424) (69,171) = (161,834)
Disposal HE - - (118) (494) - (612)
Closing net book FRIREFE
amount 59,052 82,330 24,146 193,365 7,388 366,281
As at 31 December 202145
2021 12A31H
Cost PR 86,988 151,963 33,046 305,207 7,388 584,592
Accumulated ZEHE
depreciation (27,936) (69,633) (8,900) (111,842) - (218,311)
Net book amount REFE 59,052 82,330 24,146 193,365 7,388 366,281
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13 9% - MERRE &)

POP MART

Roboshop Equipment Leasehold Construction-
machines Moulds and others improvement in-progress Total
NG
ERH BE ek EM HEEE HEIR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR#®TFT ARBTT ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTT ARET:R
As at 31 December M20195
2019 12A31H
Cost PR AR 42,429 35,747 13,824 61,212 - 153,212
Accumulated REIE
depreciation (4,759 (9,758) (2,514) (30,265) - (47,296)
Impairment A - (2,357) - - - (2,357)
Net book amount AR FE 37,670 23,632 11310 30,947 - 103,559
Year ended 31 EZE2020%F
December 2020 12A31ALEFE
Opening net book FREFE
amount 37,670 23,632 11,310 30,947 - 103,559
Additions NE 23,681 72,929 6,277 99,938 - 202,825
Acquisition of a L b — R BT BB 2 B
subsidiary - - 605 - - 605
Depreciation charge TEER (9,708) (19,862) (2,724) (34,388) - (66,682)
Disposal HE - (1,824) (150) (23) - (1,997)
Currency translation HEME =
difference - - 15 - - 15
Closing net book FRREFE
amount 51,643 74,875 15,333 96,474 - 238,325
As at 31 December A 20204F
2020 12H31H
Cost BXAR 66,110 95,187 20,494 146,944 - 328,735
Accumulated 25 E
depreciation (14,467) (20,312) (5,161) (50,470) - (90,410)
Net book amount RERE 51,643 74,875 15,333 96,474 - 238325
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBMRME
13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 13 Y% BMERRKRE @
(@) Depreciation on property, plant and equipment has been (@ ME - HELEIBHEEILRESER
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other REMPEWRERE - TR :

comprehensive income as follows:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

Cost of sales S B 74,770 19,862
Distribution and selling expenses LI RIEERE 82,640 44,953
General and administrative expenses —MRATE R X 4,424 1,867

161,834 66,682
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POP MART

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 14 B EE
Licensed IPs
(Note a) IP rights Software Goodwill Total
REP
(KizEa) IPERE B HE #at
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTRT ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR AR%T:R

At 31 December 2020 #2020%12831H
Cost %N 120,481 19,425 3,616 112 143,634
Accumulated amortisation Bt (40,699) (8,335) (1,582) - (50,616)
Impairment B (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 79,495 11,090 2,034 112 92,731
Year ended 31 December 2021 EHZ2021F12A31HLEE
Opening net book amount FHE@FE 79,495 11,090 2,034 112 92,731
Additions NE 85,360 238 7,394 = 92,992
Amortisation charge BIHER (46,587) (3,379) (1,504) = (51,470)
Currency translation difference  EMHE =5 (210) - - (11) (221)
Closing net book amount FREHEFE 118,058 7,949 7,924 101 134,032
At 31 December 2021 ®2021%F12831H
Cost AR 205,841 19,663 11,010 101 236,615
Accumulated amortisation 2T (87,496) (11,714) (3,086) - (102,296)
Impairment A (287) - - = (287)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 118,058 7,949 7,924 101 134,032
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HREMBRERM T
14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 14 ML EE (#2)
Licensed IPs
(Note a) [P rights Software Goodwill Total
XEIP
(BizEa) IPEERE ;i (kS wast
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETT ARETRT ARETT
At 31 December 2019 R2019%F12A831H
Cost B 25,060 5,561 2,586 - 33,207
Accumulated amortisation Bt (12,554) (834) (912) - (14,300)
Impairment B (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 12,219 4,727 1,674 - 18,620
Year ended 31 December 2020 EZ2020F12A31HLLEE
Opening net book amount FHIREFE 12,219 4,727 1,674 - 18,620
Additions NE 95,420 13,864 1,030 13 110,427
Amortisation charge BEER (28,050) (7,501) (670) - (36,221)
Currency translation difference ~ E¥HE 25 (94) - - (1) (95)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 79,495 11,090 2,034 112 92,731
At 31 December 2020 M20205612831H
Cost AR 120,481 19,425 3,616 112 143,634
Accumulated amortisation Rt (40,699) (8,335) (1,582) - (50,616)
Impairment E (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 79,495 11,090 2,034 112 92,731
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(@) The amounts represent the exclusive and non-exclusive license rights
obtained by the Group in accordance with the respective license
agreements. Upon initial recognition, the Licensed IPs are recognised at
the present values of the fixed minimum payments with the corresponding
amounts recognised as license fees payables (Note 30).

(b)  Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

14 BEEE (&)
st -

(a)

FHRSHEEAKEREREBRERZNEN
BREIFBRERE - RYIEHERIL - REP
ZEFESEMRNRERR  HESEER
RIEMEEE (HFE30) -

BRAERHEAFRABEEREMEEKRE
FHB - ITAUR

E\

Year ended 31 December

HBZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020

20214 20204F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR%T AREFT

Cost of sales SHEEBCA 49,966 35,551
General and administrative expenses —MREITHRAY 1,504 670
51,470 36,221

15 LEASES

(@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

15 A&
(a) EEEBRAEIR 2L

BEBBERIITATEHEEGHNDE

As at December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREFT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Offices and warehouses PRANENREE 111,814 42,902
Retail stores TEE 497,703 244,897
609,517 287,799
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current mE 256,909 144,724
Non-current ERE 364,543 147,050
621,452 291,774
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15 LEASES (continued)

(@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet (continued)

Movements on the Group's right-of-use assets are as follow:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

15 & (&)
) EEABRARIZSE (&)
AEBFERRAENERHNT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20216 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T AR®ET T
At 1 January B1A1H
Cost DN 452,745 306,204
Accumulated depreciation REth & (164,946) (127,266)
Opening net book amount FYREFE 287,799 178,938
Year ended 31 December HZE12A31BLLEE
Opening net book amount FYIREFE 287,799 178,938
Additions nNE 550,196 252,556
Depreciation charge TEER (221,698) (142,940)
Disposal & (6,780) (755)
Closing net book amount FREREFE 609,517 287,799
At 31 December M12A31H
Cost DN 742,777 452,745
Accumulated depreciation REtine (133,260) (164,946)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 609,517 287,799
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 LEASES (continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income

The consolidated financial statements show the following amounts

relating to leases:

15 & (&)
b) BEREMEEAKS RIS HE

RAEMBHRERIIIATEREEFHNEE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBEFT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets FREEENEER
Offices and warehouses WRAEREE 34,149 21,793
Retail stores ZEE 187,549 121,147
221,698 142,940
Interest expenses FBEFHZ 21,186 10,946
Expense relating to short-term leases MEMHE BB GTALER
(included in distribution and selling expenses HERT ARITBFSE)
and administrative expenses) 42,341 8,335
Expense relating to variable lease payments not Kt ATHEBEMNERENKZ
included in lease liabilities (included in BEAMS GTAKERIBERS)
distribution and selling expenses) 43,977 35,285
The cash outflow for leases as operating activities FEFAKLLFE 2R &R 88,126 40,027
The cash outflow for leases as financing activities MHEFARE TS 2R ERE 220,126 147,995

A 10% increase in sales across all stores in the Group with such variable
lease contracts would increase total lease payments by approximately
RMB14,314,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 (for the year
ended 31 December 2020: RMB9,612,994).

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EABMBRERME
16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES 16 RHTBATIWIRE

(a) MIEAF

(a) Subsidiaries

Ownership interestheld ~ Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
AEERENER FERERER
13 JERRER
Country/place and date of Mthoriseg ~ At37 December A 31 December — princival actiites
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity capital r12A3A GEHE place of operation
AU/ ERALER/ 20 m | 20m 0
:EE HURAH EREREY EERE | 00 | anF | wnE | nnF  FEEE/EEnE
Directly held
E#RAR
Pop Mart (V) Holding Limited The Biitish Virgin Islands (BVI), Limited liabilty company USD 50,000 100% 100% - - Investment holding/BVI
Pop Mart (3V) Holding Limited 10 May 2019 BRAFAR SD000%TT RERK/KBERES
ABERHE 201955R108
Indirectly held
BiEE
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited Hong Kong, 27 May 2019 Limited liabllity company HKD 1 100% 100% - - Investment holding/
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited &% 019ESAVA BREMfLR 187 Hong Kong
([Pop Mart Hong Kong) RELR /B4
Beijing Pop Mart Cultural & Creative Corp,  The PRC, 20 October 2010 Limited liabllity company AMB 115,456,278 100% 100% - - Design and sales of
Ltd. (‘Bejing Pop Mart) wE 2010810708 EREALH AR 15456,2787 pop toys/The PRC
FROER BB RRAT RRHERRRE/
(emaaks) e
Beijing Paqu Technology Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 April 2016 Limited liability company AVIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Technology development/
FREENRARAT RE - 016547218 BREAAT ARH1,0000007 The PRC
KiiR% /48
Tianjin Pop Mart Cuttural Communication ~ The PRC, 29 November 2016 Limited liability company RMB 5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
(o, Ltd 8 016511 4298 BRERLA ARES 0000007 BEWRNA/HE
REDUER T BRERAT
Shanghai Pagu Commerce Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 September 2017 Limited liability company RB 2,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
HEBBESERAT oE - 017%9F21A FREALA ARE10000007 BEMRRA/ 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

POP MART

16 RTBRATINIKRE (#)

() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interestheld ~ Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
AEERENES FERERRE
13 JERRER
Country/place and date of Mthoriseg ~ At37 December AE31 December i cival activites
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity capital r12A3ng GEHE place of operation
EAVELENE £V 00 | a0 | | A0
NA%R HURAH HEEREY EERE | 20mE | o0F | anE | onf  FEEE/HE4Y
Directly held
EBRA
Beijing Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 11 October 2017 Limited liability company RIB 5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
IROESREEARAT RE - 2017F10R118 BREELT NRE5 000007 BEFRnA/hE
Pop Mart Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, 27 January 2017 Limited liabllity company HKD 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and
BERERARAA B 07E1A A EREALA 10000003 TC sales of pop toys/
Hong Kong
BEEREEAR
e/ &k
Beijing Silai Art Design Co, Ltd The PRC, 26 April 2019 Limited liability company ANIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and
(formerly known as Beijing Pop Mart hE -+ 019F4A26H EREfLR AR 10000007 sales of pop toys/The PRC
Intemnational Trading Co, Ltd) BIEERHERR
FREREMRHERAT RE /%8
(HEATREAERERES
ERAR)
Beijing Paquhuyu Technalogy Co, Ltd The PRC, 8 March 2016 Limited liabilty company RMB 10,000,000 - - - - Intemet technology
FREREERRERLT E - 01653788 -GN ARB100000007 senices/The PRC
ERBRIRE /28
Shenzhen Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 31 October 2017 Limited liability company ANIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
AR EAERAT RE - 07E10A31R RREEAT ARH1,0000007 HEMRAE/ b
Chengdu Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 22 November 2017 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
HSBERESARA 8 017511 A28 BRERLA ARE1 0000007 HEWRIE /b
Chongging Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 November 2017 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
EREAEHERLN o8 017511 A58 BREELE ARE1 0000007 BEWRnA /A
Beijing Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 29 December 2017 Limited liability company RNB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
FRERESERAT o8 01751818 RRELAT ARE10000007 BEMRRA/ 18
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(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

16 RHIBATIMNIKRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interestheld  Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
ARERENES FERERRE
BER JERRER
Country/place and date of Mthoriseg ~ At37 December AE31 December i cival activites
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity capital 2318 GUHE place of operation
EAVELENE £V 00 | a0 | | A0
hA%R HURAH HEERED EERE | 2mE | o0F | anE | anE  FEEE/BEHY
Directly held
EBRA
Shenyang Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 1 March 2018 Limited liabilty company RVB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
EREAEEERLT 8 01853418 BREALA ARE1 0000007 pEdRnA/hE
Zhengzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 4 April 2018 Limited liabllity company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
IMRERERRRAR RE - 01854 A4H BRERLA ARE1 0000007 BEMRnA/hE
Qingdao Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 17 April 2018 Limited liabllity company ANB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERNEREZARAT 28 01854178 ERERLA AR 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Jiangxi Pagu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 1 May 2020 Limited liabllity company AVB 2,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
IREREAARAT E - 003 1R BREELT NEB20000007 BERRnA /A
Changchun Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 15 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REDERESERLT R 200F4A 158 BREELT ARE1 000007 BEWRnA/HE
Fuzhou Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 25 March 2020 Limited liabllity company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EMEEESERLT 28 017534258 ERERLA ARE10000007C $EWRIA/HE
Haerbin Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 April 2020 Limited liability company RB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
hREEAEEERAT R 00F4A108 BREELE ARE1 000007 BEWRRA /A
Tianjin Paqu Cultural Media Co, Ltd. The PRC, 27 March 2020 Limited liability company ANIB 5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REEBLERERAT HE - 043A 7R BRALLE ARH50000007 HEMRE /b
Xiamen Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 14 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EFEREARRAT RE 00545 14B RREEAT AR 10000007 BEMRAE/hE
Wuhan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 17 December 2019 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RERRERESERLT o8 019124178 BRERAT ARE1 0000007 HEBRAE/hE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

16 RTBRATINIKRE (#)

() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interestheld ~ Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
AEERENER FERERRE
13 JERRER
Country/place and date of Muthoriseg ~ At37 December A 31 December — princival activites
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity capital m12A3A GEHE place of operation
EAVELENE £V 20 wm | oW |
NF4H BERAH ERERRY EERE | 20mE | anF | wnE | a0 EEEE/SgwE
Indirectly held
BiEE
Guangzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 06 May 2020 Limited liabilty company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ENBaERESERAT RE " 00F5A6R BREEAT NEH 10000007 HERIRE/1E
Dalian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 13 April 2020 Limited liabllity company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RERHERESARAA R 20054135 BRERRA ARE10000007C BEMRnA/hE
Shandong Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 24 October 2019 Limited liabllity company ANB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
WREEESERLT RE - 2019F10A 48 BREELT AR 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Guiyang Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 January 2020 Limited liability company ANIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EERNEREAZ SRR RE - 0051 A10R FRRAAT ARE1 000007 BEWA/HE
Xian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 25 December 2019 Limited liability company ANIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERRRRERARAT R 2019F 128258 BREELT AR 10000007 BEMRAE/hE
(hangsha Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 02 January 2020 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ROEBEZRRAT RE - 00F 1728 BRELLT ARE1 0000007 HEWIRA/HE
Taiyuan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 March 2020 Limited liability company RB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
AREIEREFERAT RE - 00F3A 238 ERERDA ARE1 0000007 BEWRRA/HE
Pop Mart Korea Co, Ltd. (Pop Mart Korea) ~ South Korea, 17 July 2019 Limited liability company KRW 1,500,000,000 80% 80% 2% 20%  Sales of pop toys/South Korea
Pop Mart Korea Co, Ltd. (Pop Mart Koreg) 8+ 2019% 73118 BREFLT 15000008 BEERNA/BE
Foshan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 7 December 2020 Limited liability company RNIB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BUESEEREARAA R 00F 12878 BREELT ARE1 0000007 BERRRA/ 18
Yunnan Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 4 September 2020 Limited liability company RMB 1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EHEBESARLT R 200F9H4R BRERLA ARE1 0000007 BEBRAE /1

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

16 RHIBATIMNIKRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Ownership interestheld ~ Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
AEERENER FERERRE
13 JERRER

Country/place and date of Mthoriseg ~ At37 December A 31 December el activites
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity capital GUEHE maA3g place of operation

EAVELENE £V 2021 wmo| oW |
S #ERAH FEERED EERE | 00 | anF | WnE | 0nF  FEEE/EEnE
Indirectly held
BiEE
Anhui Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC15 June 2021 Limited liability company AIBS,000000 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
THRRERESERAT hE - 021 %6A15A BRELAA ARHB50000007C HEHRNA/9E
Bejing Longtengjiamao Trading Co, Ltd The PRC,12 February 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB2,000,000 100% - - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
Bejing Longtengjiamao Trading Co, Ltd RE - FIA12A EREMfLR ARE20000007C HEWTRE /8
Beijing Pop Mart Paradise The PRC,18 August 2021 Limited liabllity company RNB10,000000 100% - - - Playground/The PRC

Management Co,L1d. hE 01E8F18E BRELLF ARE 100000007 2508

FREAEREREERRAT
Dongguan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC26 January 2021 Limited liability company AVBT,000000 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RENIRRERERAT RE - 0151 A26R BREELT ARE1 0000007 pERRnA /A
Gansu Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC17 May 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% - - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
TEREZSERMT 8 S ATE ERERLA ARE1 0000007 BERRnA/hE
Guangxi Nanning Paqu Trading Co,Ltd. The PRC, 11 August 2021 Limited liabllity company AVBT,000000 100% - - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EREEEBERAR0T B8 01 F8A11 ERERLA AR 0000007 BERRnA/hE
Hangzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC 29 April 2021 Limited liability company AVBT,000000 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
MR ESARAT RE - 10154A 18 ERERLA ARE1 0000007 HEMA/hE
Ningbo Wanxinhuigui Investment Co,Ltd. ~ The PRC, 13 September 2021 Limited liability company RMB100,000,000 100% - - - Investment/The PRC
Ningbo Waxinfwigui Investment Co,ltd. B - 2021898138 ERAEfAR ARE1000000007C REME
Pop Investment Holding Limited The BY1,9 March 2021 Limited liabllity company USD30,000 100% - - - Investment/The BVl
BREERERAE RBERRE 0FIA9A BREELT SO000ET REZBAREE
Pop Mart (Canada) Co, Ltd. Canada, 11 January 2021 Limited liabllity company CADI 100% - - Sales of pop toys/Canada
Pop Mart (Canadz) Co, Ltd. mex 01%1A118 EREILT 1 HERTIA/ MeX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

POP MART

16 RTBRATINIKRE (#)

() MEBRTE (&)

Ownership interestheld ~ Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
AEERENER FERERER
13 LhARRE

Country/place and date of Muthoriseg ~ At37 December A 31 December — princival activites
Company name establishment/incorporation Kind of legal entity capital m12A3A GEHE place of operation

AU/ ERALER/ 20 m | 20m 0
NF4H BERAH EERREY EERA | 20nE | 00F | 0nE | 00F  EBEE/HE4%
Indirectly held
BiEE
POP MART MACAU LIMITED MACAU, 22 November 2021 Limited liability company MOP 25,000 100% - - - Sales of pop toys/MACAU
POP MART MACAU LIMITED 21 %1 AnA ERERLT B0EMAT HEMRTA /R
POP MART NEW ZEALAND LIMITED New Zealand, 3 November 2021 Limited liabllity company NZD1 100% - - - Salesof pop toys/
POP MART NEW ZEALAND LIMITED EE N A3R RRERLT IHERT NEW ZEALAND

HEMRTA/HER

POP MART UK LIMITED UK31 August 2021 Limited liabllity company GBP10 100% - - - Sales of pop toys/UK
POP MART UK LIMITED £8 001%8A31B BREEAT 1084 BEWRnA /28
Pop Mart USA Inc. The USA27 August 2021 Limited liability company UsD20 100% - - - Sales of pop toys/USA
Pop Mart USA Inc £8 0158578 BREMAF PESH BERTIA /%8
POP MART OCEANIA PTY LIMITED Australia, 17 August 2021 Limited liability company AUD1,260,000 60% - 40% - Sales of pop toys/Australia
POP MART OCEANIA PTY LIMITED EXFIE - 01 %8A17R EREAAT 12600007 HEMIRA/ BAAIE
Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding PTE. Ltd Singapore, 14 December 2021 Limited liabllity company 5GD1,000,000 100% - - - Sales of pop toys/Singapore
Pop Mart (Singapore) Holding PTE. Ltd gt 2001%12814R EREALA 10000003 KT HERRTA/ Fn
Qinghai Paqu Trading Co,Ltd. The PRC23 July 2021 Limited liabllity company RMB1,000,000 100% - - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EREAEHERAT RE - 0157 BR BRAELE ARE 10000007 HEWRRE /T8
Shanghai Paqu Cultural & Creative Corp, Ltd. ~ The PRC21 May 2021 Limited liabllity company AMB10,000000 100% - - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
HEEELERERAT RE - 02155A21B EREAAT ARE100000007T HEBTRE /98
Shanghai Paqu Technology Co.Ltd. The PRC4 Noverber 2021 Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 100% - - - Exhibition Business/The PRC
DEEANSERLT RE - 01511 4B ERERRA ARE100000007 REXH/ 1
Shijiazhuang Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC1T June 2021 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% - - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
RFEEBESERLA B8 015611 BREELT ARE1 0000007 BEWRnA/HE
Wulumugi Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC,14 October 2021 Limited liability company RMBT,000000 100% - - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
BRAENIEREZRRAT AR 014105148 RRELLE AR 0000007 HEMTRE /T8
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16 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

16 RTBRATINIKRE (#)

() MEBRTE (&)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.

(b) Non-controlling interests

BEEAME R AR FRETEAERES -

(b) FEIZMRAER

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2021 amounted
to RMB1,824,000 (As at 31 December 2020: RMB1,628,000). No subsidiary

has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.

(c) The English name of the subsidiaries are direct translation or translation

of their Chinese name.

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

EQUITY METHOD

M2021F 1284318 » SEERERAARKE
1,824,0007T (72020912 A31H : AR
1,628,0007T) ° BB AR HEH AEE
[BE R FEEARE A o

() MBRARXAAREFNENEKEZE

HEE -

17 ERREREARNIRE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Opening balance as at 1 January AT BREIRREE 50,380 22,101
Additional investments BIMEE = 29,241
Derecognition resulting from business XA PSR IETER
combination = (2,374)
Elimination of profit i 8 5 ) (5,043) (2,863)
Share of profit for the year DIRE R A 19,059 6,736
Dividends from an associate RE MBS R FRRE (2,073) -
Currency translation difference BB ER (784) (2,461)
Ending balance as at 31 December R12 831 HWERSE 61,539 50,380
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Details of the Group's joint ventures and associate as at 31 December
2021 and 2020 are as follows:

17 FAERZEZARNKRE @)

R2021F K20205F12 A31H » REEHE
BHENEBENRFBIO TR

Carrying amounts of the
% of ownership interest investment
Place of business) AR E A REREE
country of As at 31 December Nature of the  Measurement Asat 31 December
Company name incorporation 28318 Principal activities relationship method 124318
gEnY 2021 2020 2021 2020
R LIS 20215 | 2020 TEEE BAME STEAE 2021F 20205
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR | AR®TR
Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop Mart The PRC 52% 52%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture  Equity method 28,313 19443
Co, Ltd. ('Nanjing Pop Mart) i HEMRTA RELE ERE
HREERAERERAR
(MR
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE. LTD. Singapore 50% 50%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture Equity method 2,623 2,790
(‘Singapore Pop’) g HEBRIA RELE Ea%
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE. LTD.
("Singapore Pop’)
Pop Mart Japan, Inc. Japan 60% 60%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture Equity Method 1,355 975
('Japan Pop) AR HEDRIA aREbE EaE
Pop Mart Japan, Inc.
([ Japan Pop])
How2work Limited Hong Kong 25% 25%  Design and sales Associate Equity method 29,248 27172
How2work Limited BE of pop toys A UNG]| EnE
Rt REE BRI E
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17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(i) Summarised balance sheets of a material investment
accounted for using the equity method

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 FAERZEZARNKRE @)

() EREDREARNEARENEESR

BEREE

Nanjing Pop Mart

[EEESiaha kT
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETTT
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 31,121 12,941
Other current assets Efme&E 30,017 33,604
Total current assets BWREEE 61,138 46,545
Non-current assets EREBEE 76,049 63,177
Current liabilities REBEE
Financial liabilities (excluding trade and THEE(TEREEIHR
other payables) H At 5RI8) 20,055 40,107
Other current liabilities Efnsas 18,403 18,197
Total current liabilities wWREBAE 38,458 58,304
Non-current liabilities ERBERS 45,240 18,849
Net assets EEFE 53,489 32,569
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(i) Summarised balance sheets of a material investment
accounted for using the equity method (continued)

Reconciliation of above summarized financial information presented
to carrying amounts of the Group's share of interests in a material

investment accounted for using the equity method:

17 FAERZEZARNKRE @)

(i)

ERAESEANRNEARENEES
BRME (#)
FEXE2IMHBENSERREER S HE
RiEmREAZAENEXIRENREEY RN
T~

Nanjing Pop Mart

As at 31 December
R12A31H

2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AEBTTT
Opening net assets FUEEFE 32,569 25,175
Profit for the year FE R T 20,920 7,394
Closing net assets FREEFE 53,489 32,569
Group's share in % REBIEE L 52% 52%
Group's share in amounts REEFEE5E 27,814 16,936
Goodwill e 4,049 4,049
Elimination of unrealised profit S AR 3R s R (3,550) (1,542)
Carrying amount REE 28,313 19,443
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17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

(i)

EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Summarised statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of a material investment accounted

for using the equity method

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 FAERZEZARNKRE @)

(i) EAEDREARNEARENERR
Hitp 2 EKRSERPE

Nanjing Pop Mart
[EIpRaba kT
Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARETT

Revenue

Y as

281,488 147,491

Depreciation and amortisation e B (15,305) (14,558)
Other cost and expenses Hp A NFAY (238,436) (122,134)
Income tax expense Fr5HiM = (6,827) (3,405)
Profit and total comprehensive income FRBEAREZEWSHEEE

for the year 20,920 7,394
Dividends received from a material accounted BUERAEDEAREXR

for using the equity method KEMR S - -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(iii) Individually immaterial investments accounted for using
the equity method

The information below reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of the investments accounted for using the equity method

after alignment with accounting policies of the Group.

17 FAERZEZARNKRE @)
(i) AR EARNENREARE

VAT & R A B R K £2 (B O & R ROR AE EE —
HRERRDEARNRERVBHRERD
SIURRIEHE ©

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually immaterial  {# F# 25 A ABR A9 ([ BN EEK
investments accounted for using the equity method &K IRERE 33,226 30,937
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of profit REBEDIEFE N F 485
for the year
Profit for the year FNmF 8,181 2,891
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREAMEEEE (784) (2,461)
Total Comprehensive income for the year FREAEWNELTE 7,397 430
18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 18 IEEFTEBL
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Deferred income tax assets: BEFTSTHEE :
— to be recovered within 12 months — #1218 A R 20,081 12,752
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — R EBIE 1218 A & U e 15,472 10,335
35,553 23,087

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FREMBRRMET
18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued) 18 IEIEFR1 B (#)
(a) Deferred tax assets (a) IEIEFIBEEE
The balance of deferred tax assets comprises temporary differences BEMSHAEAACTEEREES - H
attributable to: BER :

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Lease liabilities HEEE 155,363 72,802
Tax losses HIEEE 23,942 12,088
Accrued expenses FERTFIE 6,328 8,180
Impairment loss BEBE 2,573 1,967
Total deferred tax assets EEREEERAE 188,206 95,037

Set-off of deferred tax liabilities in relation ThERREEERIERELEHIERE®D)

to right-of-use assets (b) (152,653) (71,950)
Net deferred tax assets EEREEETFE 35,553 23,087
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(a) Deferred tax assets (continued)

The movement is deferred income tax assets during the period, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of the balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as following:

18 IEIEFAEH (&)
(a) IEIERHIBEE (&)

REF AR — B B R R & 4 a7 0F 35 1R
HINBEMSHEENZEIT -

Impairment Lease Accrued
loss  Taxlosses liabilities expenses Total
HEERE - HEFR HEEE - EHHEX #st
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTRT AR¥TR ARBTR AR®TR AR¥TR
As at 1 January 2021 RM2021F1A1H 1,967 12,088 72,802 8,180 95,037
Credited to the consolidated statement 4R A 1EZE M EM
of profit or loss and other ZERERTA
comprehensive income 606 11,854 82,561 (1,852) 93,169
As at 31 December 2021 720215128318 2,573 23,942 155,363 6,328 188,206
As at 1 January 2020 R2020F1 818 2,132 6,666 45,849 3911 58,558
Credited/(charged) to the consolidated ~ F4RA BN EM
statement of profit or loss and other 2EMSERTA S
comprehensive income (k) (165) 5,422 26,953 4,269 36,479
As at 31 December 2020 72020F12A31H 1,967 12,088 72,802 8,180 95,037

The Group only recognises deferred income tax assets for cumulative
tax losses if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available
to utilize those tax losses. Management will continue to assess the
recognition of deferred income tax assets in future reporting periods.
As of 31 December 2021, the Group did not recognise deferred income
tax assets of RMB440,000 (2020: RMB1,246,000) in respect of cumulative
tax losses amounting to RMB1,760,000 (2020: RMB4,984,000). These tax
losses will expire from 2022 to 2026.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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ABIEEER 2T IEBERRETEHR
BREE EEERBETHRRRS
HHENELHEREERRBRL - &#ZE
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BB ARY1,760,0007T (20205F + AR
4,984,00070) RIBELEMISTHEE AR
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18 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities

The balance of deferred tax liabilities comprises temporary differences

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

18 IEIEFAEH (&)
(b) ELEFIEEE

BEERBREAHRERERIEEZE  HS

=

attributable to: ER -
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Right-of-use assets fEREEE 152,653 71,950
Set off of deferred tax assets in relation to MEAEERERCHIBEE
right-of-use assets (152,653) (71,950)
Net deferred tax liabilities EEBEEEFE - -

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year ended

31 December 2021 is as follows:

HZE2021F 12831 BIEFEHM - EEAT

SBRAENFENZZSHNT

Right-of-use assets

EREEE

RMB’000

AR¥ET T

As at 1 January 2021 ®2021F1 810 71,950
Debited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and RErEEm R H M

other comprehensive income 2 RN 80,703

As at 31 December 2021 7M2021%F12H31H 152,653

As at 1 January 2020 ®2020F1 410 42,339
Debited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and RérEBmRE M

other comprehensive income EHEKREFIR 29,611

As at 31 December 2020 72020F12A31H 71,950
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19 TRADE RECEIVABLES

19 EZ WA

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥®TT ARETT

Trade receivables (a) E 5 EWGRIA ()

— Third parties —%=H 120,273 61,311

— Related parties (Note 37(e)) — B85 (FIsE37(e)) 54,255 19,288
Subtotal NEE 174,528 80,599
Less: provision for impairment allowance (b) B FHRREZERE (b) (3,194) (2,265)
Total trade receivables ESREWRIEHAE 171,334 78,334

(@) For trade receivables from retail store sales, roboshop sales and
online sales, the amounts are usually settled in cash, by credit/
debit cards or through online payment platforms. For wholesale
transactions, trade receivables are settled within the credit terms as
agreed in sales contracts. The majority of these wholesalers are with
credit terms of 30 to 90 days. Certain customers with good history
and long-term relationship are extended preferential credit terms of

up to 180 days.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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19 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

(continued)
An aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is

as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

19 EZREWARIE (&)

@@ (&
RRZOHNE S ERFENRE S
W -

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREET T
Within 3 months 3@ A AA 162,250 67,736
3 months to 6 months 3ME A E6(EA 10,476 11,477
Over 6 months 618 A A £ 1,802 1,386
Total et 174,528 80,599

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. Note 3.1 provides for details about the

calculation of the allowance.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the
Group exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate

risk can be found in Note 3.1.

Movements in allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as

follows:

(b)

AEBERBERYBREEANEIRBHLT
FEAERMEREER  ZEBREEERY
FrEE 5 KRS R 2 TR E B &
o M3 VIR AR A ENFE -

B E 5 E UK TE R (E DA K AN £ B T G
WEEERR IERBREFERRZE
B B3 .

B S RBGRIBRNFREREBEZS T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020

20214 20204F

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBT T ARBETT

As at 1 January M1A1H 2,265 2,933
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment FTHR (BB RIERE

allowance 929 (668)

As at 31 December M12A31H 3,194 2,265
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19 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

19 EZREWARIE (&)
B 5 U LA T S HE

(c) Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

(0

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREETF T
RMB AR #E 148,088 77,430
KRW g2 [E 23,246 470
HKD BT = 434
171,334 78,334

(d) All trade receivables’ carrying amounts approximate fair values.

20 OTHER RECEIVABLES

(d)

B E S EE AN REES R AT

EMRE -

20 HAbfEWRIE

As at 31 December

MW12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T AREEF T
Deposits for lease HEZe 139,163 83,778
Recoverable value-added tax and other taxes AIUR B3 (E T M H b 77 I8 4,886 1,100
Advance to employees & BB 3,816 3,755
Others HAth 8,839 3,407
Less: allowance for impairment of other B HAb BRI 2 R E RS
receivables (1,765) (1,259)
Total #st 154,939 90,781

POP MART
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20 OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

21

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

20 M EWEE (#)

Movements in allowance for impairment of other receivables is as HAb EBGRIB R ERENZ T
follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12AALEE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBETTT
As at 1 January M1A1H 1,259 989
Provision for impairment allowance BERE 506 270
As at 31 December R12A31H 1,765 1,259

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair values of other receivables

approximated their carrying amounts.

R202149F 202012 A318 - H b ek
BN TFEEEREERS -

INVENTORIES 21 BE
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2021 2020
202145 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AREBT ARBEFIT
Merchandise (a) [SEEIC) 794,209 229,431
Less: provision for impairment (b) ORI E R (D) (5,380) (4,062)
Total #Et 788,829 225,369
(@) The cost of goods recognised as cost of sales amounted to approximately (@) EZE2021F K2020F12A31HIEFE @ &

RMB1,445,001,000 and RMB748,452,000, for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020, respectively.

Provision for impairment was recognised for the amount by which the
carrying amount of inventories exceeds its net realisable value and was
recorded in “cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The provision for impairment of inventory
amount to RMB1,318,000 and RMB2,095,000, for the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

REAEERANERER A BIHNABARE
1,445,001,0007C & A R #748,452,0007T ©

(b) REEZERAEBLEANZRFENSERE
RRERE Wt AR B REMEEIR
WM EERA] - BE2021F &2020F
NANBLFE  FEREBREIAAR
1,318,000 7T &2 A FR#E 2,095,000 7T ©

—Z—— 535 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 J POP MART

265



266

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS

2 ANREREMEE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREBTFT
Prepayments for inventories ENTFEHIE 194,468 88,939
Prepayments for design fees TEfTERET B RIE 100,001 56,215
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment ~ TE{S¥12 - BRE M EFIE 30,727 6,177
Prepayments for advertising and BNESERTSE
marketing expense 16,980 10,959
Prepayments for short-term leases and BN EAEEREREERS
property management fees 12,148 5,795
Deductible value-added input tax AR (B A T AL 3,191 1,450
Others Hih 26,792 14,560
384,307 184,095
Less: non-current portion W IEREE D (30,727) 6,177)
Prepayments and other current assets — ANREREMRBEE -
current portion REI D 353,580 177,918

POP MART
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23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

23 &

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

AFEFABENEREE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARBTT
Current assets RENEE
— Listed equity securities-stock (a) — ERAEES - RE@Q) 20,544 -
Non-current assets IRBEE
- Investment in associates measured at FVPL (b) — BRATEF AERBRE &
NAIEERE (b) 207,763 16,900
— Private equity fund investments —NEREESKRE 95,636 -
— Other unlisted investments (c) — EfIEETIEE(Q 25,289 -
Subtotal Nt 328,688 16,900
Total Bt 349,232 16,900
(@ The fair values of the listed securities are determined based on the closing @ Lﬁ%ﬁ%g%@fb*E%%E@ﬁ%ﬁﬁi&”&ﬁ%
prices quoted in active markets. They are accounted for using their fair values %_‘fﬁ_ o £ ﬁ%"?_ﬁ%ﬁfx\m SEE (B
based on quoted market prices (level 1: quoted price (unadjusted) in active E@Wi’%iﬁ% (*fé%é@%» BRAFEAR R
markets) without any deduction for transaction costs. MBRAERZSEA o
(b) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has invested in certain (b) EZE2021F12A31HIEFEHHE - AEE

unlisted companies. The Group exercises significant influence over these
associated companies by virtue of its right to appoint director to the board
of directors of these investees. In addition, the Group has the right to require
and demand investees to redeem all of the shares held by the Group at
guaranteed predetermined amount upon redemption events which are
out of control of the investees. Hence these investments are accounted for
as debt instruments and are recognised as financial assets measured at fair
value through profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

23 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH VBRAFETAEZNERHEE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) (&)

() During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group acquired (0 BHZE2021F12A31BLEFEHHE - ~5£E
approximately 3% and 4.3% equity interest in two unlisted companies with WM R IE LT A RIAI3% K% 4.3%HARFE -
total consideration of RMB22,074,000 and of RMB1,500,000 respectively. The BRED R AARYE22,074,000 R AR
Group do not have significant influence of these two investees and these 1,500,0007T © 2N 52 B %9 3% M 8 45 1% & 75 F 4%
investments are recognised as financial assets measured at fair value through BERTEN)  ZEREWABR/EBEATEA
profit or loss. AR emEE -

(d)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31BLLEE

2021 2020

2021F 2020F

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARBFT

Fair value change on listed equity securities-stock FHRAES - RENDTFEZS (6,575) -
Fair value change in associates measured at FVPL BATEF A B @A

RANTFEEH 3,687 -

Fair value change on other unlisted investments HAhIE EMIREN R T EES 1,715 -

Fair value change on private equity fund investments FLEREESIREN A FEEF 636 -

Fair value change on WMPs B ERNAFEZY 15,799 1,153

Total #st 15,262 1,153

b33 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEpr S EAR A &




24 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBmMRMET
24 RERASEEY
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARETT

Cash at banks and cash in hand RITRE RFHEES

Denominated in FHEER

- USD — X7 4,284,584 2,587,475
- HKD — BT 485,238 2,463,315
- RMB — AR¥ 491,504 630,376
- KRW — BRE 6,737 2,332
Less: Ve

Restricted cash ZRHIR e

- pledged for letter of credits — BIEAE R (3,353) (3,263)
Cash and cash equivalents RERREZEY 5,264,710 5,680,235

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank
balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC

government.

ARBTHENESR LRI - A8
ZENEHENRTERIBESELH D
+ WAZR 8 ST P B IR AR 4R 1O S0 EE B I A9
BEABRRIKIRG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR HRME
25 SHARE CAPITAL 25 A
Details of the Company's ordinary shares and preferred shares are as RAREBER L BEBROFENT
follows:
Nominal Nominal Nominal Nominal
Number of value of valueof  Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary preferred preferred preferred
shares shares shares shares shares shares
EER¥E EEREE LEREE BXRHE BAREE ErREE
UsD’'000 RMB'000 UsD’000 RMB'000
TEn AR®Trn TEn  ARETR
As at 1 January 2020 #202061A81H 115,456,278 12 82 - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares to the then MERRRETERR D)
shareholders (b) 6,076,646 1 4 - - -
Issuance of preferred shares (¢) FEERO - - - 610,718 - -
Re-designation of ordinary shares to ENEELRRATERTER
convertible redeemable preferred shares ()~ E5LR&(c) (3,664310) - 3) 3,664,310 - 3
Conversion of convertible redeemable BERAEE G RERA
preferred shares into ordinary shares (c) L@k 4,275,028 - 3 (4,275,028) - 3)
Issuance of ordinary shares under PostIP0 REERAREERKHER
Share Award Scheme (d) SHEIBTLRR) 2442873 - 2 - - -
Capitalisation issue (e) EXLETE) 1,121,278,635 12 733 - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares upon Global AHEERETERR
Offering (f) 135,715,200 14 89 - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise ~ FARIRRIEIEIT(E B 54T
of over-allotment option (f) LR 20,357,200 2 13 - - -
At 31 December 2020 ®2020F12A31A 1,401,937,550 141 923 - - -
As at 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021 #2021F1A10 R
2021128318 1,401,937,550 141 923 - - -
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25 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(@)

The Company was incorporated on 9 May 2019 with an authorised share
capital of US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.0001
each.

From May 2019 to September 2019, the Company issued an aggregated of
115,456,278 ordinary shares to the shareholders for a total consideration of
USD24,516,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB173,122,000), including
USD12,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB82,000) recorded in share
capital and USD24,504,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB173,040,000) in
share premium respectively.

On 31 October 2019, the Company entered into a share subscription
agreement with certain shareholders in respect of the issuance of 6,076,646
shares for a total consideration of USD56 million. The issuance of shares
was completed in March and April 2020, and the total consideration of
USD55,809,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB393,805,000) had been
received, including USD608 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,000)
recorded in share capital and USD55,808,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB393,801,000) in share premium respectively.

Pursuant to the resolution of the extraordinary general meeting of
the shareholders of the Company on 31 January 2020, the authorised
share capital of the Company of USD50,000, which originally consists of
500,000,000 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value each, was varied and
reclassified by dividing the 500,000,000 shares as follows:

(i) 495,724,972 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value each, of which
111,791,968 shares are issued; and

(i) 4,275,028 preferred shares (“Series A Preferred Shares”) re-designated
and re-classified from ordinary shares at the par value of US$0.0001
each on a one-for-one basis, which include 3,664,310 shares re-
designated and re-classified from ordinary shares in issue and 610,718
shares re-designated and re-classified from authorised but unissued
ordinary shares.

The re-designation of 3,664,310 existing ordinary shares were
accounted for as repurchase of ordinary shares and issuance of
convertible redeemable preferred shares to the respective shareholders,
recorded as a debit to share capital of USD366 (equivalent to
approximately RMB3,000 as rounded to the nearest thousand) to reflect
the repurchase of ordinary shares. The difference between the par
value and fair value of 3,664,310 ordinary shares was RMB499,658,000,
recorded as a debit to share premium in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2020.

(i) On 20 June 2020, all of the 4,275,028 Series A Preferred Shares were
converted into ordinary shares of the Company. The fair value of the
Series A Preferred Shares before conversion were USD88,408,000
(equivalent to RMB626,925,000), of which an amount of USD428
(equivalent to approximately RMB3,000 as rounded to the nearest
thousand) was recorded in share capital and the remaining amount of
RMB626,922,000 was recorded in share premium in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2020.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

25 R (&

(@)

AARIR2019F 5 AoB MK - AERA
/50,0003 7T * 9 A500,000,000 % Z X EE
0.0001 ETTH) @A -

B2019F5 AE2019F9A8 + AR AIMPKE
BEITA 115,456,278 E B - BREA
24,516,000% 7T (FHE R K AR 173,122,000
JL)  BIEEFABRAM®12,000E T (HE
RAAREES2,000T) Rt ARMD EHE W
24,504,000% 7T (AEE R AR 173,040,000
JT) °

2019108318 © AREIFEEETT6,076,646
Bk tn LS TR AT T R R % - 4
REASEEERTT - BRNEITE R 20203
ARk4AREK  REWEILRES5809,000%
TC (FEE R AR393,8050007T) + B3E:T
ABEA#608E T (FHE R & AR 4,0007T)
st AR A7 % (B 955,808,000 7T (FHE R4
AR #393,801,0007T) °

BAEARRFRER2020F1 A31BETH
REBINAGHRER - ARBRETER
850,000 7T (JR 5 82 15500,000,000 8 &
AR TE{E0.0001 XM EBIR) DRBED A
500,000,000 A% A&7 M &4 R EF H AT -

(i) 495,724,972 % BRME(E0.0001 F LA L
A - HP111,791,9688 2 31T ¢ &

(i) H—RB—REEKTREE0.0001
EXMEBRETEECRENS>EAR
4,275,028 IRIBEM& (TARFIEEAR]) -
PREEETEBREFNEERETS
H13,664,310AR A% 0 K& BYEEBARET
TRIRENETERENDEM610,718
&A% ©

EHEE 3,664,310/ 38 A L @AIZMA
EREREBE L BERRBEITAERA
EEELERALR - 218 AT 3663
T (FERHARKE3 0007 » HEERE
SEITHTRIEN) JA S ik B 0] 2 3@ A%
3,664 310 EBROBMEENTEZ
R ZET A AR 499,658,000 © IRE
E2020F 12 A3 1 AL FEERGRAER
BBREARMDGEEBEIR -

(i) M 2020F 6208 © &#4,275,028
BARIBARERARNQR LB
B o MEEHAT - ARFIEEBROAQF
5/588,408,000E T (HER AR
626,925,0007T) *© EAP & 584283 7T (18
ERHARES000T  HBREHER
WFRE) RBARAERBTEEBAR
#626,922,000 TR B ZE 2020412 A 31
Bt FEGAERESHR AN HE
ABR ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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25 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(d)

POP MART

On 24 July 2020, the board of directors of the Company approved to issue
2,442,873 ordinary shares of the Company to the Share Award Trust for
nil consideration in related to Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. The above
issuance of shares was completed on 28 July 2020, and the shares held by
the Share Award Trust will be recorded as “Shares held for Share Award
Scheme” and deducted from share premium until the RSU are vested or
cancelled. The shares under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme have been
adjusted to 24,428,730 after the capitalisation issue on 11 December 2020.

Capitalisation issue

As disclosed in Note 1, 1,121,278,635 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value
each were issued and USD112,128 (equivalent to RMB733,372) were credited
to share capital, of which 21,985,857 ordinary shares (representing share
capital RMB14,380) were held for Share Award Scheme (Note 26).

Issuance of new ordinary shares to public upon Global Offering

As disclosed in Note 1, the total gross proceeds from the Global Offering
were approximately HKD6,008,787,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB5,070,481,000), of which USD15,607 (equivalent to approximately
RMB102,079) was credited to share capital, HKD6,008,666,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB5,070,379,000) was credited to share premium. The share
issuance costs relating to the Global Offering amounted to RMB154,902,000
were recorded in share premium.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B3545EI AR A 5

25 R (&

(d)

R2020F7 8248 » ARRIERESHEUS
REMBRD BENEFTE1T2,442,873 AR F]
TR BN E R ARSI EEEE
MEBEER - FlRHEITER202067A4
28HFERK - Rt ERENEFER B RIRG 1558
R, ZEFEFENRG ] - WRERG
BEFNG  EEZBRHIRG BN FENE
$H5 o A2020F 12 B 1M BEARLEITE - BX
NABEERDEBTETOROEEEH
B 504,428,7300% ©

BEARLE#TT

WM FIAMEE  ARAB BT
1,121,278,635 % SRR E{E0.0001 E T L 8@
B - WH112,128 T (FHER ARKET733,372
TO) ETARAE - HPp iR D RE 8 E
21,985,857 IR E @R ((ERRA AR 14,380
7) (FIzE26) ©

RERBEERRDRALETHEBR

MM VI E  2RBERERAL
H#456,008,787,0008 7 (HHERHAR
#5,070,481,00070) + HH15,6073% 7T (48
BERAOAR®102,0797T) Bt AR -
if6,008,666,000% T (HHE RN AR
5,070,379,0007T) E st AR EE o BRIk
EBBNRMNEITRABARME 154,902,000
It BEFFARGIRE ©



26 SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

26 B RMRBFEFEHRSD

As at As at As at As at
December December December December
2021 2020 2021 2020
R2021F #20204F 2021 F 20204
12A31H 12A318 128318 12A31H
Shares Shares RMB RMB
) A in AR AR
Shares held for Share Award Scheme TR 0 S EDET BIFTE
of US$0.0001 each FHR0.0001 ETHRH 23,265,959 24,428,730 15,334 16,087

These shares are held by the Group’s Share Award Trust for the purpose
of issuing shares under the Group’s Share Award Scheme (see Note 28
for further information). Under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, the
Company issued 2,442,873 ordinary shares of the Company to the Share
Award Trust for nil consideration in 2020. The shares under the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme have been changed to 24,428,730 after the

capitalisation issue on 11 December 2020 (see Note 25(d) for further

information).

REBBORMD ZE T/ ENZERD B
B AR IR AN R B A R 1 BB AT B BT AR O
(E—FEBERWE28) - RIBE X AR
EBRBM B S AR RIN20200F AT
RABMR D RENEFEE1T2,442,873 R A B E
B o 20205 12 A1 BER(LETTE -
BAAHBERRMDEETETHRG

EE % 524,428,730/ GE— T FRB R W=

25(d)) °
Number

of shares RMB
Details ROEE AR
Balance at 1 January 2020 7202061 A1 BRV &R - -
Shares issued to the Share Award Scheme BITT R B R EIMAR (D 2,442,873 1,707
Capitalisation issue BT 21,985,857 14,380
Balance at 31 December 2020 2020412 A31 HEY &84 24,428,730 16,087
Shares vested under the Share Award Scheme (Note 28) AR IEAX (7 52Bh =+ 2153 B 6917 (P 5E28) (1,162,771) (753)
Balance at 31 December 2021 7202112 A31 BEV &84 23,265,959 15,334
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27 OTHER RESERVES 27 Htf# A
(a) Other reserves movement of the Group (a) NEEMEMFHEES
Share-based
Share Capital Statutory  Translation compensation
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves Total
A 43
AEBN
ROEE  EARE  LERE  EXRGE  (ARRE @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR ARMTR AR¥TR ARETn AR%T#R
As at 1 January 2021 R2021%181H 12,551,545 (7,382,159) 57,727 (37,998) - 5,189,115
Currency translation difference ERBEETE - - - (115,523) - (115,523)
Dividends declared EIRBE (205,833) - = = - (205,833)
Share vested under the Share Award Scheme  RIER D 1281 B 5B 2 R fp 71,551 - - - (71,552) (1)
Share-based compensation expenses AR BET R R X - - - - 155,825 155,825
Balance at 31 December 2021 2021512831 BROLE 12417263 (7,382,159) 5171 (153521) 84273 5023583
As at 1 January 2020 #2020%151H 7,500,381 (7,382,159) 50,506 903 - 169,631
Currency translation difference EHBEETE - - - (38901) - (38901)
Profit appropriation to statutory reserves () BRRETREET0 - - 7201 - - 7221
Re-designation of ordinary shares to convertible  EFTHETE LRI AT EA
redeemable preferred shares (Note 25(c)) AEEERR (HEE25(0) (499,658) - - - - (499,658)
Issuance of ordinary shares to the then MERRRETLRR
shareholders (Note 25(b) (F3¥25(0)) 393,801 - - - - 393,801
Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred AT EHA T B BB L RES
shares into ordinary shares (Note 25(c)) REBR (H3E25(0) 626,922 - - - - 626,922
Capitalisation issue (Note 25(¢)) BRI BT (15 256) (719) - - - - (719)
Issuance of new ordinary shares (Note 25(7) BATAE AR (HEEs) 4,409,110 - - - - 4409,110
Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of B EETFREITLER
over-allotment option (Note 25(f) GEIH) 661269 - - - - 661,269
Share issuance costs (Note 25(f) IR BT (HEE25(0) (154902) - - - - (154902)
Dividends declared BIREE (384,659) - - - - (384,659)
Balance at 31 December 2020 B20205 12831 B8R 12551545 (7382,159) 57,727 (37998) - 5,189,115
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27 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(@) Other reserves movement of the Group (continued)

(i) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC,
when distributing the net profit of each year, the Group shall set
aside 10% of its profit after income tax (based on the PRC statutory
financial statements and after offsetting accumulated losses from
prior years) for the statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the

reserve balance has reached 50% of the paid-in capital).

Statutory reserve can be used to make up for the loss or increase

the paid-in capital after approval from the appropriate authorities.

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

(a) Share Award Scheme

The Company adopted the restricted share unit (the “RSU") long term
incentive plan (the "Post-IPO Share Award Scheme”) on 24 July 2020
with a duration of 10 years commencing from the adoption date. The
objective of the Scheme is to align the interests of selected participants
with those of the Group and to encourage and retain selected
participants to make contributions to the long-term growth and profits

of the Group.

Under the scheme, Pop Mart Partner Limited (the “Share Award Trust”)
was established in British Virgin Islands on 7 May 2020. As the financial
and operational policies of the Share Award Trust are governed by the
Group, and the Group benefits from the Share Award Trust's activities,
the Share Award Trust is consolidated in the Group's financial statements

as a special purpose entity.

The aggregate number of RSU will not exceed 10% shares without
shareholders’ approval subject to an annual limited of 5% of the total

number of issued shares as at the date of adoption.
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28 IR BERWEM =)
(@) BPEmEE ()

28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

(a) Share Award Scheme (continued)

On 24 July 2020, the board of directors of the Company approved to
issue 2,442,873 ordinary shares of the Company to the Share Award Trust
for nil consideration in related to Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. The
above issuance of shares was completed on 28 July 2020, and the RSU
held by the Share Award Trust was recorded as “Shares held for Share
Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the RSU are vested
or cancelled. The number of shares under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme have been changed to 24,428,730 after the capitalisation issue
on 11 December 2020.

Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, on 4 January 2021, 29
March 2021, 31 March 2021,1 April 2021, 1 June 2021, 2 July 2021 and 4
October 2021 the Group granted 2,804,789 RSUs, 184,409 RSUs, 104,925
RSUs, 730,925 RSUs, 763,258 RSUs 174,170 RSUs and 372,591 RSUs

respectively to the selected participants.

The above granted RSUs have various vesting schedules including:

Certain RSUs shall be fully vested immediately on the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 78th day following

the grant date;

Certain RSUs shall vest in a single tranche on the 90th day following

the grant date;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 300 days,
with 50% of granted RSUs vested on the 90th day following the
grant date, and the remaining 50% of granted RSUs vested upon

the maturity of the entire vesting period;

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5

720207 A24R - ARBRESEHANUT
RERRG REE T 872,442,873 AN A
LR - AR BERARABEERRGN /G
EIMMEBAEET - LR BEITE R 20204
7H28 B TR - BR1D SRS FEFRFA IR
f&1n BAL Y BR & [ BEAR (0 22 @) 51 Bl F5F A AR
M WHRERFING BEEXRHIKRMDE
fUsEEaaEss - M2020F 12 A1 BERIL
B1T1e BRARREBEEERODEDET
IR D B E B B 524,428,7308% o

BEEIAARESERG ZBE - RN
20211 A48 ~ 20213298 ~ 202143
A318 ~2021F4H18 ~2021F6 18
20217 A28 K20215F10 48 » AEEM
B E 2 HE 5 R 2,804,789 1 5 BR #l A% 15
BEf7 - 184,409 18 R FlAR 15 Bz - 104,925
1B 52 PR HIR 19 BBz ~ 730,925 18 R #I B 19
BBz~ 763,258 X R FIAR D EALL - 174,170
& 52 PR 1 A% 19 B 2. 372,591 & X BR %Il & 17
B e

B FR IR B BEERRS
AR - i

ETEREIMEMGRE L B H R
EHEFE

ETERHBMDEMRIRL BEEE
78HAE—HREE

ETEREBMEMRIEL BEEE
HNE—HREE

ETERIBROEMNNBEBHFEAERLY
A3008 » BHR50%0 % R IG5
BURREBBEEORSEE - M
T 509 B 5% tH 52 PR I AR 17 B8 1o Al 2R 1
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28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

(a) Share Award Scheme (continued)

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 4 years, with 50% of granted
RSUs vested on the second anniversary of the grant date, 25% of
granted RSUs vested on the third anniversary of the grant date,
and the remaining 25% of granted RSUs vested on the fourth
anniversary of the grant date;

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of approximately 45 months,
with 25% of granted RSUs vested by the end of the 9th month
following the grant date, and the remaining 75% of granted RSUs
vested in 3 equal installments over the remaining vesting period of
36 months; and

Certain RSUs have vesting schedules of 4 years, with 25% of granted
RSUs vested on every anniversary of the grant date over the vesting
period.

Besides the above RSUs granted to employees, on 29 March 2021, the
Group transferred 184,409 ordinary shares of the Company via the RSU
Trust to a third-party vendor, as part of the consideration for purchasing
of certain assets. The transaction is accounted for as share-based
payment transaction, under which the purchased assets are recognised
at the market value of the Company's shares on the date of transfer
(which amounted to RMB8,791,000), with the corresponding amount
recorded as a credit to “shares held for share award scheme” and “share
premium” respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2021, there
is no modification on the terms of the above transaction.

Evaluations are made as of each reporting period to assess the likelihood
of service conditions being met. Share-based compensation expenses
are then adjusted to reflect the revision of original estimates. Once
the vesting conditions of the respective RSUs are met, the RSUs are
considered duly and validly issued to the selected participants at nil

consideration, and free of restrictions on transfer.

The fair value of awarded shares, based on the market value of the
Company's shares on the grant date, is charged to profit or loss as
employee benefit expenses of the Group. The total amount charged to
profit or loss was RMB147,068,000 during the year ended 31 December
2021 (31 December 2020: nil).
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28 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)
(a) Share Award Scheme (continued)

Movements in the awarded shares are as follow:

28 IR BERWEM =)
(@) BPEmEE ()
SRR HESMT -

Years ended at 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021
202145

Average
fair value Number of
per share shares

BRFY
DNE¥E R0 & E
(RMB) (Thousands)

2020
20204
Average
fair value
per share
BTH
AV

Number of

shares

rE 4=

(RMB)  (Thousands)

(AR¥T) (FB) | (AR¥T) (FH&)
Opening balance as at 1 January M1 AT BREDERR = = - -
Granted i 69.84 5,135 - -
Vested 5B 72.41 (1,163) - -
Forfeited E 74.33 (147) - -
Ending balance as at 31 December 12831 BMERE & 68.86 3,825 - -
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29 TRADE PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

29 ESE(SFUE

As at 31 December

MR12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBETIT
Merchandise payables 72 G ST 5RIE 266,098 115,804

The credit terms of merchandise payables granted by the suppliers are
usually current to 180 days. At 31 December 2021 and 2020, the aging

analysis of the merchandise payables based on invoice date is as follows:

HEFEIHOEREMNZTENEZERBES
ABNEAZE 180K ° 7220214 22020412 A 31
B EZEREZEHBOEGEMSRENERR

DT -

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBETF T
Within 30 days 30K A 99,606 31,355
30 to 90 days 30E90K 122,444 44,736
90 to 180 days 90ZE 180K 19,447 20,604
Over 180 days 180K E 24,601 19,109
Total et 266,098 115,804
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30 LICENSE FEES PAYABLES

30 EHREE

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBTT
License fees payables ERRES 132,375 86,814
Less: non-current portion B FERNERER (46,371) (27,934)
Current portion BEAER 86,004 58,880
As disclosed in Note 14(a), the Group entered into various license RN EE14) FTIEEE - AEBEBAIMKE]

agreements with artists to obtain exclusive and non-exclusive Licensed

IPs. Pursuant to the license agreements, fixed minimum payments are

payable in tranches during the contracted term while variable payments

that depend on sales are payable in the period in which the condition

that triggers those payments occurs.

POP MART

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

NETEERS  ARGBERNMFEREK
P - RIBREWZ - BESENRERE
HWER D BN MERHE N AN RA
REBEZEN RO G B ENBRAAS -



30 LICENSE FEES PAYABLES (continued)

Movement in license fees payables during the year is analysed as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

30 EfTIREE (&)
FERE R BN EREB ST :

RMB’'000

AR¥T

As at 1 January 2021 ®2021F1A81H 86,814
Additions NE 190,272
Payment of license fees SR ES (144,501)
Adjustment for exchange difference ME 5 = RE A E (210)
As at 31 December 2021 20215128318 132,375
As at 1 January 2020 720201818 16,495
Additions NE 149,735
Payment of license fees TREEE (79,322)
Adjustment for exchange difference ME 5, 7= RE A #E (94)
As at 31 December 2020 7M2020612A31H 86,814

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2021 2020
202145 2020%F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBETTT

Analysis of license fees payables: ENREE DN

Non-current FERE 46,371 27,934
— the first to second year —F—E2FE=F 26,674 6,487
— the second to fifth year —BZEERF 16,346 18,009
— more than five years —RFUE 3,351 3,438
Current BIEA 86,004 58,880

The license fees payables are mainly denominated in RMB, USD and HKD.

The maturity profile of the Group's license fees based on contractual

undiscounted cash flows is disclosed in Note 3.1(c).

ENEREEBIEUAARYE - ZTRBTA
@ o

FEMERANABRRSRENERE
B EIE R T E 31 (O -
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31 OTHER PAYABLES

31 HAiE(SFUIE

As at 31 December

R12A318
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Wages, salaries and other employee benefits I&  #FeKkEMEEREN 77,423 42,218
Accrual expenses FERTRIX 56,441 31,599
Payable for leasehold improvement JERT R E RS FIE 54,573 27,123
Other tax payables FEAS B A 35 18 27,540 28,559
Payables to merchants on conventions ENEE®EFRIA 11,094 3,064
Dividend payable e AR B 10,596 7,079

Payables for short-term and variable rental SR EEE

expense = 5KIE 7,479 11,181
Deposits payable ERHRE 4,198 9,714
Payables for listing fees R EmEA - 25,716
Others Hh 17,558 16,044
Total et 266,902 202,297

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the carrying amounts of other

payables are considered to approximate their fair values, due to their

short-term nature.
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32 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 2 EHNEE
As at 31 December
M12A318

2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T AREET T
Online sales R EHE 76,082 51,042
Customer loyalty programme EFPAHMETE 31,240 21,803
Wholesales Sty 8,295 5,037
License income R A 4,007 6,059
119,624 83,941

(i)  During the year ended 2021 and 2020, the points expire at the end

of each six months from the date on which the initial sales occur.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities balance at the

beginning of the year:

HEXIFER2000FEFE - BHOR
ROEEREE BRATNEATLE

MENE OB BEAERER NI -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2021 2020
20214 20205
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AR¥TT
Credited to the consolidated statement of s AGRE R R HEA
profit or loss and other comprehensive el e
income 82,839 26,303
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED
SHARES

Pursuant to the resolution of the extraordinary general meeting of
the shareholders of the Company on 31 January 2020, the authorised
share capital of the Company of USD50,000, which originally consists of
500,000,000 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value each, was varied and
reclassified by dividing the 500,000,000 shares as follows:

(i) 495,724,972 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value each, of which
111,791,968 shares are issued; and

(i) 4,275,028 preferred shares (“Series A Preferred Shares”) re-
designated and re-classified from ordinary shares at the par value
of US$0.0001 each on a one-for-one basis, which include 3,664,310
shares re-designated and re-classified from ordinary shares in issue
(the "Transferred Shares”) and 610,718 shares re-designated and re-

classified from authorised but unissued ordinary shares.

On 31 January 2020, the Company, the shareholders in respect of the
Transferred Shares and LVC Amusement LP (the “Investor”) entered
into a share purchase agreement (the “Share Purchase Agreement”),
pursuant to which the shareholders in respect of the Transferred Shares
transferred 3,664,310 Series A Preferred Shares to the Investor, for a total
consideration of USD75,000,000.

On the same date, the Company, together with certain subsidiaries,
entered into a shares subscription agreement (the “Share Subscription
Agreement”) with the Investor, pursuant to which the Company allotted
and issued 610,718 Series A Preferred Shares to the Investor, at a price of
USD20.4677 per share for a total consideration of USD12,500,000.

The transactions under the Share Purchase Agreement and the Share

Subscription Agreement were completed on 31 January 2020 (the “Issue
Date”).
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(i) R—RE—REEKFTREE0.0001
ETMERRENIEERETHEL
4,275,028 BB (TARTEL]) -
BEEEETEBREFEEREN
DEERI3,664,3100 0815 ([EERDK )
REEEERBETLERENEER
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33 CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED
SHARES (continued)

(a)

Dividends rights

The investor of Series A Preferred Shares are entitled to receive
dividends, out of any assets legally available, as and if declared by
the Board. Such distributions shall not be cumulative. To the extent
any dividend is declared and paid, such dividend shall be paid

ratably to all shareholders on an as-converted basis.

Conversion feature

The Preferred Shares shall be automatically converted into fully-
paid, non-assessable Ordinary Shares, based in the then-effective
applicable conversion price for such shares: (i) immediately prior to
the closing of an IPO or (ii) (A) on the date specified on the written
request for such conversion from the investors (calculated on an
as converted basis) with respect to the conversion of the Series A

Preferred Shares.

IPO means the Company'’s first underwritten public offering of
its Ordinary Shares and listing on an internationally recognized
securities exchange (for the avoidance of doubt, excluding “NEEQ”
in the PRC).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33 CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED
SHARES (continued)

(c) Redemption feature

Upon the written request of each majority holder of the Series
A Preferred Shares, the Company shall redeem all or any portion
of the Series A Preferred Shares. Upon the earlier to occur of
(i) the Company has not completed an IPO following the fifth
(5th) anniversary of the Closing, or (ii) any material breach of any
Transaction Agreement by the Company and its subsidiaries or
Mr.Wang Ning and GWF Holding Limited.

(d) Voting rights

Each Series A Preferred Shares has voting rights equivalents to the
number of ordinary shares into which such Preferred shares could

be then convertible.

The Group monitors Series A Preferred shares on a fair value basis
which is in accordance with the risk management strategy and does
not bifurcate any embedded derivatives from the host instruments
and designates entire instruments as financial liabilities at FVPL with

the changes in the fair value recorded in the consolidated income

33 AT ERE LR &)

(o) HEERER

RARFBAERNEEEFEASTER
SKEF - RN EZEER 2R EMIBLDA
RANBER - RBEEATEHR (AR
FERE)  VARABEREMNERG)
BEEBARTRERAREE 23
AN ) R LB B8 X A ok B S A R GWF
Holding Limited @ E & R R 5

¢
ax

(d) }XT*&

BRARIELEREERENEMES
P B AT B R ) B R AR B IR o

AEBRRERERREENQFEERA
RoEER  THEMBRARTETASA
TITENH - ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%%fﬁlﬁ?“i%?ﬁ@
FEFABRENEHEE  AAFEE

FFARERER ©

statements.
RMB'000
AREFTT
As at 1 January 2020 R2020F1A1H -
Issuance of Series A Preferred Shares BITARSIME SR 602,665
Change in fair value NEEEH 6,260
Currency translation differences B E = 18,000
Redemption of Series A Preferred Shares fEEARFIME LR (626,925)
As at 31 December 2020 72020612A31H -

As disclosed in Note 25, on 20 June 2020, all of the 4,275,028 Series A

Preferred Shares were converted into ordinary shares of the Company.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

BANFIFE 25 FTIEER - 202086 208 ¢ &
864,275,028 AR FIB LR ER BAR QT L
AT o



34 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

34TE - HEhHMEEER

BENEFITS
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Salaries, bonuses and allowances TE& -« fE4T K28k 479,356 239,745
Contributions to pension plans (a) RIREET B () 43,301 3,218
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 28) LA A A B A SR BN B =2 (B 5E28) 147,068 -
669,725 242,963

Contributions to pension plans

Employees of the Group companies in the PRC are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
and operated by the local municipal government. The Group contributes
funds which are calculated on fixed percentage of the employees’ salary
(subject to a floor and cap) as set by local municipal governments to

each scheme locally to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group has no other obligations for the payment of retirement and
other post-retirement benefits of employees or retirees other than the

defined contribution payments as disclosed above.

RS EHR

AREBEPERARNREEAZNHE TR
FERELERNEREIEARSEE - K
SEME R EHR (REBTBTRE
MEEHFEMBEEAIL (RETREL
R)FTE)  AEEMEAKEMNREHRESR -

B EXFIRBEERERRIN » REELE
Hipr e B3R RA TR INE REM
BREBRFNEE -
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e MBEHRME

34 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE 34I ¥ HE4NEMEEEF

BENEFITS (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2021 including 1 director whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 40 (2020: 2). The
emoluments payables to the remaining 4 (2020: 3) individuals during the

year ended 31 December 2021 are as follows:

(%)

hEHEEMEAL

HE2021F12ABLEE  AEEHE
BEEfAEATHRSRIEE—% (20204 :
MA)EE S RMEM 40RO
oo HZE2021F12A31BILFEHM - fE
NPEHBINE (2020F : =H) ATHES

s
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Salaries,bonuses and allowances T& - TE4T NoRBL 7,793 4,057
Contributions to pension plans RIREFTEIHR 249 19
Share-based compensation expenses VAR 1 A EERE B0 SR BN B =2 3,952 -
11,994 4,076
The emoluments fell within the following bands: Mo BRIATEE :
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLFEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Emolument bands (in HKD) e #E (LB TTET)
HKD 0 to HKD1,000,000 078 7L £ 1,000,00078 7T - -
HKD 1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 1,000,001/ 75 2 1,500,000 7T = 3
HKD 1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T £ 2,000,000,8 7T - -
HKD 2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 2,000,001 78 7T 2 2,500,000 T 2 -
HKD 2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 2,500,001 78 7T 2 3,000,000 7T = -
HKD 3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 3,000,001 78 7T 2 3,500,000 7T 1 -
HKD 3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 3,500,001 7 7T 24,000,000 7T - -
HKD 4,000,001 to HKD4,500,000 4,000,00175 7 & 4,500,000 7T - -
HKD 4,500,001 to HKD5,000,000 4,500,001 7L £ 5,000,000/8 7T - -
HKD 5,000,001 to HKD5,500,000 5,000,001 7 7T £ 5,500,000 7T 1 -
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flows

generated from operations:

(a) BRETISH

s g
ﬁmuiﬂ-"

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

35 B RERERMET

i SRS
B4R

EEELNR

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET ARBTT
Profit before income tax B P15 15 Al g ) 1,171,191 707,403
Adjustments for: BLA T FIEEL T
Fair value gains from financial assets Tﬁ’&?ﬁﬁ]\?ﬁ SR ELE E Y
at FVPL (Note 23) NERER (MEE23) (15,262) (1,153)
Fair value gain changes on convertible A EE 34 AT BB BB S AR A (B
redeemable preferred shares (Note 33) (FfF5E33) - 6,260
Expense related to re-designation ordinary E%ﬁ?‘a’i% MR AESTIRERAS
shares to preferred shares (Note 33) (Bft5E33) - 16,910
Share-based compensation expenses VARR 1 3 EERE B SR BN Bl =2 147,068 -
Share of results of joint ventures and DMEEEhEREENTES
associates (Note 17) (BF5E17) (14,016) (3,.873)
Depreciation of property, plant and VI~ B R EITE (FisE13)
equipment (Note 13) 161,834 66,682
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) M EERE (HE14) 51,470 36,221
Loss on disposal of property, plant and BEME BEMIRBNELEE
equipment, intangible assets RIE18 3 16
Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets REFAREENRR - 102
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 15) FRBEENE (B:E15) 221,698 142,940
Provision for/(reversal of) impairment SRMEERERE (EE)
on financial assets 1,435 (398)
Impairment losses on inventory (Note 21) FEREERE (M:E21) 1,318 2,095
Finance (income)/expense, net (Note 9) B35 (U A),/ FSOF 58 (M5E9) (7,363) 8,993
Foreign exchange gains or loss HMNE B 7 2,613 1,270
Changes in working capital: EEESEE
Inventories e (564,778) (130,329)
Trade receivables Z 2 EMIE (93,928) (31,715)
Other receivables E U GRIE (64,756) (38,886)
Prepayments and other current assets TEFRIE R EMRE A E (190,447) (53,742)
Trade payables B SR HRIE 157,806 71,610
Other payables H A JE T FIE 40,506 50,701
Contract liabilities aHEE 35,683 48,774
Cash generated from operations RETBHEENRS 1,042,075 899,881
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment:

35

RERERERMT &)

b) BEY% - MENRRBAENRER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2021 2020
20214 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFT ARETE

Net book amount (Note 13)

FREDFHE (FiaE13)

612 1,997
Loss on disposal of property, plant and BEME  BELEBENEE
equipment (3) (16)
609 1,981

(c) Net debt reconciliation

) B FEELR

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBET T

Cash and cash equivalents
Lease liabilities — due within 1 year

Lease liabilities — due after 1 year

RENREEHEY

HEAE - —iLAWE‘JHﬂ

Net cash

5,264,710 5,680,235
(256,909) (144,724)
(364,543) (147,050)

4,643,258 5,388,461
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(c) Net debt reconciliation (continued)

35 e RE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

MEBRHEE &)

(c) ERFEE R (&)

Cash and cash

equivalents Lease liabilities Net cash

ReRBEZEEY HEAE Re 3

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T INT-E AR¥TR

Net cash as at 1 January 2021 R2021F1 A1 ANBRLFHE 5,680,235 (291,774) 5,388,461
Cash flows BenE (304,732) 220,126 (84,606)
Addition - leases liabilities Zn-HEgE - (528,618) (528,618)
Interests accrued for leases liabilities HEaBZEFE - (21,186) (21,186)
Foreign exchange adjustments HNGE 32 (110,793) - (110,793)
Net cash as at 31 December 2021 R2021E12 831 BENREFE 5,264,710 (621,452) 4,643,258
Net cash as at 1 January 2020 R2020F1 A1 ANBRLFHE 324,614 (183,398) 141,216
Cash flows Bene 5,356,797 147,995 5,504,792
Addition - leases liabilities En-HEEE - (245,425) (245,425)
Interests accrued for leases liabilities HEaBZEFE - (10,946) (10,946)
Foreign exchange adjustments SN TR B (1,176) - (1,176)
Net cash as at 31 December 2020 R2020F 12831 HWR&FHE 5,680,235 (291,774) 5,388,461
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BmERMET
36 COMMITMENTS 36 ik
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEAREGE
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT T AEBTTT
Contractual but not provided for BRI AR EE
— Property, plant and equipment ot/ E G - 16,008
— Acquiring investments measured at fair value — R A FEFEEEEEAE
through profit or loss =R E 78,750 -
78,750 16,008
37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3VEBARS
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly B ABRENEEIMAEZHS—F - %
or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence EEEM B REERRRH S —HEES
over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties Ae® R AEEEE - WAL AXH
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control. EEs - Q7R RE B - ABIBRFME
Members of key management and their close family member of Popmart DEEEKE MNHETHKE MG AR
are also considered as related parties. pals
The following transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of TARZRGTIRBBEFAEEKAERE
Popmart's business and were determined based on mutually agreed 17 WARE R A [ 23 K B 15 E MO IR
terms during the Relevant Periods. 5E °
Names of the major related parties Nature of relationship
TE@HHER BERNMTE
Mr. Wang Ning Executive director of the Group
TEEE REBBMITES
Nanjing Pop Mart Joint venture
[EEpaviabaksi s aEhE
Pop Mart Japan Joint venture
Pop Mart Japan Rt
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE.LTD Joint venture
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE.LTD BEEE
Singapore Pop Joint venture
Singapore Pop AP
How2work Limited Associate
How2work Limited Breab s
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37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Significant transactions with related parties:

(a) Sales of goods to

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

3VEBARS (&)

£ A B

EITNERRZS !

(a) SHEEmMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2021 2020

20214 20204

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T AREFT

Joint ventures AEeh¥E 210,040 97,008

(b) Purchase of goods from

(b) BEEmA

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T ARBFTT
An associate iR 13,452 16,309
(c) Receive Service from (c) BBR#%E
Year ended 31 December
HBZE12A31BLLEE
2021 2020
20215 20204F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Associates B3 5,458 7,895
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e BmERMET
37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 3VEBARS (&)
Significant transactions with related parties: (continued) EEHLETHNERRS @ (&)
(d) Key management compensation (d) EASEEIE A EH N
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3ALEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T R ARBEFIT
Salaries and other benefits e ME AN 6,213 6,181
Contributions relating to social insurance, iR - FEAEE R
housing fund and retirement scheme RIRETEIAERA AR 372 167
Bonus TEAL 1,084 839
Share-based compensation expenses VARR 13 3 ERE B SR BN Bl =2 11,803 -
19,472 7,187
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) 37 BEERA RSB (&)
Significant transactions with related parties: (continued) EEHLETHNERRS @ (&)
(e) BHREEF A ME RF4 HERR !

As at 31 December

(e) Significant year-end balances with related parties:

MR12A31H
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Assets BE
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE
Joint ventures el 54,255 19,288
Other receivables HibEWFRIE
Joint ventures AENE 3,115 2,108
Prepayments T RRIE
An associate —KEERT 16,714 6,952
Trade payables B S EMARIE
Associates iR /N 1,555 1,396
License fees payables ENEEE
Associates iR /NE] 9,966 11,935
Other Payables Hi S RE
A Joint venture —REEhE 27,417 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38 CONTINGENCY

On 28 August 2020, Beijing Pop Mart received a court summons
dated 19 August 2020 in relation to a claim brought by Golden Eagle
International Retail Group (China) Co., Ltd. (“Golden Eagle International”)
as a shareholder on behalf of Nanjing Pop Mart at the Jiangsu Nanjing
Intermediate People’s Court against Beijing Pop Mart, alleging, among
others, that Beijing Pop Mart had breached an investment cooperation
agreement dated 29 April 2014 which was entered into among Golden
Eagle International, Mr. Wang Ning and other then shareholders of
Beijing Pop Mart. Pursuant to the claim, Golden Eagle International
claimed that (i) Beijing Pop Mart should cease to operate the claimed
stores in certain exclusive areas; and (ii) Beijing Pop Mart should return
an amount of approximately RMB117.2 million to Nanjing Pop Mart,
which represents the alleged gross profits obtained by Beijing Pop Mart
for the year ended 31 December 2019 from operating the claimed stores

in the exclusive areas.

On 17 June 2021, the first hearing of the above case was held, and
the major proceedings were the collection and verification of further
information provided by Golden Eagle International and the Group. Up
to the date of approval of this consolidated financial statements, the

above case is still in process.

No provision in relation to this claim has been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020, as the Mainland China legal adviser of the Company advised
that the claim brought by Golden Eagle International is groundless,
the likelihood that the claim will be decided in favour of Golden Eagle
International is very low, the risk exposure of the Group from the claim
is minimal and the claim will not have a material adverse impact on the

Group's operations and financial performance.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

39 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE 39K QFAINEEEBEZRZREEMEE

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

Balance sheet of the Company KAREEAER
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2021 2020
20215 20204
12A31H 12A31H
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Assets EE
Non-current assets kREBEE
Investment accounted for using the equity method T A ABRKIRE 29,248 27173
Investments in subsidiaries KB AT RNIEE 6,898,576 6,904,266
Total non-current assets HWERBEE 6,927,824 6,931,439
Current assets REEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss ERAFEFAEBSNEREE 20,544 -
Other receivables Eo b W sk IE 231,718 4219
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEED 4,414,861 4,965,721
Total current assets BWREEE 4,667,123 4,969,940
Total assets BEE 11,594,947 11,901,379
Equity =
Share capital &N 923 923
Shares held for Share Award Scheme TR D SR ENET EIIE A AR D (15) (16)
Other reserves (a) E b (a) 11,592,422 11,922,641
Accumulated deficit RETEs AL (8,978) (29,251)
Total equity wmrER 11,584,352 11,894,297
Liabilities =N
Current liabilities HEBEE
Other payables HAth FETFRIE 10,595 7,082
Total current liabilities BrREaE 10,595 7,082
Total liabilities waE 10,595 7,082
Total equity and liabilities BERREE 11,594,947 11,901,379

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on 28 March 2022 and was signed on its behalf:

Mr. Wang Ning T2 4

ARREERBERCOCEEEEMN20229F3 A
EMENHTIESRREFERE

Mr. Si De RIf@BJ4E

—Z—— 535 ANNUAL REPORT 2021 J POP MART

297



298
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

39 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE 39K QFAINEEEBEZRZREEMEE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued) HEE w5

Note (a) Other reserve movement of the Company MIEE (a) 2 B Y B fh {52 8

Share-based

Share Translation compensation

premium reserves reserves Total
R A&

R4 & E EifE HNRHRERE #st

RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTT AR¥TRT ARETR AR%¥Tx

As at 1 January 2021 ®2021F181A8 12,556,653 (634,012) - 11,922,641
Currency translation difference SEHhEEE - (276,581) - (276,581)
Dividends declared FRE (209,462) = - (209,462)
Share vested under the Share Award  1RIERR (7 BN =181 55 8 2 X (0

Scheme 71,551 - (71,552) (1)
Share-based compensation expenses  SARR (D BERE R B - - 155,825 155,825
Balance at 31 December 2021 R2021F12A31 BN&EER 12,418,742 (910,593) 84,273 11,592,422
As at 1 January 2020 R202051 818 7,500,381 (118,657) - 7,381,724
Currency translation difference ERREES - (515,355) - (515,355)
Re-designation of ordinary sharesto ~ EFET ERR AR &R ED

convertible redeemable preferred Bk (B3E25(0))

shares (Note 25(c)) (499,658) - - (499,658)
Issuance of ordinary shares to the then A& B AR R B 1T A%

shareholders (Note 25(b)) (FEE25(0)) 393,801 - - 393,801
Conversion of convertible redeemable  #§ ATE A A BB L REER B

preferred shares into ordinary shares 3@ (3£ 25(c))

(Note 25(c)) 626,922 - - 626,922
Capitalisation issue (Note 25(e)) B BT (Mi5E25()) (719) - - (719)
Issuance of new ordinary shares BT AR (MEE25()

(Note 25(f)) 4,409,110 - - 4,409,110
Issuance of ordinary shares upon B R TR T

exercise of over-allotment option Limhk (FEE25(0)

(Note 25(f)) 661,269 - - 661,269
Share issuance costs (Note 25(f)) W BT (BEEE25(0) (149,794) - - (149,794)
Dividends declared FEREE (384,659) - - (384,659)
Balance at 31 December 2020 R2020F 12 A31 B HI%ER 12,556,653 (634,012) - 11,922,641
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(a) Directors’ remuneration

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

40 EERARER
(@) EEM%

Employee’s
contribution to Share-
a retirement based
Director's  Salaries and benefit compensation
fee allowances Bonus scheme expenses Total
EEHEHK HRG
RAGHE RERH
EZHe IEREW AL 2R HMpE% @zt
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  AR¥TR ARETR ARBTR ARBTR  AR%TR
Directors' remuneration during B Z2021F12A31B L FE
the year ended 31 December ~ HRMESME LT :
2021 is as follows:
Directors -
Mr. Wang Ning (i) TELE() - 948 77 53 = 1,078
Mr. Si De (il AL ) - 1,295 173 53 - 1,521
Ms. Liu Ran () Flat() - 914 77 53 - 1,044
Ms. Yang Tao (i) BETL - 764 62 57 = 883
Mr. Tu Zheng (i) BEELE(N) - - - - - -
Mr. He Yu () RSN - - - - - -
Mr. Wu Liansheng (i) SRE A S A (i) 125 - - - - 125
Mr. Zhang Jianjun (ii) RIEE LA 125 = = = = 125
Mr. Yan Jinliang (i) B R 5 4 i) 123 = = = - 123
Directors' remuneration during £ £200F 124318 L FE
the year ended 31 December ~ HIEHMEMT -
2020 is as follows:
Directors i
Mr. Wang Ning (i) TEEE() - 1,007 i 4 - 1122
Mr. Si De (i AL () - 1,004 180 4 - 1,188
Ms. Liu Ran (i) Fla () - 747 90 4 - 841
Ms. Yang Tao (i) BEzL - 729 83 4 - 816
Mr. Tu Zheng (i) BEELE() - - - - - -
Mr. He Yu (i) fRFEEN - - - - -
Mr. Wu Liansheng (i) SREH A 2 A (i) 9 - - - - 9
Mr. Zhang Jianjun (i) REE LA 9 - - - - 9
Mr. Yan Jinliang (ii) BYR LA 9 - - - - 9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

40 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

POP MART

(continued)
Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(i)  Mr. Wang Ning, Ms. Yang Tao, Ms. Liu Ran, Mr. Tu Zheng and Mr. He
Yu were appointed as directors of the Company in May 2019.

(i) Mr. Si De was appointed as director of the Company in June 2019.

(i) Mr. Wu Liansheng, Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Yan lJinliang was
appointed as director of the Company in December 2020.

No director waived any emoluments and no emoluments were paid
by the Group to any of the directors of the as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office as
director.

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in
respect of their other services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the or its subsidiaries undertaken.

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment during the year.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors for making
available the services of them as a director of the Company.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors during the Track Record Period.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Group had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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